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Company name, share capital and registered office

Company name:	 Rai Way S.p.A.

Share capital:	 € 70,176,000 fully paid-up

Registered office:	 Via Teulada, 66 – 00195 Rome

Tax and VAT code:	  05820021003

Company website: 	 www.raiway.it 

Managed and coordinated by RAI - Radiotelevisione Italiana S.p.A.

The Company does not have any branch offices.

Corporate Bodies and Committees1

Board of Directors	 Board of Statutory Auditors

President	 President

Giuseppe Pasciucco	 Silvia Muzi

Chief Executive Officer	 Statutory Auditors

Aldo Mancino	 Maria Giovanna Basile

	 Massimo Porfiri 

Directors

Stefano Ciccotti	 Substitute Auditors

Riccardo Delleani	 Nicoletta Mazzitelli

Annalisa Raffaella Donesana	 Paolo Siniscalco

Barbara Morgante

Umberto Mosetti

Donatella Sciuto

Paola Tagliavini

Secretary to the Board	 Auditing Company

Giorgio Cogliati 	 PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A.

Control and Risks Committee and Sustainability	 Remuneration and Appointments Committee

Paola Tagliavini (President)	 Riccardo Delleani (President)

Barbara Morgante	 Annalisa Raffaella Donesana

Donatella Sciuto	 Umberto Mosetti

1  In office at the date of this report. 
For information on the Company’s governance system, reference should be made to the Report on corporate governance and owner-
ship structures for the year 2020 published on the Company’s website (www.raiway.it), where it is also reported that the Company will 
adopt the Corporate Governance Code (new edition of the Self-Regulatory Code) for Listed Companies in 2021 and, in this context, the 
above-mentioned new name assumed by the Control and Risks Committee.
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Dear Shareholders,

2020 was a year marked by a crisis of global dimen-

sions, caused by the gradual spread of Covid-19 from 

the Asian continent to the rest of the world, which led 

to an unexpected standstill in global growth. In this 

context, Rai Way showed the strong resilience of its 

business model, which allowed the Company to close 

the year with an improvement in both revenues and 

net profit.

In March, the new Industrial Plan was approved, out-

lining the strategic guidelines and objectives that will 

guide us until 2023 and which envisages significant 

growth in development investments, already clear 

in 2020. The new plan is going to welcome the chal-

lenges of the market in the coming years; in addition, 

during the year a buy-back plan was also finalised for 

an amount of approximately € 20 million through the 

use of distributable reserves. 

For the first time in the Company’s history, the new 

industrial Industrial Plan also includes specific fore-

casts aimed at sustainable development objectives 

in relation to ESG issues, in the belief that the cre-

ation of value cannot disregard initiatives aimed at 

improving aspects linked to the environment, social 

issues, governance and innovation.

During the year, commercial activity was intense. 

Within the framework of the existing contract with 

Rai, work on various additional services carried on 

and, more specifically, with reference to the exten-

sion of coverage of MUX 2, 3 and 4, the renewal of 

satellite platforms and the extension of the contri-

bution network. Revenues from hospitality services 

on our towers confirmed the trend of recent years, 

with growth in the fixed wireless access, broadcast 

and corporate segments, which was substantially off-

set by the negative impact of turnover from mobile 

operators. 

Within a strategic framework of enhancing the value 

of human resources intended as a determining fac-

tor for corporate growth, in 2020 the lines of action 

concerning our personnel were characterised by the 

adoption of an emergency agile work model enabled 

by tools and equipment which, thanks to the experi-

mentation started in 2019, made it possible to safe-

guard the continuity of corporate operations, pro-

tecting the health of all the employees.

During the last part of the year, functional analyses 

were also carried out for the Company’s adoption of 

the new Corporate Governance Code for listed com-

panies, approved by the Corporate Governance Com-

mittee as the new edition of the Corporate Govern-

ance Code and applicable from 2021, consistent with 

our commitment to ensure governance practices in 

line with the best benchmarks.

From an economic perspective, Rai Way’s revenues 

reached € 224.5 million in 2020, up by € 3.1 million 

compared to the previous year; Adjusted EBITDA 

amounted to € 136.1 million up by € 4.8 million com-

pared to the value at 31 December 2019, with a profit-

ability for the first time exceeding 60% on an annual 

basis, benefiting from a reduction in overall costs due 

mainly to the contraction of some variable costs fol-

lowing the impacts related to the spread of the Cov-

id-19 virus. Rai Way’s 2020 financial year closed with 

a net profit of € 64.0 million, with a more moderate 

Letter to Shareholders
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growth than that of Adjusted EBITDA due to the in-

crease in depreciation and amortisation, determined 

by the high amount of development investments, 

which stood at € 44 million, more than double the 

value recorded in 2019. 

Confirming our key role in the reference market and 

Rai Way’s important contribution to a more efficient 

reorganization of the national broadcasting net-

works, thus favouring the development of 5G in the 

country, development investments mainly concerned 

activities relating to the so-called refarming process 

and, more specifically, the project to extend the net-

works for the digital terrestrial television broadcast-

ing service, which will guarantee an improvement in 

population coverage for the Public Service’s thematic 

television channels, with an increase in the number 

of users reached. 

The investments for the refarming process, together 

with the investments foreseen in the next few years 

for the numerous initiatives illustrated in the Indus-

trial Plan, will provide Rai Way with a state-of-the-art 

technological infrastructure, which will be crucial to 

best meet the challenges ahead of us in the near future.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

The Chairman

Giuseppe Pasciucco 
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Rai Way’s activities

Rai Way2 (hereafter the Company) is a leading pro-

vider of integrated networks infrastructures and 

services for broadcasters, telecommunication oper-

ators, public companies and public administrations; 

the Company uses its own assets and its own com-

petences to guarantee the public radio and television 

service and the transport and broadcast of televi-

sion and radio content to its customers, in Italy and 

abroad, using its excellent wealth of technological, 

engineering and management know-how, in addition 

to its infrastructures. 

Since 2014 Rai Way has been listed on the Electronic 

Stock Market (MTA) of Borsa Italiana following the 

Global Offering promoted by the shareholder Rai, 

which allowed the Company to confirm its previously 

initiated opening to the market, reinforcing its image 

as an independent enterprise.

In carrying out its activities, Rai Way also operates 

in over 2,300 sites equipped with infrastructure and 

systems for transmitting and broadcasting television 

and radio signals throughout the whole of Italy, has 

21 local network centres and avails itself of a highly 

specialized workforce.

2  Rai Way has joined the simplification regime provided for by 
articles 70, paragraph 8, and 71, paragraph 1-bis, of Consob Regu-
lation No. 11971 of 14 May 1999 and subsequent amendments and 
integrations. (Consob Issuer Regulations), and therefore does not 
need to meet the informational document publication obligations 
set forth for significant merger, spin-off, capital increase by means 
of the contribution of assets in kind, acquisition and disposal 
transactions.

The services offered by the Company include: 

(i)	 Broadcasting services, meaning services for 

the terrestrial and satellite transmission of tel-

evision and radio signals, through the network 

infrastructure, to the final users within a geo-

graphical area; 

(ii)	 Transmission services, for the transmission of 

radio and television signals via the dedicated 

network (radio links, satellite, fibre optic) and in 

particular the provision of Contribution Servic-

es, meaning one-directional transport services;

(iii)	 Tower Rental services, meaning hosting of third 

party transmission and broadcasting equipment 

at Company’s sites including, were required, 

maintenance services as well as other comple-

mentary activities;

(iv)	 Network Services consist of a vast range of het-

erogeneous services which the Company is able 

to provide in relation to electronic and telecom-

munications networks in general such as, for ex-

ample, planning and consultancy services. 

The services mentioned are offered by Rai Way to 

different categories of customers: Broadcasters (a 

category that also includes local and national radio 

and television network operators and players, which 

includes Rai), telecommunication operators (mainly 

MNOs, or Mobile Network Operators), public admin-

istrations and private companies.
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The Company assesses performance on the basis of 

certain measures not considered by IFRS. Set out be-

low is a description of the components of the indica-

tors that are important for the Company as stated in 

Recommendation CESR/05–178b.

	� Gross operating profit or EBITDA - earnings before 

interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization: this is 

calculated as profit before income taxes, depreci-

ation, amortization, provisions, write-downs and 

financial income and expenses. EBITDA also ex-

cludes profits and losses from managing equity 

investments and securities, as well as gains and 

losses arising from the sale of equity investments, 

which are classified in the financial statements as 

“financial income and expenses”. 

	� Adjusted EBITDA - earnings before interest, taxes, 

depreciation and amortization: this is calculated as 

profit before income taxes, depreciation, amor-

tization, provisions, write-downs and financial 

income and expenses adjusted for non-recurring 

income/expenses.

	� Net operating income or EBIT - earnings before 

interest and taxes: this is calculated as profit be-

fore income taxes and before financial income and 

expenses, without adjustment. EBIT also excludes 

profits and losses from managing equity invest-

ments and securities, as well as gains and losses 

arising from the sale of equity investments, which 

are classified in the financial statements as “finan-

cial income and expenses”. 

	� Net Invested Capital: this is defined as the sum of 

Fixed Assets and Net Working Capital less Provi-

sions.

	� Net Financial Position: the format for the calcula-

tion of NFP is the one provided in paragraph 127 

of CESR Recommendation 05-054b, which imple-

ments Regulation (EC) no. 809/2004.

	� Operational Investments: equal to the sum of the 

expenditure for the maintenance of the infrastruc-

ture of the Company’s network (Maintenance 

Expenditure) and for the development/launch of 

new commercial initiatives (Development Invest-

ments). This item does not include opportunistic 

investments and rights of use for leases (reclassi-

fied as Other investments), as well as increases in 

financial fixed assets.

Main alternative performance 
measures
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The following is a summary of the economic data of 

Rai Way at 31 December 2020 compared to the re-

sults at 31 December 2019. 

In addition, figures are also provided for the Com-

pany’s Net Financial Position and Net Invested Cap-

ital at 31 December 2020 compared to equivalent 

figures at the close of the previous financial year. 

The changes and percentages shown in the follow-

ing tables are calculated using values expressed in 

Euros. 

Summarized economic 
and financial data

(Figures in millions of Euro; %) 2020 2019 Delta Change %

Key income statement figures

Core revenues 224.5 221.4 3.1 1.4%

Other revenues and income 0.5 0.9 (0.4) (42.9)%

Other operating costs (43.5) (45.8) 2.3 5.1%

Personnel costs (45.5) (45.3) (0.2) (0.4)%

Adjusted EBITDA 136.1 131.2 4.8 3.7%

EBIT 89.4 90.1 (0.7) (0.8)%

Net income 64.0 63.4 0.6 1.0%

Key balance statement figures

Capital expenditure 56.3 35.3 21.0 59.4%

    of which maintenance 12.3 18.1 (5.8) (32.0)%

Net Invested Capital 210.9 193.7 17.1 8.8%

Shareholders’ Equity 164.8 184.2 (19.4) (10.5)%

Net Financial Position (NFP) 46.1 9.5 36.5 382.5%

Indicators

Adjusted EBITDA / Core revenues (%) 60.6% 59.3% 1.3% 2.3%

Net income / Core revenues (%) 28.5% 28.6% (0.0) (0.4)%

Maintenance Capex / Core revenues (%) 5.5% 8.2% (2.7%) (32.9)%

Cash conversion (%) 91.0% 86.2% 4.7% 5.5%

NFP / Adjusted EBITDA (%) 33.9% 7.3% 26.6% 365.3%
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	� Core revenues amounted to € 224.5 million, up 

€ 3.1 million compared to the values at 31 Decem-

ber 2019. 

	� Adjusted EBITDA is equal to € 136.1 million, and 

shows an increase of € 4.8 million compared to 

the 31 December 2019 value. The increase is main-

ly due to higher core revenues and a reduction in 

operating costs. The Company defines this meas-

ure as EBITDA adjusted for non-recurring ex-

penses.

	� The ratio between Adjusted EBITDA and core rev-

enues was 60.6% compared to 59.3% at 31 Decem-

ber 2019.

	� The Operating Result (EBIT) is equal to € 89.4 mil-

lion, down by 0.8% compared to the figure record-

ed as of 31 December 2019.

	� The Net Profit was € 64.0 million, up 1% compared 

to 31 December 2019.

	� Capital expenditure of € 56.3 million relates to the 

maintenance of network infrastructure and de-

velopment projects. 

	� The Net Invested Capital is equal to € 210.9 mil-

lion, with a Net Financial Position of € 46.1 million 

and a shareholders’ equity of € 164.8 million.

Core revenes

€ 224.5 mln
+1.4%

Adjusted EBITDA 

€ 136.1 mln 
+3.7%

EBIT 

€ 89.4 mln

Operating Result

€ 64 mln 
+1%

Capital expenditure

€ 56.3 mln

Net 
Invested Capital

€ 210.9 mln 
+8.8%





Report on 
2020 operations
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General indications 
and the overall performance 
of the economy3

According to the latest OECD estimates available, 

the Covid-19 pandemic would have produced a drop 

in global GDP of 3.4% in 2020, leading to an unex-

pected halt in global growth that had already been 

showing progressive signs of slowing since 2018, also 

due to rising international geopolitical tensions. It 

was mainly advanced economies that suffered, where 

actions to contain the health emergency and the 

economic and monetary stimuli operated by govern-

ments and central banks allowed the gradual recov-

ery of activities in most productive sectors only from 

the second half of the year, at the end of the strict 

lockdowns imposed by the authorities since March, 

along the lines of that of Wuhan, the Chinese city 

where the virus was first detected in the last days of 

2019. Several sectors of activity, including those re-

lated to tourism and recreational services - strong-

ly impacted by the measures to prevent and restrict 

people’s mobility - were affected throughout the year 

in almost all countries affected by the virus. 

In the second half of 2020, the rapid development of 

effective vaccines in China, Russia, the United States 

and Europe and the subsequent launch of vaccine 

campaigns in the closing months of the year led to an 

improved outlook for the recovery of the global econ-

omy in the medium term, although the intensity and 

expected timing remain uncertain and dependent on 

the impacts of new waves and the speed of vaccine 

administration. An exception is China, where infec-

tions have been almost zero since spring thanks to 

impressive measures to combat the virus and the 

2020 GDP is even estimated to grow by 2.3% (com-

pared to +6% in 2019). In general, emerging countries 

have shown greater resilience in the face of the pan-

3  OECD, Interim Economic Outlook Forecasts, marzo 2021; Banca 
d’Italia, Bollettino Economico 1 / 2021

demic than advanced countries whose economies 

have been harder hit.

In the USA, the pandemic interrupted an expansionary 

phase that had lasted 11 years, leading to a drop in GDP 

of 3.5% in 2020 and serious repercussions in economic 

and employment terms. The countermeasures adopted 

by the central institutions in terms of fiscal and mone-

tary stimuli have made it possible to limit the damage, 

in anticipation of a rebound in the economy expected in 

2021 and more moderate growth in 2022, also thanks to 

the progressive improvement in economic conditions 

in the main export markets and the positive develop-

ments of the trade agreement with China signed in 

2020. These factors should also allow the partial re-ab-

sorption of unemployment generated by the pandemic 

crisis, one of the main objectives of the new administra-

tion led by President Biden, elected in November. 

The Eurozone economy suffered an even greater fall 

in GDP over the twelve months, equal to 6.8%, with 

projections of a more modest recovery in the com-

ing years (3.9% in 2021 and 3.8% in 2022 according to 

the latest OECD estimates). In the face of the serious 

health emergency that has hit the continent, the Eu-

ropean institutions have provided a decisive response 

with a mix of liquidity injections and purchases by 

the ECB and other instruments to support employ-

ment and economic recovery - including the €  750 

billion Next Generation EU (NGEU) plan - developed 

by the Commission and the European Council, for the 

benefit of member States. Indeed, new waves of the 

virus and related containment measures will con-

tinue to hamper economic activity until a vaccine is 

widely disseminated, resulting in a slow recovery of 

investment and private consumption, which are held 

back by high unemployment, modest wage growth 

and precautionary saving. 

Report on 2020 operations
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In December 2020, more than four years after the ref-

erendum on Brexit, the EU and the UK reached an 

agreement that nevertheless leaves many open ques-

tions on which the parties will continue to grapple in 

the coming years. 

Since the end of October 2020, oil costs have returned 

to values close to $50 per barrel, after plummeting 

below $20 at the height of the pandemic shock. Con-

tributing to the rise, according to analysts, was the 

release of encouraging news on vaccines, the over-

coming of uncertainty over the US election and Brex-

it, and the resilience of Asian demand, with future 

prospects inevitably affected by developments in the 

pandemic.

In the major advanced economies, inflation fell below 

pre-Covid-19 levels due mainly to weak demand, with 

an expectation of an up-tick in the medium to long 

term after positive news about the effectiveness of 

vaccines. In particular, consumer prices in the Euro 

area fell by 0.3% over the twelve months, weighed 

down by the weakness of prices for services related to 

tourism and transport. The latest Eurosystem fore-

casts point to inflation of 1.0% in 2021, 1.1% in 2022 

and 1.4% in 2023. 

With regard to monetary policies, the expansive 

measures taken by central banks characterized the 

course of the year, with the Federal Reserve which, 

after cutting interest rates to 0%-0.25%, announced 

in December that it would continue to purchase secu-

rities until the objectives of maximum employment 

and price stability were achieved. The ECB also re-

calibrated its monetary policy instruments in an ex-

pansive manner to ensure favourable financing con-

ditions (zero base rate) throughout the crisis period 

and extended securities purchases until March 2022 

as part of the € 1,850 billion Pandemic Emergency 

Programme (PEPP).

In Italy, economic activity, which was severely penal-

ised by the severe measures of the spring lockdown, 

showed definite signs of recovery over the summer 

months, but fell back in the last quarter of the year 

with the resurgence of the pandemic: the latest 

ISTAT estimates quantify the contraction in GDP over 

the year at 8.9%. The decline was most pronounced 

in sectors such as trade, transportation, hotels and 

restaurants, and recreational and cultural services, 

while it was more marginal in manufacturing, where 

companies appear confident about increased invest-

ment spending in 2021. 

In 2020, the change in consumer prices was negative 

(-0.3%), reflecting the dynamics of energy prices and 

price trends in the sectors most affected by the cri-

sis. Analysts and companies’ inflation expectations 

continue to be very low over the next twelve months, 

with an expected price change of between 0.4% and 

0.6% in 2021. 

On the labour market, the reopening of activities sus-

pended during the first wave of contagion drove em-

ployment growth in the third quarter of the year and 

reduced the use of wage supplementation tools; how-

ever, the worsening of the pandemic after the sum-

mer slowed down the creation of new jobs and led 

to an increase in requests for redundancy payments, 

amid the continuation of the freeze on lay-offs, which 

even made it possible to reduce the unemployment 

rate to 9% from 9.6% in 2019 (ISTAT figure).

In terms of credit supply, banks continued to meet 

demand from businesses with relaxed supply condi-

tions and low rates, also thanks to monetary policy 

and government measures to support liquidity.

The outlook for the Italian economy remains close-

ly dependent on both the evolution of the pandemic 

and the developments of the vaccination campaign: 

assuming that the health emergency gradually re-

turns under control by the first half of 2021 (and is 

therefore completely overcome by 2022) and that the 

support of the Government’s budgetary policy con-

tinues, strengthened by the effective use of European 

funds (€ 209 billion available under the NGEU), Ital-

ian GDP could return to growth of 4.1% in 2021 and 

4% in 2022, once the unfavourable knock-on effect of 

the downturn recorded in the final part of 2020 has 

been exhausted.
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The Company’s reference market

Rai Way is a leading operator in the Italian radio and 

television transmission infrastructure market. The 

main television transmission platforms in the televi-

sion broadcasting market are as follows:

	� DTT (Digital Terrestrial Television, free and pay 

television),

	� DTH (satellite),

	� OTT (broadband), 

	� Cable TV.

Compared to the other countries of Western Europe, 

Italy is characterized by a far greater diffusion of the 

DTT platform. In the other countries, the reduced ex-

tent of the use of the DTT platform is due to a broader 

and more competitive presence of satellite platforms 

(e.g. in the United Kingdom and Germany), cable (e.g. 

Germany) and OTT (France). The solid positioning of 

DTT in the Italian broadcasting scenario is further 

supported by the absence of cable TV (at a European 

level operators capable of providing television servic-

es via cable usually represent the strongest compet-

itors on the market, as regards both television and 

broadband) and the still undeveloped penetration of 

OTT.

Regarding the Italian radio market, programs are 

transmitted in both analogue and digital format 

(DAB - Digital Audio Broadcasting) and no expiry 

dates have been set for a switch-off of the analogue 

signal, in line with many other European countries.

As a consequence of the features of its network, Rai 

Way is able to provide its customers with Tower 

Rental services.

DTH (satellite)

DAB (Digital Audio 
Broadcasting)

OTT 
(broadband)

DTT (Digital Terrestrial 
Television)

Cable TV
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Rai Way on the financial markets4

After a positive 2019, 2020 saw a general downturn in 

economic activity due to the impact of the Covid-19 

pandemic. To deal with the emergency, governments 

have taken a series of measures to support public 

health and the economy (e.g. the Next Generation EU 

with a budget of € 750 billion, of which € 209 billion 

in total for Italy) while central banks have reinforced 

their accommodating monetary policies, some of 

which were already in place (e.g. the € 1,850 billion 

government bond purchase programme (PEPP) im-

plemented by the ECB). These, together with wide-

spread optimism over the effectiveness of vaccines 

and the removal of uncertainty over the US election, 

led to improved conditions in international financial 

markets in the latter part of the year, with prices nev-

ertheless remaining vulnerable to developments in 

the pandemic.

4  Borsa Italiana data processing (www.borsaitaliana.it)

In this context, investors’ concern have penalised stock 

markets in Europe and Italy, where the pandemic im-

pact has been intense and widespread, particularly in 

the first three quarters of the year. In 2020, the FTSE 

Italia All-Share index recorded a contraction of 5.6%, 

substantially in line with that of the FTSE Mid Cap 

(-5.8%). 

During the year, the Rai Way stock, listed on the Ital-

ian Stock Exchange, recorded a 10.9% decrease (-7.1% 

adjusted for the distribution of the dividend), con-

firming its defensive nature during the most acute 

period of the pandemic and recording a more limited 

recovery compared to the indices in the last part of 

the year, which saw the market favour more cyclical 

sectors in the face of expectations of economic recov-

ery following the positive trial of vaccines.

Rai Way ended 2020 with a market capitalization of 

€ 1,485 million. 
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Shareholding structure

During 2020 the percentage of Rai Way’s share cap-

ital held by RAI - Radiotelevisione Italiana S.p.A. re-

mained stable. 

Following the purchase of 3,625,356 treasury shares 

made by the Company during 2020 (equivalent to ap-

proximately 1.33% of the share capital), the free float 

is now 33.70% (compared to 35.03% as at 31/12/2019).

The following table sets out key market figures::

Key market data

General data

ISIN IT0005054967

Shares 272,000,000

Floating 33.70%

Price (Eur, %)

Price on placement (19/11/2014) 2.95

Price at 31/12/2019 6.13

Price at 31/12/2020 5.46

Performance at 31/12/2020 vs. placement +85.1%

Performance at 31/12/2020 vs. 31 December 2019 -10.9%

Maximum price (closing) in 2020 6.20

Minimum price (closing) in 2020 4.06

Volumes (‘000)

2020 average volume 191,199

2020 maximum volume 2,514,906

Minimum volumes in 2020 11,379

Capitalisation (Eur million)

Capitalization on placement (19/11/2014) 802.4

Capitalization at 31/12/2019 1,667.4

Capitalization at 31/12/2020 1,485.1

33.70%

1.33%

Floating Treasury SharesRai

64.97%
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Trading performance

In 2020 Rai Way’s commercial initiatives focused, in 

continuity with past years, on supporting its main cli-

ent RAI - Radiotelevisione italiana S.p.A. (hereinafter 

referred to as Rai) and on the analysis and scouting 

of new potential markets, with a view to expanding 

services and diversifying the offer. 

Within the framework of the Rai - Rai Way Contract, 

the installation of systems continued in relation to 

the project to extend the coverage of MUX 2, 3 and 

4, which led to an increase in turnover, only margin-

ally mitigated by the slowdown of certain activities 

due to the emergency linked to the spread of the Cov-

id-19 virus, which led to a reduction in the volume 

of certain services offered to the Parent Company, 

in relation, for example, to the postponement of the 

main sports events (European Football Champion-

ship and the Olympics). Despite the impacts related 

to Covid-19, there have been numerous service evolu-

tion initiatives. A number of services were upgraded 

on the main broadcasting platforms (EPG, audio de-

scription, subtitling, geographic cellularization of the 

RDS-TMC service), satellite platforms for DTH broad-

casting were renewed and Rai’s offer was expanded. 

Projects were also launched to extend the contri-

bution network and create a POC (Proof of Concept) 

for a new hot spot at the Olympic Stadium in Rome. 

Contribution services were also provided during the 

year for the Venice Film Festival and the opening of 

the season at La Scala in Milan, for the transport of 

dedicated signals from football stadiums. 

During 2020, the Tower Rental market was impacted 

by the consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic which, 

on the one hand, continued to favour the adoption of 

policies to contain operating costs by the main MNOs 

(Mobile network operators) and, on the other hand, ac-

celerated the development of networks in the Fixed 

Wired Access (FWA) market, determined by the need 

to increase broadband coverage due to the impulse 

given by smart-working and distance learning; in 

this context, FWA operators further consolidated 

the development of workstations at Rai Way sites. In 

2020, growth in revenues from broadcast and corpo-

rate customer hospitality will also continue. 

In the last quarter of 2020, as part of the transaction 

to acquire ownership of an important transmission 

site in northern Italy, Rai Way also completed the 

acquisition of the entire capital of Sogepotel S.r.l. 

(hereinafter also referred to as “Sogepotel”), a compa-

ny that managed its commercial use through a lease 

agreement. With effect from 30 December 2020, the 

entire business owned by Sogepotel was transferred 

to Rai Way, which then acquired the related commer-

cial contracts.

Lastly, it should be noted that the Company, lever-

aging on its many years of know-how in the man-

agement of broadcast networks and services, took 

part in 2020 in the procedures for the assignment of 

rights of use of frequencies for the digital terrestrial 

service at local level called by the Ministry for Eco-

nomic Development, winning in November 2020 the 

rights of use for the 1st level N2 network in the Lom-

bardy and Eastern Piedmont Technical Area 3 and 

for the 2nd level N1 network in the Western Piedmont 

Technical Area 1.
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Significant events

The significant events were as follows:

	� On 12 March 2020, the Board of Directors ap-

proved the 2019 draft financial statements, which 

closed with a profit of € 63.4 million, and a pro-

posal to distribute a dividend of € 0.2329 per 

share, for a total of € 63,348,800.00.

	� On the same date, the Board of Directors ap-

proved the 2020-2023 Industrial Plan.

	� On 18 March 2020, the Board of Directors, in con-

sideration of the provisions contained in Art. 106 

of Law Decree no. 18 of 17 March 2020, resolved 

to convene the Shareholders’ Meeting to approve 

the financial statements at 31 December 2019, in 

the first or only call, on a date between 15 and 26 

June; subsequently on 20 April 2020, they estab-

lished the date for the Shareholders’ Meeting to 

be convened on 24 June 2020, at the Company’s 

registered office.

	� On 21 April 2020, Anna Gatti – non-executive and 

independent Director and Chairperson of the Re-

muneration and Appointments Committee – re-

signed from her position as Director of the Com-

pany, effective immediately.

	� On 6 May, the Company’s Board of Directors ap-

pointed Paola Tagliavini, non-executive and inde-

pendent Director, as a member of the Remuner-

ation and Appointments Committee, to replace 

Anna Gatti. Also in replacement of the latter, 

the Board of Directors appointed Joyce Bigio, a 

non-executive and independent Director who is a 

member of the Remuneration and Appointments 

Committee, as Chairperson of the Committee. 

	� On 14 May 2020, the Board of Directors of Rai Way 

S.p.A., examined and approved the Interim Finan-

cial Report at 31 March 2020.

	� On 24 June 2020, the Shareholders’ Meeting, 

among other things:

	— approved the financial statements of the Com-

pany at 31 December 2019 and the distribution 

of a dividend as proposed by the Board of Di-

rectors;

	— approved the first section (relating to the remu-

neration policy for 2020) and voted in favour of 

the second section (relating to compensation 

for 2019) of the prepared Report on the remu-

neration policy and compensation paid;

	— approved the proposal of the Board of Direc-

tors regarding the purchase and disposal of 

treasury shares, at the same time revoking the 

authorization approved at the meeting of 18 

April 2019;

	— resolved on the renewal of the Board of Di-

rectors for the years 2020-2022, i.e. until the 

approval of the 2019 financial statements, ap-

pointing Giuseppe Pasciucco as Chairperson. 

	� On 24 June 2020, the Board of Directors, which 

met after the Shareholders’ Meeting, appointed, 

among other things, engineer Mr. Aldo Mancino 

as Chief Executive Officer and renewed the Con-

trol and Risks Committee and the Remuneration 

and Appointments Committee, both always com-

posed solely of independent Directors, made up as 

follows: 

	— Control and Risks Committee: Paola Tagliavini 

(Chairperson), Barbara Morgante, Donatella 

Sciuto, 

	— Remuneration and Appointments Committee: 

Riccardo Delleani (Chairperson), Annalisa Raf-

faella Donesana, Umberto Mosetti. 

	� on 30 July, Rai Way’s Board of Directors approved 

the launch of a treasury share purchase program 

which has provided, inter alia, for a maximum to-

tal investment of € 20 million.

	� on 29 October 2020, the Company signed a new 

loan agreement with a pool of financial institu-

tions consisting of Mediobanca - Banca di Credito 

Finanziario S.p.A., Banca Nazionale del Lavoro 

S.p.A., Unicredit S.p.A. and Cassa depositi e presti-

ti S.p.A. The new loan agreement, with a duration 

of three years, provides for the granting of a term 

credit line of up to € 120 million and a revolving 

credit line of up to € 50 million, both to be used 

through cash disbursements and with a maturity 

date of 27 October 2023. 

	� on 27 November 2020, the plan for the purchase 

of treasury shares was concluded. The Company 

acquired 3,625,356 treasury shares at an average 

price of € 5.509531 per share and a total value of 

€  19,974,010.41; these shares represent approxi-

mately 1.3329% of the share capital.

The initial months of 2020 saw the start of the spread 

of the Covid-19 virus, with the issue of various regula-

tory provisions to tackle the health crisis. As a result 
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of the pandemic, during 2020, the Company did not 

experience any significant impact on its business per-

formance as reported in the following paragraphs. It 

should also be noted that the Company has benefited 

from the tax relief measure provided by the Relaunch 

Decree on IRAP.

Rai Way’s revenues amounted to € 224.5 million, an 

increase of € 3.1 million compared to the previous pe-

riod (+1.4%) despite a temporary slowdown in the exe-

cution of certain development projects starting from 

the middle of March following the progressive spread 

of the Covid-19 virus in Italy.

Income statement

(Figures in millions of Euro; %) 2020 2019 Delta Change %

Revenues from Rai Group 191.3 188.2 3.1 1.7%

Revenues from third parties 33.2 33.2 (0.0) (0.1)%

Core revenues 224.5 221.4 3.1 1.4%

Other revenues and income 0.5 0.9 (0.4) (42.9)%

Personnel costs (45.5) (45.3) (0.2) (0.4)%

Other operating costs (43.5) (45.8) 2.3 5.1%

Adjusted EBITDA 136.1 131.2 4.8 3.7%

EBITDA Margin 60.6% 59.3% 1.3% 2.3%

Adjustments (1.0) (0.1) (0.8) (600.0)%

EBITDA 135.1 131.1 4.0 3.1%

Depreciation and amortisation (45.3) (42.2) (3.1) (7.4)%

Bad debt provisions (0.0) (0.2) 0.2 N.M.%

Provisions (0.3) 1.5 (1.8) (121.6)%

EBIT 89.4 90.1 (0.7) (0.8)%

Net financial expenses (1.1) (1.3) 0.2 12.1%

Pre-tax profit 88.3 88.8 (0.5) (0.6)%

Taxation (24.3) (25.5) 1.2 4.6%

Net income 64.0 63.4 0.6 1.0%

NET INCOME margin 28.5% 28.6% (0.1%) (0.4)%

Results for the year

The Company earned net income of € 64.0 million in 

2020 representing an increase over the previous year 

corresponding figure of € 0.6 million (+1.0%).

A summary of the Company’s income statement for 

the years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 

2019 is set out in the following table:

The activities carried out for the Rai Group gener-

ated revenues of € 191.3 million, an increase of 1.7% 

compared to the same period of the previous year.The 

increase of € 3.1 million derived from new services 

requested by the customer (known as “new services”), 

referring primarily to extending the MUX coverage. 

With regard to commercial relationships with other 

customers, revenues from third parties were € 33.2 

million, basically in line with the prior period (-0.1%). 
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The item Other revenues and income shows an re-

duction of € 0.4 million compared to the previous 

year, deriving from the sale of a corporate site no 

longer in use for the provision of services. 

The income statement item Personnel costs amount-

ed to € 45.5 million, with an increase of € 0.2 million 

compared to the previous year. The average head-

count of the Company was 607 in 2020, down by 5 

compared to 2019. 

“Other operating costs” – which consist of consum-

ables, services and other costs net of non recurring 

items – amounted to € 43.5 million, down by € 2.3 

million over the previous period. The reduction is 

mainly due to the reduction in several variable costs 

following the spread of the Covid-19 virus and in part 

to the impact of the new electricity supply contract 

effective from the second quarter of the year. Other 

operating costs do not include non-recurring expens-

es related to retirement incentive initiatives that are 

not included in the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA. 

Adjusted EBITDA amounted to € 136.1 million, an in-

crease of € 4.8 million over the figure for 31 December 

2019, representing a margin of 60.6%.

EBITDA amounted to € 135.1 million, an increase of 

€ 4.0 million compared to the value of the previous 

year, notwithstanding greater costs of € 1.0 million, 

given by the expenses for the retirement incentive 

plans.

The Operating Result, equal to € 89.4 million, record-

ed a reduction of € 0.7 million compared to 2019, also 

determined by the one-off effect in 2019 of the release 

of a provision of € 1.5 million, following the favoura-

ble outcome of some disputes in the Cosap (rent for 

occupation public land), and an increase in deprecia-

tion of € 3.1 million.

Financial expenses closed with a balance of € 1.1 mil-

lion, an improvement of € 0.2 million over the pre-

vious period, also due to the effect of lower interest 

expense on lease contracts. 

Net profit amounted to € 64.0 million, an increase of 

€ 0.6 million over the same period in 2019.
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Capital expenditure and 
Other Investments

During 2020, Operating Investments were made for 

€  56.3 million (€ 35.3 million in the same period of 

2019), of which € 12.3 million referred to the main-

tenance of the Company’s network infrastructure 

(€ 18.1 million in the same period of 2019) and € 44 

million relating to the development of new commer-

cial initiatives, a sharp increase compared to the pre-

vious year (€ 17.2 million).

The item does not include increases in financial fixed as-

sets, for opportunistic initiatives and for leasing rights. 

(Figures in millions of Euro; %) 2020 2019 Delta Change %

Maintenance Investments 12.3 18.1 (5.8) (32.0)%

Development Investments 44.0 17.2 26.8 155.4%

Total Capital expenditure 56.3 35.3 21.0 59.4%

Other investments 10.3 1.2 9.1 742.9%

Total Investments 66.6 36.5 30.1 82.3%

(Figures in millions of Euro; %) 2020 2019 Delta Change %

Fixed assets 251.4 229.4 21.9 9.6%

Net working capital (13.8) (8.0) (5.8) (72.0)%

Provisions (26.6) (27.7) 1.0 3.7%

Net invested capital 210.9 193.7 17.1 8.8%

Shareholders’ Equity 164.8 184.2 (19.4) (10.5)%

Net Financial Position 46.1 9.5 36.5 382.5%

Total funding 210.9 193.7 17.1 8.8%

Maintenance investments, aimed at ensuring the 

highest levels of reliability and availability of the ser-

vice, regarded the modernization of the transmission 

network, the replacement of equipment dedicated 

to the radio service and the renewal and upgrading 

of IT systems. Development investments amounted 

to a total of € 44.0 million, of which € 36.9 million 

concerned activities relating to refarming and, in 

particular, the project to extend the networks for the 

digital terrestrial television broadcasting service, as 

well as the launch of the digital transformation pro-

ject aimed at implementing a new integrated IT plat-

form in Rai Way. 

During the year, Other Investments amounted to 

€ 10.3 million, of which € 6.5 million for IFRS16 leas-

es and € 3.8 million (including capitalised ancillary 

expenses) for the purchase of a strategic transmis-

sion site for broadcasting coverage located in Valca-

va, in the province of Bergamo, including land and 

buildings, a 114-metre high metal lattice tower and a 

bridge tower.

Statement of financial position
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Net Invested Capital at 31 December 2020 was € 

210.9 million. Fixed assets include the rights of use 

for leases in application of the IFRS 16 accounting 

standard for € 29.8 million down by 0.8 million 

compared to 2019, net of the dismantling and resto-

ration provision. The increase in fixed assets com-

pared to 2019, is primarily due to the high amount 

of Operating Investments, only partially offset by 

depreciation and amortization for the year. Net 

Working Capital showed a reduction due to the im-

provement of receivables from third parties. The 

Net Financial Position amounted to € 46.1 million 

and included leases financial liabilities in applica-

tion of the IFRS 16 accounting standard for a val-

ue of € 35.4 million. Further details may be found 

in the section “Current and non-current financial 

assets and liabilities” in the notes to the financial 

statements (note 21). 

Human Resources 
and Organization

Rai Way had a workforce of 566 people at 31 Decem-

ber 2020 employed on a permanent basis: 23 execu-

tives, 165 middle managers, 368 technicians or office 

staff and 10 workers. 14 other workers with fixed-

term employment contracts and 24 apprentices are 

to be added to the above. 

In order to better represent the company’s workforce, 

a table containing details of the composition and age 

of the staff in service is attached.

Executives Managers
Employees 

and technicians
Manual workers

Years 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020

Men* 17 18 127 135 349 337 13 11

Women* 5 5 24 26 82 78 0 0

Average age 52 53 51 52 42 44 60 60

*Annual average values.

In 2020, the lines of action concerning personnel 

were declined as follows, within a strategic frame-

work of enhancing the value of human capital as 

a strategic factor for the company’s growth, with 

a view to favouring the creation of value and the 

achievement of the strategic objectives of the Indus-

trial Plan, ensuring sustainability of results and full 

engagement: 

	� safeguard of the optimal and coherent size of the 

workforce;

	� development of the Company’s organisational mod-

el in order to control the technological and business 

challenges currently under way, also through the 

implementation of virtual organisation models;

	� constant appreciation of results and behaviours 

expressed by personnel, enriched with instru-

ments for the conciliation of employees’ well-be-

ing needs;

	� implementation of smart working organizational 

solutions and work-life balance solutions;

	� promotion of recruiting paths, including digital 

ones, inspired by criteria that, while respecting 

equal opportunities and diversity, ensure plural-

ism of professionalism;

	� attention to staff engagement, also through the 

promotion and development of internal climate 

surveys aimed at periodically surveying staff sat-

isfaction, monitoring the results in correlation 

with the requests expressed; 

	� qualified investment both in technical and in 

management training;

	� protection and valorisation of diversity and equal 

opportunities;

	� a continuous process of industrial relations at na-

tional and local level, in order to seek appropriate 

and shared solutions;

	� consolidation of the openness to the social dimen-

sion of business, in addition to the active paths 

with universities, aimed at encouraging targeted 

internship and school-to-work experiences.
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In the face of the pandemic, Rai Way – with a view 

to reconciling the need for business continuity with 

the higher demands of guaranteeing and safeguard-

ing the health of workers – has implemented an 

articulated line of action to cope with the Covid-19 

emergency, which has resulted, in broad terms, in 

the creation of the Rai Way Task Force for the man-

agement of issues related to the emergency and with 

actions aimed at combining continuity, efficiency and 

effectiveness of the company’s performance with the 

primary objectives of protecting the health and safe-

ty of workers, translating the risks related to such a 

significant change in environmental and operation-

al conditions into opportunities, in terms of work 

organisation models and supporting tools (capital-

isation of the positive experience of smart working 

experimentation through the rapid conversion to the 

emergency agile work model), enabling the achieve-

ment of the expected objectives.

In general terms, Rai Way’s system of remuneration 

and incentives aims to reflect and support consistency 

and fairness at the company’s organizational level and 

the valorization of merit in terms of appreciation of 

the results achieved and qualitative performances and 

competitiveness with respect to best global practices.

With reference to strategic Management, cardinal 

elements of the remuneration policy have been the 

correlation with strategies and corporate principles, 

the selectivity of beneficiaries and the internal coher-

ence with respect to positions, areas of responsibility 

and the roles carried out, the competitiveness with 

remuneration levels in the external market as well as 

the adherence to the regulatory framework and ref-

erence to best market practices.

We note the implementation of the Company’s Re-

sults Bonus, for the three-year period 2019-2021, 

which allows the Company’s non-executive person-

nel, with permanent and fixed-term contracts, to 

benefit from an economic incentive specifically linked 

to the Company’s results, with objectives based on 

the Company’s own technical-production and com-

petitive positioning specificities.

Within this framework, as further confirmation of 

the achievement of corporate objectives and of the 

effectiveness of the policies and lines of action adopt-

ed for the various reference areas, there is also the 

ISO9001:2015 Certification, obtained by Rai Way 

for the first time in 2016 in relation to the Quality 

Management System. During 2020, the Company 

renewed its certification with the following purpose: 

“Provision of services for the design of systems and 

networks for broadcasting and transmission of ra-

dio and television signals. Provision of coordination 

and planning services for the routine maintenance of 

plants and networks for the transmission and broad-

casting of radio and television signals. Provision of 

network infra- structure and services for telecom-

munications operators”. In 2020, the Company con-

firmed its ISO certification, following an in-depth 

audit of internal processes, which included support 

activities in the scope of analysis.

Rai Way also confirmed, also for this financial year, 

the Top Employers Italia certification, as Employer of 

Choice, as a consolidation of a path of attention and 

development in an innovative key of HR policies and 

processes.

Safety and the environment

Rai Way, in confirming its focus on the issues, strictly 

linked to its business activities, relative to the pro-

tection of the environment, of employees’ health 

and safety, and with respect to the citizens living in 

proximity of its plants, implemented an Integrated 

Environment and Safety Management System, in 

compliance with the requirements of the ISO 14001 

regulations, with regard to the environment and the 

population, and ISO 45001 regulations, with regard 

to health and safety in the workplace. 

As required by the two sets regulations, the entire 

process was reviewed during 2020 by an external 

Certification Body, which confirmed its validity with 

the issue of new certificates.

In particular, the ISO 14001:2015 certification attests 

the compliance of Rai Way environment management 

system to the regulations requirements that, in the 

2015 review, in addition to confirming the credibili-

ty gained over the years, it consolidates its own good 
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practice in support of the sustainable development, 

a very relevant issue at present, with the objective 

of reaching a balance between environment, society 

and economy. 

On the other hand, the ISO 45001:2018 certification 

attests to compliance of the occupational health and 

safety management systems with the requirements 

of that standard, with specific respect to the “Plan-

ning and management of networks and systems for 

transmitting and broadcasting radio and television 

signals in Italy and abroad”.

Disclosures on the main risks 
and uncertainties faced 
by the Company
The pursuit of the corporate mission and the Compa-

ny’s economic and financial position are affected by 

various potential risk factors and uncertainties. The 

main sources of risk and uncertainty are discussed in 

summary form below.

Risk factors related to the Company 

Risks related to the concentration of revenues 
in a small number of customers

As a result of the concentration of the Company’s cli-

entèle, any problem arising in trading relationships 

with the Company’s main customers could have an 

adverse effect on its financial position, results of op-

erations and cash flows.

The Company’s largest customers are Rai and the 

main MNOs (Mobile Network Operators) in Italy with 

whom it enters into framework agreements for Tow-

er Rental services, generally for several years. Please 

note that there is no certainty either that these re-

lations will continue or that they will be renewed on 

their natural expiry. In addition, even if these arrange-

ments are continued and/or renewed, there is no cer-

tainty that the Company will be able to keep turnover 

and/or the current contractual terms unaltered. 

In addition to the above, as a consequence of the con-

centration of its revenues the Company is also ex-

posed to the credit risk deriving from the possibility 

that its trade counterparties will be unable to fulfil 

their obligations. 

The interruption to relationships with its main cus-

tomers, the reduction in the number of stations, the 

inability to renew existing agreements on expiry or 

the non-performance by one of its trade counterpar-

ties could have a negative effect on the Company’s 

business and its results of operations, financial posi-

tion and cash flows.

Risks related to the Service Contract with Rai

Given the importance of the Service Contract with 

Rai to the Company’s revenues, the same could suffer 

negative effects in terms of economic and financial 

position if such agreement was terminated – even 

in part – in advance, if the levels of the contractual 

services are not complied with or if there are signifi-

cant increases in production costs (also as the result 

of measures taken by the competent authorities) that 

are not absorbed by a corresponding increase in the 

consideration payable by Rai. 

Risks related to the expiry and renewal 
of the Rai concession

By decree of the President of the Council of Minis-

ters of 28 April 2017, Rai was designated as the exclu-

sive concessionaire of the public radio, television and 

multimedia service for the ten-year period from 30 

April 2017 to 30 April 2027. 

The renewal of the concession took place in com-

pliance with Article 9 of Law No. 198 of October 26, 

2016 (the so-called Publishing Law) which, by amend-

ing Article 49 of L.D. No. 177 of July 31, 2005, entitled 

“Testo unico dei servizi di media audiovisivi e radio-

fonici”, prescribed a new procedure for the concession 

of public radio, television and multimedia services. 

If the concessionary agreement between the Italian 

government and Rai is terminated or not renewed on 

expiry, or if a renewal s stipulated under terms and 

conditions that differ from those currently existing, 

there could be material negative effects on the Com-

pany’s results of operations, financial position and 

cash flows. There is a connection between the con-
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tractual relationship between the Italian government 

and Rai and the contractual relationship between Rai 

and the Company. As a result, the former has an effect 

on the latter. Pursuant to the Rai – Rai Way Service 

Agreement, the expiry and/or failure to renew the 

concession is an institutional modifying event which 

entitles Rai to withdraw from it.

Risks related to the stipulation of a new service 
contract between Rai and the Ministry

At its meeting on 22 December 2017 the Council of 

Ministers made a final decision on the National Ser-

vice Contract between the Ministry of Economic De-

velopment (MISE) and Rai for the period 2018 – 2022, 

after the expression, on 19 December 2017, of the 

opinion required from the parliamentary Commis-

sion for general guidance and monitoring for radio 

and television services. Rai’s Board of Directors ap-

proved the text of the Service Agreement on 11 Janu-

ary 2018, published in the Official Journal on 7 March 

2018.

However, uncertainty persists as to future technical 

requirements relating to the provision of the Public 

Service which could result in the Company incurring 

liabilities.

Risks related to the ownership and/or potential 
modifications of the frequencies held 
by broadcasting customers

The Company’s customers defined as Broadcasters, 

a category that also includes network operators and 

national and local radio and television players, in-

cluding Rai, may own frequencies. The loss of own-

ership of frequencies on the part of broadcasting 

customers, in whole or in part, and/or the modifica-

tion of the frequencies assigned to broadcaster, also 

including as a result of the planned process of reas-

signing the rights of use of the frequencies in the 

694-790 MHz band, now used by broadcasters, to 

terrestrial bidirectional wide band mobile electron-

ic communications services and the overall redesign 

of the use of the frequency spectrum by national and 

local broadcasters, could lead to a loss of customers 

for the Company or the redefinition of the scope of 

services provided to customers, with negative effects 

on the Company’s revenues, as well as on its econom-

ic, financial and capital situation also for the effect of 

possible increases in costs and the investments that 

the Company could have to make.

With reference to Rai, there is a connection between 

Rai’s ownership of its frequencies and the contractual 

relationship between Rai and Rai Way. Consequently, 

if ownership of the frequencies were to cease or be 

modified this would have an effect on that contrac-

tual relationship. Pursuant to the Service Contract, 

revocation of the availability of one or more frequen-

cies (MUX) is an institutional modifying event which 

entitles Rai to withdraw from such, also partially, by 

giving twelve months’ notice.

In relation to the scenario indicated by the 2018 and 

2019 budget laws and by AGCOM Resolution no. 

39/19/CONS, it is also highlighted that the impact of a 

possible also partial withdrawal by Rai from the New 

Service Contract could be limited by the effects deriv-

ing from new services to be offered to Rai in relation 

to network reconfiguration activities deriving from 

this process.

Please note that in December 2019 Rai and Rai Way 

signed an agreement for the realization of progressive 

interventions on the DTT network required by the re-

farming process, with the consequent amendment of 

some of the terms and conditions of the Service Con-

tract. In particular the consideration in favour of Rai 

Way provided for by the Service Contract will be in-

creased, from 1 July 2021, to reflect a more extensive 

network configuration than the current one in terms 

of equipment, in a scenario that assumes the realiza-

tion and management by Rai Way of three MUX for Rai. 

It is noted that in the outcome of the allocation of new 

rights of use of frequencies, Rai was assigned two 

MUXes as well as the transmission capacity corre-

sponding to 0.5 MUX without frequency specification. 

Furthermore, the 2019 Budget Law includes the pos-

sibility of award through non competitive auction of 

four additional blocks of transmission capacity each 

corresponding to 0.5 MUX which, should Rai decide 

to take part and be the assignee, would result in Rai 

owning three MUXes. In the case of Rai not obtaining 

the availability the third MUX1 with Rai Way conse-
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quently managing two post-refarming, the increase 

included in the consideration agreed from 1 July 2021 

will be reduced by € 6.0 million, with an impact on the 

Company’s economic and financial position.

Risk related to the contractual 
and administrative structure of the Sites

Given the importance of Rai Way’s network infra-

structures for its business, negative events affecting 

such infrastructure could have negative effects on 

the Company’s economic and financial position.

In particular, among the potential risks relating to 

the contractual and administrative provisions re-

garding the Sites is the risk that the agreements for 

the use of the Sites (other than those wholly owned 

by Rai Way) on which the infrastructures are located 

will not be renewed, with the resulting obligation for 

the Company to return the land used in its original 

condition, or the risk that any renewals will not be 

obtained on terms at least as favourable as those ap-

plicable at the reporting date, with resulting negative 

effects on the profitability from managing the Sites 

and consequently on the Company’s economic and 

financial position.

In addition, given the importance of the Company’s 

property, any changes in existing taxes or the intro-

duction of new taxes could have a material effect on 

the Company’s tax expense.

Risks related to Rai’s management 
and coordination activities

The Company is a member of the Rai Group and is 

subject to the management and coordination of the 

Parent Company pursuant to articles 2497 and fol-

lowing of the Italian Civil Code. Without prejudice 

to the above, the Company is capable of working in 

conditions of operational autonomy, to the extent 

appropriate for a listed company and in compliance 

with the best practices followed by listed issuers and 

in any case with the rules for the proper functioning 

of the market, generating revenues from its custom-

ers and using its own skills, technologies, human 

resources and funds. In particular, Rai carries out 

its management and coordination activities by the 

means described in the Management and Coordina-

tion Regulation which became effective on the First 

Trading Day (19 November 2014) and aims on the one 

hand to match the need for an informational link and 

functional interaction underlying Rai’s management 

and coordination activities and on the other to en-

sure that Rai Way’s status as a listed company leads 

to its operational and financial autonomy at all times. 

In particular, Rai’s management and coordination 

activity does not have the general character and is 

implemented exclusively through the following activ-

ities: (i) the drafting by Rai of certain general rules 

designed to coordinate – to the extent possible and 

in accordance with the respective needs – the main 

guidelines for the management of Rai and Rai Way; 

(ii) the requirement for Rai Way to inform the Parent 

Company in advance before approving or executing, 

depending on the case, any operations and/or trans-

actions, determined and drawn up independently 

within Rai Way, that are considered to be of particu-

lar significance and importance with respect to the 

strategic lines and planning of the operations of the 

Rai Group;(iii) the requirement for Rai Way to provide 

certain information necessary in accordance with the 

regulation and general operational guidelines.

In no event does the Parent Company have any power 

of veto over any extraordinary operation that Rai Way 

may wish to perform or over the hiring or dismissal 

of executives by the Company, which has full and ex-

clusive decisional power over matters of appointing 

or employing persons and setting their career paths.

Risks related to the powers 
of the Italian government (golden powers)

The assumption of certain corporate resolutions by 

the Company or the acquisition of certain sharehold-

ings relevant to the control of the Company by par-

ties outside the European Union could be limited by 

the special powers of the State (so-called “golden pow-

ers”) provided for by the Legislative Decree. March 15, 

2012, no. 21, converted with amendments into Law 

no. 56 of May 11, 2012, which governs the special pow-

ers of the State regarding, inter alia, strategic assets 

in the communications sector, as identified by art. 3 

of Decree Law March 25, 2014, No. 85.
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Risks related to the Company’s inability 
to implement its strategy or results 
of the implementation of activities not in line 
with expectations

The inability of the Company to successfully imple-

ment any of its strategies could lead to negative ef-

fects on its business and on its economic and finan-

cial position.

Furthermore, owing to the dynamic context in which 

the Company operates, the applicable regulatory re-

quirements, the uncertainty surrounding exogenous 

scenarios, the complexity of the reference business – 

also with reference to infrastructural and technolog-

ical aspects – activities put in place by the Company 

could have results not in line with expectations, with 

a negative impact on the Company’s results of opera-

tions, financial position and cash flows.  

Risks related to key personnel

If the relationship between Rai Way and its key per-

sonnel ends, this could have negative effects on the 

Company’s business and its economic and financial 

position.

The results achieved by Rai Way also depend on the 

contribution provided by people having key roles 

within the Company and who – in certain cases – 

have played a crucial role in developing the Compa-

ny from the time of its establishment. At the balance 

sheet date, all these persons considered key for the 

purposes of the above are tied to the Company by 

permanent employment contracts.

Risks related to the licensing agreement 
for the brand name “Rai Way”

The use of the name “Rai Way” by the Company is di-

rectly connected with the continuation in force of the 

Brand Transfer and Licensing Agreement with Rai.

Although the name “Rai Way” does not have any 

specific importance for the purpose of identifying a 

product or service, given the particular nature of the 

business the Company performs, in the case of ter-

mination of the Brand Transfer and Licensing Agree-

ment for any reason, the Company’s right to use the 

name “Rai Way” would cease and accordingly the 

Company would no longer be able to use it and would 

have to change its corporate name. 

Risks related to related party transactions

The Company has had and continues to have rela-

tionships of a trade and financial nature with related 

parties, and in particular with Rai. These relation-

ships have allowed and continue to allow the Compa-

ny, depending on the case, to obtain benefits from the 

use of common skills and services, the use of Group 

synergies and the application of unified policies in 

the financial field; in the Company’s opinion these 

provide for terms and conditions in line with those 

of the market. Despite this, there is no certainty that 

if these transactions had been carried out with third 

parties, such would have negotiated and stipulated 

the relative agreements, or carried out the transac-

tions, under the same terms and conditions and by 

the same means.

Risks related to financial and other covenants 
contained in the Loan Agreement

On 29 October 2020, the Company signed a new 

loan agreement with a pool of financial institutions 

consisting of Mediobanca - Banca di Credito Fi-

nanziario S.p.A., Banca Nazionale del Lavoro S.p.A., 

Unicredit S.p.A. and Cassa depositi e prestiti S.p.A. 

The new loan agreement, with a duration of three 

years, provides for the granting of a term credit 

line of up to €  120 million and a revolving credit 

line of up to € 50 million, both to be used through 

cash disbursements and with a maturity date of 27 

October 2023. 

This loan provides for general commitments and 

covenants of the Company, including negative ones, 

which, although in line with market practice for loans 

of a similar amount and nature, could limit its oper-

ations.

Further details on this matter may be found in the 

section “Current and non-current financial assets 

and liabilities” in the notes to the financial state-

ments.
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Risks related to judicial and administrative 
proceedings and the possibility that the 
Company’s provision for risks and charges 
may not be adequate

At the reporting date, the Company considers the 

provisions recognized in the financial statements to 

be adequate also in relation to any negative outcomes 

in the main disputes in which it is involved; howev-

er, these negative outcomes could be different from 

expectations, with possible impacts on its economic 

and financial position.  

Risks related to the takeover of the Company

Given the interest held by the controlling sharehold-

er Rai and given the legislative framework in which 

this exists, the Company currently cannot be taken 

over. 

Risk factors related to the industry 
in which the Company operates

Risks related to obtaining administrative 
authorizations and/or to the fact that these 
may be revoked 

The failure by the Company to obtain authorizations 

and permits or to obtain these late, the delayed is-

sue of such authorizations and permits or the issue 

of authorizations and permits which only partially 

satisfy the Company’s requests, together with the 

revocation of these authorizations and permits, could 

have negative effects on the Company’s business and, 

consequently, on its results of operations, financial 

position and cash flows.

Risks related to the effects of natural disasters 
or other force majeure events on infrastructure 

It is essential for the network to work properly if the 

Company is to conduct its business and provide ser-

vices to its customers. Although the Company be-

lieves that its insurance coverage will adequately cov-

er all the costs of any damage that may be caused by 

natural disasters or force majeure events, and that in 

any case it has operating procedures that will come 

into play if such events should occur, any partial or 

total damage to the Company’s towers or, more gen-

erally, its Sites, and to its main locations such as its 

Control Centre and regional centres, caused by natu-

ral disasters or other force majeure events, could hin-

der, or in certain cases prevent, the Company from 

carrying out its normal operations and its ability to 

provide services to its customers, with possible neg-

ative effects on its business and on its economic and 

financial position. 

Risks related to the interruption of the 
activities of the technological and IT 
infrastructures 

To provide its services and, more generally, to car-

ry out its activities, the Company uses sophisticated 

infrastructure and computer technology, which by 

its nature is prone to interruptions or other mal-

functions caused by, among other things, natural 

disasters, prolonged electricity outages, process er-
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rors, viruses and malware, the actions of hackers and 

health and security issues (also in relation to possible 

pandemics or diseases) or failures of suppliers. The 

interruption of the activities of the technological and 

IT infrastructures could have negative effects on the 

Company’s business and on its results of operations, 

financial position and cash flows.

Risks related to the maintenance and 
technological upgrading of the Company’s 
Network 

Rai Way’s ability to maintain a high level of services 

depends on its ability to maintain the proper oper-

ating condition of its infrastructure, which requires 

substantial amounts of capital and long-term invest-

ments, included that related to the technological 

renewal, optimization or improvement of its exist-

ing Network. The Company’s failure to maintain its 

Network or to introduce technological changes to 

the Network on a timely basis could have negative 

effects on its economic and financial position.

The Company constantly monitors the proper oper-

ating condition of its Network, developing projects 

designed to improve the level of its services and en-

hance the infrastructure on the basis of the technolo-

gies applicable from time to time. 

Risks related to technological change

The reference market in which Rai Way operates is 

characterized by constant changes in the technology 

used for the transmission and broadcasting of tele-

vision and radio signals, which leads to the require-

ment: (i) to constantly develop the skills required for 

rapidly and fully understanding the needs of its cus-

tomers, in order to develop its service offer on a time-

ly basis with the aim of having a reputation on the 

market as a full service provider; and (ii) to provide 

constant training to its personnel.

Rai Way’s inability to identify and develop the tech-

nological solutions required to deal with changes 

and future development on its markets of refer-

ence could have negative effects on the Company’s 

results of operations, financial position and cash 

flows.

Risks related to increased competition

Significant increases in competition in the sectors of 

activity in which the Company operates – for exam-

ple the entry into the Tower Rental market of players 

with notably small dimensions and aggressive pric-

ing – could have a negative impact on the Compa-

ny’s results of operations, financial position and cash 

flows. 

Risks related to environmental protection 
and electromagnetic radiation

The Company is subject to comprehensive regulation 

at national and EU level aimed at the protection of 

the environment and health. Compliance with such 

regulations and requirements, moreover, is one of 

the conditions for the eligibility for and renewal of 

licenses and permits which the Company requires for 

the installation and operation of equipment emitting 

electronic waves. Any breaches of the applicable en-

vironmental rules could have negative effects on the 

Company’s results of operations, financial position 

and cash flows. 

The Company places particular emphasis on com-

plying with environmental protection regulations 

and undertakes to be constantly updated in this re-

spect, as moreover attested by its ISO14001:2015 of 

2008 and OHSAS 18001:2007 of 2011 and ISO 45001 

of 2020.

Risks related to the reference regulatory 
framework in relation to the business 
of the customers of Rai Way

The Company’s business, as well as that of its custom-

ers, is subject to a wide-ranging regulatory regime, 

stemming from both domestic and EU rules and re-

quirements, in particular with respect to administra-

tive matters and environmental concerns, as part of 

which importance is also assumed by the numerous 

legislative requirements imposed by the competent 

authorities on the Company’s customers, by virtue of 

the indirect effects which the failure of these custom-

ers to comply with such could have on Rai Way’s busi-

ness. In particular, broadcasting customers and mo-

bile telephone operators, which the Company hosts 
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at its Sites are subject to the legislation designed to 

protect persons and the environment from exposure 

to magnetic fields. 

Should any of Rai Way’s customers be deemed to be in 

violation of these regulations, they could be exposed 

to sanctions, including the shut-down of transmis-

sion activities. These interruptions could have neg-

ative effects on the Company’s revenues and, as a 

consequence, on its results of operations, financial 

position and cash flows.

Risks related to the possible decline in demand 
for services by customers

The Company provides integrated products and ser-

vices to its customers with an approach geared to-

wards full service hosting with the aim, on the ba-

sis of the operating model adopted, of covering the 

entire tower hosting chain – from the basic lease of 

equipment to all the services required to keep this in 

proper working order and provide maintenance for 

this at the Sites. The possible decline in the demand 

for the services carried out by Rai Way could have 

negative effects on the Company’s results of opera-

tions, financial position and cash flows.

Risks arising from stoppages and strikes

In carrying out its business the Company is subject 

to the risk of strikes, stoppages and similar action by 

its employees in connection with events or circum-

stances that may not relate directly to the Company, 

but more generally to the Parent Company or the Rai 

Group. However, with regard to services provided to 

Rai, which are considered to be essential public ser-

vices, the right to strike may only be exercised to the 

extent of enabling indispensable services to be pro-

vided, also by virtue of a trade union agreement of 

22 November 2001 relating to the employees of the 

Rai Group. 

The decision by large numbers of employees to take 

part in strikes or industrial action could have nega-

tive effects on the Company’s economic and financial 

position.

Risks related to global economic conditions

A possible decline in the demand of customers for the 

services carried out by Rai Way arising from the per-

sistence of the global economic and financial crisis 

could have negative effects on the Company’s eco-

nomic and financial position. This risk could also be 

amplified by the spread of the Covid-19 virus, and in 

general of pandemics and diseases, in Italy and in the 

word.

Risks related to the spread of the Covid-19 virus

The spread in Italy and the world of the Covid-19 vi-

rus could have negative effects on the Company’s eco-

nomic and financial situation, also considering the 

application of restrictive measures by the competent 

authorities. Please note that the commercial activi-

ties carried out during each financial year have a lim-

ited impact on the Company’s turnover. The Compa-

ny carefully and continuously monitors the evolution 

of the virus spread also taking into consideration the 

provisions issued by the Italian government in order 

to identify the correct risk mitigating actions (both 

within the Company and externally) as well as to lim-

it its impact on the Company’s business, in addition 

to those already implemented since March 2020, the 

beginning of the pandemic.

Financial risks

The Company may be exposed as a whole to the fol-

lowing financial risks: 

	� currency risk: over 2020 the currency risk was 

not significant as the Company’s operations are 

mainly concentrated in the European Union; 

	� interest rate risk: in 2020 interest rate risk mainly 

arose from 2 loan agreements:

	— a medium-term loan agreement stipulated with 

a pool of banks and relating to a credit line (so-

called revolving), for a maximum amount of € 25 

million, extinguished on 30 September 2020;

	— a medium-term loan agreement stipulated with 

a pool of banks and relating to a Term credit 

line of a maximum of € 120 million, of which 

€ 15 million was used as of 31 December 2020 

and a Revolving credit line of a maximum of € 

50 million, not used as of 31 December 2020; 
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	� the liquidity risk is connected with the Company’s 

ability to meet the commitments arising mainly, 

at specific times during the financial year, from 

its financial and tax liabilities. In order to meet 

these commitments, the Company has provided, 

as indicated in the previous point, with a revolv-

ing credit facility, called Revolving, in addition to 

the term one, with the proper purpose of using it 

to support working capital and for general cash 

requirements. To this end, it should be noted that 

the Company is able to meet its financial commit-

ments thanks to the generation of liquidity from 

operating activities and to cover any short periods 

of extra demand with the loans it has taken out.

A more detailed analysis may be found in the sec-

tion of the Explanatory notes entitled “Financial risk 

management”.

Credit risk

In respect of credit risk it should be noted that in 

addition to Rai, the Company’s main customers are 

public administration entities, leading telephone 

operators and various broadcasting companies that 

settle their obligations on a regular basis; this situ-

ation enables the Company to state that at the pres-

ent time there are no particular risks connected with 

the failure to collect its receivables other than those 

discussed in the section of the notes entitled “Finan-

cial risk management”, to which reference should be 

made for further details.

Requirements in relation 
to privacy

The Company, which was already in 2018 compliant 

to the provisions of EU Regulation 679/2016 in force 

from 25 May 2018 and to the correlated Italian gov-

ernment implementation decree no. 101/2018, during 

the year continued with the monitoring of the envi-

ronments affected by privacy issues.

Research and development 

Rai Way’s activity of research, development and in-

novation, historically mainly focused on media and 

broadcasting, in the last few years stretched to other 

sectors in the field of telecommunications, also driven 

by the advent of disruptive technologies, which tend 

to deeply innovate and merge previously distinct 

market sectors, generating new risks to be faced and 

new opportunities.

In order to make this approach to innovation more 

structured, pervasive and effective, the Company 

dedicated facilities to innovation and research, to 

prepare the company for medium-long term changes, 

with the objective of acquiring technological compe-

tencies and incubate new ideas in innovative project, 

in order to develop new services and business capac-

ity, processes, organizational and business models to 

place adequately the Company also in relation to the 

new challenges of the next few years.

As far as the most significant initiatives of 2020 are 

concerned, participation in the MISE project for the 

experimentation of 5G technology in the 3.7-3.8 GHz 

band in the areas of Bari and Matera was concluded, 

with a final report to the MISE that concerned, for Rai 

Way, the use cases related to the television contribu-

tion and the monitoring and control services of the 

movements in the port of Bari using the 5G network 

and other innovative technologies. 

Consistent with the lines of development included in 

the Business Plan, feasibility studies and analyses of 

synergy with respect to the company’s assets in rela-

tion to possible new services with reference, in par-

ticular, to edge infrastructures, have been launched. 

Furthermore, technology scouting has been carried 

out in a number of fields in which technology is de-

veloping faster and more profoundly and which are of 

interest to Rai Way, including a PoC (Proof of Concept), 

which is expected to be completed in 2021, of a radio 

infrastructure for the command and control of large 

autonomous drones piloted in BVLoS (Beyond Visual 

Line of Sight) mode.
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Relationships with Rai Group 
Companies

Relationships of a commercial and financial nature 

were maintained with the Parent Company RAI - Ra-

diotelevisione Italiana; relationships with other com-

panies of the Rai Group were exclusively of a com-

mercial nature. Further details may be found in the 

section “Related party transactions” in the Explana-

tory notes to the financial statements.

Transactions with related parties

Details of the transactions the Company carried out 

with related parties in the years ended 31 December 

2020 and 2019, identified on the basis of IAS 24 Relat-

ed Party Disclosures, are provided in the paragraph 

“Related party transactions” (note 41).

Treasury shares

Following the authorization resolved by the Share-

holders’ Meeting of 24 June 2020, the Company 

launched, as of 5 August 2020, a share buyback pro-

gramme, the main contents of which were the sub-

ject of a specific communication to the market.

The programme was aimed at investing medium 

and long-term liquidity, optimising the structure of 

the share capital as well as providing a portfolio of 

treasury shares available for uses deemed to be in the 

Company’s interest, including for any share incen-

tive plans or in the context of the assignment of free 

shares to shareholders.

The purchases, made on the MTA market of Borsa 

Italiana S.p.A., took place in the period between 5 Au-

gust 2020 and 27 November 2020 (extremes includ-

ed), resulted in the acquisition of a total of 3,625,356 

treasury shares, for an average price of € 5.509531 per 

share and a total countervalue of € 19,974,010.41. The 

aforementioned shares, corresponding to all those 

held by the Company as at today’s date, amount to 

approximately 1.3329% of the share capital. It should 

also be noted that no shares in the Company are held 

by companies controlled by it.

Events subsequent 
to 31 December 2020 (note 40)

There are no significant events to report.

Business outlook

On the basis of the information available to date on 

the evolution of the Covid-19 emergency and in a sce-

nario that assumes the management of 3 MUXes for 

the Rai customer following the refarming process, 

the Company expects for 2021:

	� adjusted EBITDA growth supported by higher 

revenues, although limited by an increase in oper-

ating costs resulting from the expected reduction 

in the effects recorded in 2020 due to the pan-

demic emergency and the implementation of new 

services; 

	� maintenance investments in relation to core rev-

enues above the 2020 value and growth develop-

ment investments due to refarming activities.

Management and coordination

The Company is subject to the management and co-

ordination of RAI - Radiotelevisione Italiana S.p.A. 

pursuant to article 2497 of the Italian Civil Code. 

The key data of the Parent Company stated below in 

the summary form as required by article 2497-bis of 

the Italian Civil Code have been taken from the finan-

cial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019. 

It should be noted that the Parent Company Rai draws 

up the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

For an adequate and complete understanding of the 

financial position of RAI - Radiotelevisione Italiana 

S.p.A. at 31 December 2019 as well the economic re-

sult of the Company for the year then ended reference 

should be made to the financial statements which to-

gether with the Auditors’ report are available in the 

form and means prescribed by law.



Annual Financial Report 2020	 35

(in thousand of Euro)
 Financial year at  

31 December 2019 

Tangible assets 893,886 

Rights of use for leases 54,876 

Intangible assets 403,482 

Equity investments 919,026 

Non-current financial assets 3,298 

Other non-current assets 7,068 

Total non-current assets 2,281,636 

Total current assets 860,943 

Total assets 3,142,579 

Share capital 242,518 

Reserve 542,396 

Retained earnings (losses) (71,887)

Total shareholders' equity 713,027 

Non-current financial liabilities 303,890 

Non-current lease liabilities 40,257 

Employee benefits 400,924 

Provisions for non-current risks and charges 162,863 

Deferred tax liabilities 32,289 

Other non-current payables and liabilities 550 

Total non-current liabilities 940,773 

Total current liabilities 1,488,779 

Total liabilities 2,429,552 

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 3,142,579 

Rai S.p.A. - Financial Statements at 31 December 2019
Summary report of essential data
Balance sheet at 31 December 2019 

(in thousand of Euro)
 Financial year at  

31 December 2019 

Total revenues 2,483,378 

Total costs (2,596,389)

EBIT (113,011)

Financial income 62,419 

Financial expenses (16,966)

Result of equity investments valued with the equity method 285 

Profit before tax (67,273)

Income taxes 32,245 

Result for the financial year - Profit (loss) (35,028)

Components of the comprehensive income statement (19,546)

Overall result for the financial year (54,574)

Comprehensive income statement 



36	 Annual Financial Report 2020

Following the Company’s shares admission to trad-

ing and listing, Rai continues to exercise control 

pursuant to art. 93 of the Consolidated Finance Act 

and exercise management and coordination activi-

ties with respect to Rai Way. In the Company’s opin-

ion though, although it is subject to the manage-

ment and coordination of Rai, it works in conditions 

of operational autonomy, generating revenues from 

its customers and using its own skills, technologies, 

human resources and funds. On 4 September 2014, 

the Boards of Directors of Rai and Rai Way, to the 

extent of their competence, approved the Manage-

ment and Coordination Regulation of the Parent 

Company with respect to Rai Way in a manner com-

pletely different from that of the other companies of 

the Rai Group subject to management and coordi-

nation by Rai. 

This Management and Coordination Regulation, 

which became effective on the date on which trad-

ing began in the Company’s shares, aims on the one 

hand to match the need for an informational link and 

functional interaction underlying Rai’s management 

and coordination activities and on the other to en-

sure that Rai Way’s status as a listed company leads 

to its operational and financial autonomy at all times.

Rai mainly performs its management and coordina-

tion activities with respect to Rai Way in the follow-

ing manner:

	� the drafting of certain general rules designed to 

coordinate – to the extent possible and in accord-

ance with the respective needs – the main guide-

lines for the management of Rai and Rai Way; 

	� the requirement for Rai Way to inform the Par-

ent in advance before approving or executing, de-

pending on the case, any operations and/or trans-

actions, determined and drawn up independently 

within Rai Way, that are considered to be of par-

ticular significance and importance with respect 

to the strategic lines and planning of the opera-

tions of the Rai Group;

	� the requirement for Rai Way to provide certain in-

formation necessary in accordance with the regu-

lation and general operational guidelines. 

Set out below are details of the relationships between 

Rai and Rai Way after the date on which trading be-

gan in the Company’s shares and the resulting appli-

cation of the regulation.

	� Strategic planning (budget and business plan). 

The Board of Directors of Rai Way is independent-

ly responsible for drawing up and approving the 

Company’s long-term strategic plans, business 

plans and financial plans, as well as its annual 

budgets, and Rai’s coordination consists mainly 

of providing Rai Way with guidelines for the sole 

purpose of compliance with the Parent Compa-

ny’s financial covenants – where relevant – and 

requirements deriving from the concession of the 

Public Service granted to Rai. 

	� General management guidelines. Rai’s duties in-

clude the drafting, through its organization, of 

general operational guidelines in order to unify 

the procedures of Rai and Rai Way, maximizing 

possible synergies and reducing the costs in-

curred. These objectives can be pursued by cen-

tralizing certain services, arranging for common 

procurement of supplies and adopting the Rai 

Group’s standard documents and procedures. 

	� Extraordinary operations. Rai will have no power 

of veto over Rai Way’s extraordinary operations. In 

accordance with regulations in force at the time 

regarding the acquisition, management and use 

of privileged information (price sensitive informa-

tion) and market abuse, Rai Way will be required 

to provide prior information to Rai regarding 

certain specific operational activities and trans-

actions, determined and drawn up independently 

by Rai Way, which assume particular significance 

and importance, having regard in particular to the 

strategic lines, projects and planning of the Rai 

Group’s operations. The Parent Company’s Board 

of Directors will be able to formulate comments 

and observations whenever it believes that the ap-

proval or execution by Rai Way of the significant 

operation is inconsistent with the strategic lines, 

initiatives and projects drawn up by Rai, or else is 

liable to jeopardize uniform management of the 

Group. It is understood that Rai Way shall be en-

titled to assess such comments and observations 

without any requirement to comply with them.

	� Communication of information. Without preju-

dice to the above, the Company continues to peri-

odically report to the Parent Company all the in-

formation necessary or useful for the purposes of 
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exercising management and coordination activi-

ties in accordance with the regulations, including 

the information necessary for the preparation of 

the consolidated financial statements pursuant to 

art. 43 of Legislative Decree April 9, 1991, no. 127, 

the report on operations pursuant to art. 2428, 

paragraph 1, of the Italian Civil Code, as well as 

the periodic information pursuant to art. 2381, 

paragraph 5, of the Italian Civil Code. Without 

prejudice to the above, Rai Way is responsible and 

bound to comply on an autonomous basis with all 

the requirements to provide continuous and peri-

odic disclosures to the public and Consob.

	� Staff and remuneration policies. Rai Way has ex-

clusive responsibility for every decision regard-

ing the appointment and hiring of the Compa-

ny’s personnel and executives, the management 

of employment relationships and the establish-

ment of remuneration policies, including setting 

the career paths and implementing the appraisal 

and incentive systems for executives, in respect of 

which Rai has no power of veto. The Parent Com-

pany may adopt specific procedures, which will 

also be autonomously implemented by Rai Way, 

directed solely towards compliance with trans-

parency and non-discriminatory criteria which 

must be a distinct feature, among other things, 

of the procedures for appointing and hiring the 

personnel.

	� Treasury relationships. Rai Way no longer has a 

centralized treasury relationship with Rai and 

has its own autonomous treasury. The Company 

has the competence and responsibility for draw-

ing up and approving its financial policy, includ-

ing risk management and liquidity management 

policies. 

It should also be noted that the Company has a Con-

trol and Risk and Sustainability Committee which 

also performs the functions of the Committee for Re-

lated Parties, and a Remuneration and Appointments 

Committee composed exclusively of Independent 

Directors in accordance with the criteria set out in 

article 148, paragraph 3, of Legislative Decree. no. 

58/1998, the Corporate Governance Code of Borsa 

Italiana S.p.A. and art. 16 of Consob’s Market Regula-

tions. The Company has a Board of Directors, the ma-

jority of whose members are Independent Directors.

Report on corporate governance 
and ownership structures

The Report on Corporate Governance and Ownership 

Structures that has been prepared pursuant to article 

123-bis of the Consolidated Finance Act may be con-

sulted on the Company’s website www.raiway.it.

Declaration of Non-Financial 
Nature

As an Entity of Significant Public Interest (EIPR), the 

Company prepares and submits the “Declaration of 

Non-Financial Nature”, in the form of a “separate re-

port”, as provided for in Article 5 Placement of the 

declaration and disclosure regime of the Legislative 

Decree. 254/2016 concerning the disclosure of non-fi-

nancial and diversity information by certain under-

takings and large groups. The aforementioned Decla-

ration is published on the website www.raiway.it and 

it is accompanied by the report (certificate) issued by 

the auditor appointed in accordance with art. 3, para-

graph 10, of Legislative Decree no. 254/2016. 

Rome, 18 March 2021

On behalf of the Board of Directors

The Chairman

Giuseppe Pasciucco 

http://www.raiway.it
http://www.raiway.it
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Financial Statements

(Figures in Euro)
Note 

(**)

12 months at

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Revenues 6 224,462,645 221,387,606 

Other revenues and income 7 539,565 945,035 

Purchase of consumables 8 (909,887) (1,186,716)

Cost of services 9 (39,676,677) (42,167,693)

Personnel costs 10 (46,470,551) (45,326,405)

Other costs 11 (2,863,443) (2,579,412)

Write-downs of financial assets 12 (37,063) (245,901)

Depreciation, amortisation and other write-downs 13 (45,324,321) (42,191,710)

Provisions 14 (314,978) 1,458,146 

Operating profit 89,405,290 90,092,950 

Financial income 15 43,141 8,306 

Financial expenses 15 (1,145,619) (1,262,068)

Total net financial income/(expenses) (1,102,478) (1,253,762)

Pre-tax profit 88,302,812 88,839,188 

Income taxes 16 (24,294,759) (25,478,215)

Income for the period 64,008,053 63,360,973 

(Figures in Euro)
Note 

(**)

12 months at

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Income for the period 64,008,053 63,360,973 

Items that will not be recognised in the income statement

Actuarial Profit / (Loss) for employee benefits (94,012) (335,529)

Tax effect 22,563 80,527 

Comprehensive income for the period 63,936,604 63,105,971 

Income statements - Rai Way S.p.A. (*)

Statement of comprehensive income - Rai Way S.p.A. (*)

(*) Schedule prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and 
adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”).
(**) The notes refer only to the items commented upon in these Explanatory Notes.



Annual Financial Report 2020	 41

(Figures in Euro)
Note 

(**)

12 months at

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Non-current assets

Tangible assets 17 200,934,674 177,638,308 

Rights of use for leases 18 32,466,103 36,241,596 

Intangible assets 19 15,891,578 14,286,790 

Equity investments 20 500,000 - 

Non-current financial assets 21 352,433 1,659 

Deferred tax assets 22 2,845,768 2,688,561 

Other non-current assets 23 1,207,578 1,267,760 

Total non-current assets 254,198,134 232,124,674 

Current assets

Inventories 24 868,975 885,247 

Trade receivables 25 62,553,246 74,794,689 

Other current receivables and assets 26 4,245,263 5,036,384 

Current financial assets 21 664,820 260,089 

Cash and cash equivalents 27 4,052,690 30,167,740 

Current tax receivables 28 62,196 62,196 

Total current assets 72,447,190 111,206,345 

Total assets 326,645,324 343,331,019 

Shareholders' equity 29

Share capital 70,176,000 70,176,000 

Legal reserve 14,035,200 14,035,200 

Other reserves 37,078,970 37,078,970 

Retained earnings 63,494,365 62,906,561 

Treasury shares (19,974,011) - 

Total shareholders' equity 164,810,524 184,196,731 

Non-current liabilities

Non-current financial liabilities 21 15,088,305 260,807 

Non-current lease liabilities 31 23,926,023 26,263,200 

Employee benefits 32 13,198,256 14,433,918 

Provisions for risks and charges 33 16,286,025 15,906,106 

Total non-current liabilities 68,498,609 56,864,031 

Current liabilities

Trade payables 34 45,545,566 54,278,159 

Other debt and current liabilities 35 35,987,626 34,105,085 

Current financial liabilities 21 327,206 182,986 

Current lease liabilities 31 11,452,429 13,269,690 

Current tax payables 36 23,364 434,337 

Total current liabilities 93,336,191 102,270,257 

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 326,645,324 343,331,019 

(*) Schedule prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and 
adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”).
(**) The notes refer only to the items commented upon in these Explanatory Notes.

Statement of financial position - Rai Way S.p.A. (*)
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(Figures in Euro)
Share 

capital
Legal 

reserve
Other

reserves
Retained
earnings

Own 
shares

Total

At 1 January 2017 70,176,000 10,070,018 37,024,606 44,263,862 161,534,486 

Income for the period 56,263,228 56,263,228 

Actuarial gains and losses (**) 377,984 377,984 

Cash flow hedge reserve (**) 20,804 20,804 

Allocation of profit to reserves 2,090,715 (2,090,715) - 

Distribution of dividends (41,806,400) (41,806,400)

At 31 December 2017 70,176,000 12,160,733 37,045,410 57,007,959 176,390,102 

Income for the period 59,745,563 59,745,563 

Actuarial gains and losses (**) 330,094 330,094 

Retained earnings/losses from 
first-time adoption of IFRS 

(570,159) (570,159)

Cash flow hedge reserve (*** ) 33,560 33,560 

Allocation of profit to reserves 1,874,467 (1,874,467) - 

Distribution of dividends (55,107,200) (55,107,200)

At 31 December 2018 70,176,000 14,035,200 37,078,970 59,531,790 180,821,960 

Income for the period 63,360,973 63,360,973 

Actuarial gains and losses (**) (255,002) (255,002)

Distribution of dividends (59,731,200) (59,731,200)

At 31 December 2019 70,176,000 14,035,200 37,078,970 62,906,561 184,196,731 

Income for the period 64,008,053 64,008,053 

Actuarial gains and losses (**) (71,449) (71,449)

Distribution of dividends (63,348,800) (63,348,800)

Purchase of treasury shares (19,974,011) (19,974,011)

At 31 December 2020 70,176,000 14,035,200 37,078,970 63,494,365 (19,974,011) 164,810,524 

(*) Schedule prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and adopted by the 
European Union (“IFRS”).
(**) These items are listed net of relative tax effects.
(***) The change is shown net of the related tax effects; in 2018 the change eliminated that Reserve.

Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity - Rai Way (*)
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(Figures in Euro) 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Pre-tax profit 88,302,812 88,839,188 

Adjustments for: 

Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs 45,361,384 42,437,610 

Provisions and (releases of) personnel and other funds 5,074,966 2,350,510 

Net financial (income)/expenses (**) 891,343 1,043,413 

Other non-monetary items 319,803 (708,169)

Cash-flows generated by operating activities before changes in net working 
capital 

139,950,308 133,962,552 

Change in inventories 16,272 681 

Change in trade receivables 12,476,558 (3,573,371)

Change in trade payables (8,733,058) 8,693,094 

Change in other assets 794,939 797,550 

Change in other liabilities 1,968,243 (389,647)

Use of risk fund (2,609,462) (1,192,029)

Payment of employee benefits (3,500,820) (3,209,846)

Change in current tax receivables and payables (335,578) 249,437 

Paid taxes (24,034,298) (24,595,812)

Net cash flow generated by operating activities 115,993,103 110,742,609 

Investments in property, plant and equipment (55,738,203) (32,257,063)

Disposals of property, plant and equipment - 858,950 

Investments in intangible assets (4,317,999) (3,044,972)

Purchase of company branch (***) (500,000) - 

Change in non-current financial assets (350,774) - 

Changes in equity investments (500,000) - 

Change in other non-current assets 60,182 50,478 

Interest received 

Net cash flow generated by investment activities (61,346,794) (34,392,606)

(Decrease)/increase in medium/long-term loans 14,827,498 (167,422)

(Decrease)/increase in current financial liabilities 137,669 (789,261)

Repayments of lease liabilities (11,212,279) (2,288,834)

Change in current financial assets (390,858) (205,360)

Net interest expense for the period (800,579) (193,700)

Purchase of treasury shares (19,974,011) - 

Dividend paid (63,348,800) (59,731,200)

Net cash flow generated by financing activities (80,761,359) (63,375,777)

Change in cash and cash equivalents (26,115,050) 12,974,225 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 30,167,740 17,193,515 

Cash and cash equivalents of newly consolidated companies - - 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 4,052,690 30,167,740 

(*) Schedule prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and 
adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”).
(**) Note that the item Net financial income/expenses excludes financial expenses relative to the Dismantling and restoration provision as they are not 
considered to be financial in nature.
 (***) The item includes investments in tangible assets amounting to € 39,000.

Cash flow statement - Rai Way S.p.A. (*)
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Introduction (note 1)

Rai Way S.p.A. (hereinafter “Rai Way” or the “Compa-

ny”) prepares, in relation to the provisions of Italian 

Legislative Decree no. 38 of 28 February 2005, these 

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 

2020 and compared with the figures at 31 Decem-

ber 2019 (hereinafter the “Financial Statements”) in 

accordance with the International Financial Report-

ing Standards (hereinafter “IFRS” or “international 

accounting standards”), issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (hereinafter “IASB”) and 

adopted by the European Commission according to 

the procedure set out in art. 6 of (EC) Regulation no. 

1606/2002 of the European Parliament and Council 

of 19 July 2002. The term IFRSs also includes all in-

ternational accounting standards (“IAS”) and all in-

terpretations of the International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) previously called 

the Standard Interpretations Committee (SIC). For 

drafting these Financial Statements the Company 

has provided complete information, applying IFRS 

consistently, furthermore making the necessary re-

classifications in order to improve the presentation 

of the Financial Statements. These reclassifications 

have also been made to the comparison figures to en-

sure that the figures are fully comparable. 

It should also be noted that on 1 March 2017, the 

Company acquired the company Sud Engineer-

ing S.r.l., which carried out activities in the field of 

maintenance and installation of radio and television 

systems, providing on 20 June 2017 the subsequent 

merger by incorporation whose legal effects took 

effect from 22 June 2017 with the backdating of the 

accounting and tax effects to 1 March 2017. The pur-

pose of the merger was to simplify the current corpo-

rate structure in which Sud Engineering S.r.l. was the 

only subsidiary of Rai Way S.p.A., allowing the latter 

to directly carry out the activities of the former, with 

greater functionality from an economic, managerial 

and financial point of view. Since the Company held 

the entire share capital of Sud Engineering S.r.l., it 

did not assign – in accordance with article 2504-ter 

of the Civil Code – its shares to replace the shares 

of Sud Engineering, which were therefore cancelled 

after the merger without a share swap or payment of 

the balance in cash. The merger did not change the 

shareholding structure of the Company or exclude 

its shares from being listed. With respect to the tax 

aspects, the merger operation is fiscally neutral and 

therefore did not generate fiscally significant capital 

losses or capital gains. The assets and liabilities of 

Sud Engineering were included in the financial state-

ments of the Company on a fiscal continuity basis in 

accordance with article 172, paragraphs 1 and 2 of the 

Consolidated Income Tax Act.

It is also noted that the deficit generated in the intan-

gible assets as part of the merger with the company 

Sud Engineering was allocated, with the consent of the 

Board of Statutory Auditors, to “Goodwill” and “Cus-

tomer portfolio - business combination transactions”. 

According to international accounting standards, in-

tangible assets with an indefinite useful life, such as 

goodwill, are not subject to amortisation but to an an-

nual impairment test, as provided for by IFRS 36. The 

natural consequence of a different statutory/account-

ing and tax “regime” (where, in the latter, the principle 

of neutrality applies and, therefore, of irrelevance of 

the values recorded in the accounts) is the generation 

of a misalignment between accounting and tax values. 

With the objective of absorbing the misalignments 

and differences arising following extraordinary 

transactions, the Company has opted for the “ordi-

nary” redemption treatment pursuant to art. 176, 

paragraph 2-ter of the Consolidated Income Tax Act 

as required by our tax system which allows the trans-

Notes to the Financial Statements



Annual Financial Report 2020	 47

feree (incorporating) company to fiscally recognise 

(realigning them) the main values in the financial 

statements in the context of the above-mentioned 

transactions, eliminating or reducing this misalign-

ment with statutory values following the payment of 

a substitute tax.

On 19 November 2020 the Company acquired own-

ership of the entire share capital of Sogepotel S.r.l., 

a company which on that date leased a transmission 

site at Torre de Busi in the province of Bergamo (ac-

quired on the same date from Rai Way) and managed 

its commercial operations. 

The business owned by Sogepotel comprised a series 

of assets, liabilities and legal relations that were nec-

essary and sufficient to configure the company as an 

autonomous and functional unitary complex. In par-

ticular, with reference to the above-mentioned site, 

the business offered hospitality services (also includ-

ing ancillary activities) to its customers represented 

by television and radio broadcasters, mobile phone 

operators and other customers. On 29 December 

2020, with effect from the following day, Rai Way ac-

quired the above business unit from Sogepotel.

At 31 December 2020 Sogepotel was therefore not 

operational and its financial position and results of 

operations were objectively small compared with 

those of Rai Way (Sogepotel’s total assets amounted 

to € 0.6 million, including the consideration received 

for the sale of the business unit, compared with Rai 

Way’s assets of € 326.6 million).

Despite the fact that, from a formal point of view, Rai 

Way holds a controlling interest in Sogepotel, taking 

into account the purpose of financial statements set 

forth in the IAS/IFRS international accounting stand-

ards – in particular, in relation to the provisions of IAS 1 

and the Framework issued by the IASB, which refer 

to the concepts of relevance and materiality of finan-

cial statement disclosures – and the aforementioned 

characteristics of Sogepotel – also with reference to 

the values of the related financial statements – at 31 

December 2020, the Company believes that there are 

no elements that would make it necessary for Rai Way 

to prepare not only financial statements for the year, 

but also consolidated financial statements for 2020.

General Information (note 2)

Rai Way S.p.A. is a Company incorporated, domiciled 

and organized under the laws of the Republic of Italy, 

with registered office in Via Teulada 66, Rome. 

The Company, which was incorporated on 27 July 

1999, has been operational since 1 March 2000 follow-

ing the contribution of the “Transmission and Broad-

casting Division” business unit by its sole sharehold-

er RAI - Radiotelevisione Italiana S.p.A. (hereinafter 

referred to as “Rai”).

Rai Way owns and manages the transmission and 

broadcasting networks of the Rai signal. The Compa-

ny’s activities are as follows:

	� the design, installation, construction, mainte-

nance, implementation, development and man-

agement of telecommunications networks and 

software, as well as the preparation and operation 

of a commercial, distribution and assistance net-

work; these operations are aimed at the provision 

of services for the transmission, distribution and 

broadcasting of audio and visual signals and pro-

grams in favour of Rai, which is the concessionaire 

of Italian public radio and television broadcasting 

services, and of its subsidiaries, as well as of third 

parties, and of telecommunications services of 

any kind;

	� the provision of wireless infrastructures and re-

lated services to wireless operators (including 

telephone operators, local loop wireless operators, 

TETRA, UMTS and other existing or future mobile 

technology operators), including the lease of sites/

aerials and co-lease services, built-to-suit services, 

network programming and design, site research 

and acquisition, site design and construction, site 

installation and commissioning, network optimi-

zation, infrastructure maintenance, network op-

eration and maintenance and related microwave 

or fibre transmission services;

	� research, consulting and training activities for 

people both inside and outside the Company, in 

the areas described in the two paragraphs above.
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Summary of Accounting 
Principles (note 3)

The main accounting principles and policies applied 

by the Company in preparing these financial state-

ments are set out in the following.

Basis of preparation

The Financial Statements have been prepared on a 

going concern basis, as the Directors have verified 

that there are no indicators of a financial, operational 

or other nature that may suggest critical issues con-

nected with the Company’s ability to meet its obliga-

tions in the foreseeable future, and in particular over 

the next 12 months. The means by which the Compa-

ny manages financial risks is included in the section 

“Financial risk management”.

The Financial Statements have been prepared and are 

presented in Euro, the currency of the prevalent eco-

nomic environment in which the Company operates. 

All amounts stated in this document are expressed in 

thousands of Euro unless otherwise stated and the 

financial statements are expressed in Euro.

The following is a summary of the primary financial 

statements presented and the classification policies 

selected by the Company from the options available 

in IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:

	� statement of financial position prepared by classi-

fying assets and liabilities on a “current/non-cur-

rent” basis;

	� an income statement prepared by classifying op-

erating costs by their nature;

	� a statement of comprehensive income which in 

addition to net profit for the year includes oth-

er changes in the equity accounts arising from 

transactions not carried out with the Company’s 

Shareholders;

	� a cash flow statement which has been prepared 

by presenting cash flows from operating activities 

using the “indirect method”.

The Financial Statements have been prepared under 

the conventional historical cost criterion, other than 

for the measurement of financial assets and liabili-

ties, which are required to be measured at fair value.

Translation of transactions 
in a currency other than the functional 
currency

Transactions in a currency other than the Euro are 

translated at the exchange rate at the transaction 

date. Any foreign exchange gains or losses on the 

assets or liabilities in currency arising from the 

closing of the transaction or from translation at the 

balance sheet date are recognized in profit or loss 

under the items “Financial income” and “Financial 

expenses”.

Accounting policies

The following is a brief description of the most 

significant accounting policies and measurement 

bases used to prepare the Financial Statements, 

which are unchanged from those used for fiscal 

2019. 

Tangible assets

Property, plant and equipment is measured at pur-

chase cost including all the directly attributable 

accessory costs required to make the asset ready 

for use. Any borrowing costs directly attributable 

to the acquisition, construction of production of 

property, plant and equipment are capitalized and 

depreciated over the useful life of the asset to which 

they refer.

Items of property, plant and equipment are de-

preciated systematically on a straight-line ba-

sis over an asset’s economic and technical useful 

life, meaning the estimated period for which the 

Company believes the asset will be used, start-

ing from the time it becomes available for use. If 

items of property, plant and equipment are made 

up of several significant components, depreciation 

is charged for each separate component. The de-

preciable amount consists of the carrying amount 

less any residual value, being the amount the Com-

pany expects to obtain on selling an asset at the 

end of its useful life, provided that this amount 

is significant and can be reasonably determined. 

Land is not depreciated even if acquired together 

with a building.
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Costs incurred for routine and/or periodic main-

tenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Ex-

penditure on extending, modernizing or improving 

structural items owned or used by third parties are 

capitalized to the extent this responds to the require-

ments for being separately classified as an asset or 

part of an asset. Assets recognized as leasehold im-

provements are depreciated over the shorter of the 

contract term or the asset’s specific useful life.

The indicative estimated useful lives of the different cat-

egories of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Asset category Useful life (years)

Buildings and Towers 30

Plant and machinery 4 – 12

Production and commercial equipment 5 – 7

Other assets 4 – 8

The useful lives of assets are reviewed and revised, 

where necessary, at least at the end of every year.

Rights of use for leases

Lease contracts correspond to contracts that assign 

the exclusive right of use of an asset, identified or 

identifiable, and that assign the substantial right to 

obtain all the economic benefits deriving from its 

use for a determined period of time in exchange of a 

fee. Contracts, or elements of complex contracts that 

have these characteristics, are recognized in the fi-

nancial statements through the posting of a liability 

represented by the present value of the payments due 

for the lease into the statement of financial position, 

as defined in the valuation criteria for Lease liabili-

ties. At the same time a post offsetting the liability is 

recognized under assets for the correspondent right 

of use for lease, amortized/depreciated on a straight 

line basis through the duration of the lease contract 

or the relative economic-technical useful life of the 

asset, if lower. The lease term is the non-cancellable 

period of the counterparty for which there is a right 

of use to the underlying asset.

The following types of contracts stipulated by the 

Company fall under this accounting treatment:

	� rental of properties;

	� car rental.

Typically contracts for the rental of property for in-

dustrial use include automatic renewal on expiry, 

for a term of the same duration: consequently, each 

renewal constitutes a new right of use representing 

the new (albeit tacit) agreement reached between the 

parties. 

On the date of expiry of the lease, the cost of the asset 

represented by its right of use includes:

a)	 the amount of the initial recognition of the lease 

liability;

b)	 the payments due for the lease made on the date 

or before the expiry date;

c)	 the initial direct costs (e.g. brokerage fees);

d)	 in the presence of current obligations for the 

dismantling, removal of activities and the resto-

ration of sites, the recognition value includes the 

estimated (discounted) costs to be incurred when 

the structures are abandoned, offset by a specific 

provisions for non-current risks and charges. For 

the 2018 year these costs are still included in the 

item “Property, plant and equipment”.

The amount in a), offsetting entry for the lease liabil-

ities, includes:

	� fixed instalments;

	� the variable payments depending on an index or a 

rate (e.g. the ISTAT adjustment index);

	� the price for the exercise of the purchase option, 

if there is a reasonable certainty of exercising the 

option;

	� the penalty payments for the termination of the 

lease, if the duration of the lease takes into account 

the exercise of the option to terminate the lease.
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In the case that the lease contract includes the pos-

sibility to exercise the option to buy and there is a 

reasonable certainty that the option will be exercised, 

the right of use is recognized under Property, plant 

and equipment in the corresponding asset class and 

is depreciated throughout the useful life of the asset.

The Company avails itself of the option granted by 

IFRS of recognizing as costs for services the payments 

due for short-term leases (of duration of less than 12 

months) and for leases where the underlying asset is 

of modest value (indicatively less than € 5,000).

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are identifiable assets without 

physical substance that are controlled by the Com-

pany and able to produce future economic benefits. 

The requirement to be identifiable is generally met 

when the intangible asset arises from a legal or con-

tractual right or can be sold or licensed separately or 

as part of other assets. Control consists in the Com-

pany’s power to obtain the future economic benefits 

flowing from the asset together with the possibility 

of preventing or restricting the access of others to 

those benefits.

Intangible assets are recognized at cost, determined 

using the criteria stated for property, plant and 

equipment. 

Intangible assets with a finite useful life are system-

atically amortized over their useful lives, meaning the 

estimated period during which they will be used by 

the Company. The Company uses the same approach 

to determine the amortizable amount and the recov-

erability of the carrying amount described for “prop-

erty, plant and equipment”. Intangible assets with an 

indefinite useful life (Goodwill) are not automatically 

amortized but at least annually undergo the impair-

ment test as required by IAS 36. Any write-downs of 

these assets cannot be reversed subsequently.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets

Testing is carried out at each balance sheet date to 

assess whether there is any indication that a prop-

erty, plant and equipment or intangible asset may be 

impaired. Internal and external sources of informa-

tion are used to make this assessment. the obsoles-

cence or physical deterioration of an asset, any signif-

icant changes in the use of an asset and the economic 

performance of an asset compared to that expected. 

With regard to external sources, the following shall 

be considered: changes in the market price of an as-

set, any technological, market or legislative discon-

tinuities, changes in market interest rates or in the 

borrowing costs used to value the investments.

If the presence of such indicators is identified, an es-

timate is made of the recoverable amount of the as-

sets, with any impairment loss compared to book val-

ue being recognized in profit or loss. The recoverable 

amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less 

costs to sell and its value in use, with the latter being 

the present value of the future cash flows expected to 

be derived from the asset. In calculating value in use, 

the expected future cash flows are discounted using 

a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money over the pe-

riod of the investment and the risks specific to the 

asset. If an asset does not generate cash flows that 

are largely independent, the recoverable amount is 

determined for the cash-generating unit (CGU) to 

which that asset belongs, meaning the smallest iden-

tifiable group of assets that generates independent 

cash flows.

Independently of any of the mentioned indicators for 

the impairment, intangible assets with an indefinite 

useful life (Goodwill) that are not automatically amor-

tized must at least annually undergo the impairment 

test as required by IAS 36.

An impairment is recognized in the income state-

ment when the book value of the asset or the rele-

vant CGU to which it is allocated is higher than its 

recoverable value. Reductions in value of CGUs are 

recorded against the respective assets in proportion 

to their book value and within the limits of the re-
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coverable value thereof. If the conditions for an im-

pairment previously recognized no longer exist, the 

asset’s book value, with the exception of goodwill, 

is restored and recorded in the income statement, 

within the limits of the net accounting value that the 

asset would have had if the reduction had not been 

made and if the relevant amortization had been per-

formed.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of, cash, deposits 

on demand and financial assets with an original ma-

turity date of up to 90 days, readily convertible into 

cash and subject to an immaterial risk of a change in 

value.

Elements included in the item “Cash and cash equiv-

alents” are valued at fair value.

Receipts are recognized as per the date of the bank 

transaction, while payments also take into account 

the order date.

Inventories

Inventories of raw materials, ancillary materials and 

consumables, mostly technical materials, are meas-

ured at the lower of cost, determined on a weighted 

average cost basis, and market value at the balance 

sheet date. Stocks of raw materials, ancillary materi-

als and consumables that can no longer be used in the 

production cycle are written down.

Work in progress, typically relating to the adapta-

tion of the transmission and broadcasting network 

to the requirements of Rai under the “Agreement 

for the provision of transmission and broadcast-

ing services” (hereafter the “Service Agreement”) 

entered with Rai on 5 June 2000 and valid, in the 

version subsequently supplemented and amended 

on several occasions, until 30 June 2014 and rene-

gotiated on 31 July 2014 with effect from 1 July 2014 

(reference should be made to the paragraph Relat-

ed party transactions – note 41 for this matter), are 

measured on the basis of the costs incurred in rela-

tion to the progress of the works, determined using 

the method of the cost incurred (cost-to-cost).

Trade receivables, other financial assets 
and other assets

Taking account of their contractual characteristic 

and the business model adopted for their manage-

ment, trade receivables, financial assets and other as-

sets are classified under the following categories: (i) 

financial assets valued at amortized cost; (ii) financial 

assets valued at fair value through other comprehen-

sive income; (iii) financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss.

If they exclusively generate contractual cash flows 

representative of capital and interest and if managed 

according to the business model whose objective is 

to hold the asset to receive the above-mentioned cash 

flows, trade receivables, financial assets and other as-

sets are initially recognised at adjusted fair value net 

of directly attributable transaction expenses and sub-

sequently valued with the amortised cost criterion on 

the basis of the method of effective interest rate (or 

the rate that makes the actual value of expected cash 

flows and recognition value equal at the initial recog-

nition time), suitably adjusted for any impairments, 

through the recognition of a provision for bad and 

doubtful debts. 

Trade receivables, financial assets and other assets 

having the above-mentioned contractual characteris-

tics, if managed according to a business model whose 

objective is both to hold the asset to benefit from the 

contractual cash flows represented by the repayment 

of capital and of interests accrued and to realise in-

vestments through disposal, are subsequently valued 

at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Financial assets whose contractual cash flows are 

not representative solely of the payment of capital 

and interests, are valued at fair value through profit 

or loss with the exception of financial derivatives de-

signed as hedge for financial flows that are valued at 

fair value through other comprehensive income.

Trade receivables, other financial assets and other as-

sets are classified as current assets, other than those 

having a contractual settlement date of more than 

twelve months after the balance sheet date which are 

classified as non-current assets.
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Impairment of financial assets

At each of the financial statements reference dates, 

all financial assets other than those valued at fair val-

ue through profit or loss are analysed to ascertain if 

there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 

group of financial assets has suffered or might suf-

fer an impairment according to the “expected loss” 

model. 

The Company values expected losses on trade re-

ceivables in relation to their overall duration on 

the basis of the weighted estimate of the probabil-

ity that such losses might occur. To this end, the 

Company uses information and quantitative and 

qualitative analyses, based on historical experi-

ence, suitably integrated with provisional valua-

tions with regard to the expected development of 

circumstances. Losses are measured as the actual 

value of all the differences between financial cash 

flows contractually due and cash flows that the 

Company expects to receive. The discount is imple-

mented by applying the financial asset’s effective 

interest rate. 

For assets other than trade receivables (financial 

assets, other assets, cash and cash equivalents), the 

Company estimates losses on a temporary basis 

corresponding with the duration of each financial 

instrument if the credit risk (or default risk along 

the expected life of the financial instrument) has 

increased significantly from the date of initial rec-

ognition. For financial assets represented by debt 

securities to which a low credit risk was assigned 

at the reference date of the financial statements, 

losses are estimated on a time period of 12 months. 

In line with the Parent Company, the Company con-

siders that debt securities have a low credit risk 

when the rating is equivalent or higher to at least 

one of the following: Baa3 for Moody’s, BBB- for 

Standard&Poor’s and Fitch.

To determine if the credit risk of a financial asset oth-

er than trade receivables has significantly increased 

after the initial recognition, the Company uses all rel-

evant and reasonable information that is adequately 

supported and available without excessive expense or 

effort.

Impairment losses relative to financial assets are re-

corded separately in the income statement.

If the impairment value of an asset recognized in the 

past is reduced, and the decrease can be objective-

ly linked to an event occurred after the recognition 

of impairment, this is credited again to the income 

statement.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets are derecognised when they meet 

one of the following conditions:

	� the contractual right to receive cash flows from 

the asset has expired;

	� the Company has essentially transferred all risks 

and benefits linked to the asset, disposing of its 

rights to receive cash flows from the asset or as-

suming a contractual obligation to pay cash flows 

received to one or more beneficiaries linked to the 

asset by a contract in compliance of the require-

ments of IFRS 9 (“pass through test”);

	� the Company has not essentially transferred nor 

retained all risks and benefits linked to the finan-

cial asset but has surrendered its control.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair 

value excluding any directly attributable accessory 

costs and are subsequently measured at amortized 

cost using the effective interest rate method. If there 

is a change in the estimate of expected cash flows, the 

carrying amount of the liability is recalculated to re-

flect that change on the basis of the present value of 

the new expected cash flows and the effective internal 

rate initially determined. Financial liabilities are clas-

sified as current liabilities, other than those having 

a contractual due date of more than twelve months 

after the balance sheet date and where the Company 

has an unconditional right to defer settlement for at 

least twelve months after the balance sheet date. 

Financial liabilities are recognized at the trading date 

of the transaction and are derecognized when they 

are extinguished and when the Company has trans-

ferred all the risks and expenses relating to the in-

strument.
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Lease liabilities

They represent the present value of payments due for 

lease contracts (as defined in the paragraph “Right of 

use for leases” above) and are recognized at the start 

date of the leases contract.

The present value of payables is calculated by using 

the lease implicit interest rate or the lessee margin-

al financing rate, applicable at the start date of the 

lease contract, if the lease implicit interest rate is not 

readily available. The marginal financing rate cor-

responds to the interest rate that would have been 

applicable to access financing with an analogue cash 

profile and the same collateral guarantees of the lease 

contract (so called Incremental Borrowing Rate).

After the start date, the lease liability, measured by 

applying the amortized cost criterion, is increased to 

take into account the interest expenses accrued, and 

is decreased due to the effect of the payments made. 

It can also be redetermined to take into account any 

new lease contract valuations or amendments. In 

cases where the amendments relate to the duration 

of the lease or the valuation of an option to purchase 

the underlying asset, the lease liability is redeter-

mined used a discounting rate reviewed at the time 

of the amendment.

Derivatives

A derivative is a financial instrument or other con-

tract with the following characteristics:

	� its value changes in response to changes in an 

underlying such as an interest rate, a share price 

or a commodity price, a foreign exchange rate, an 

index of prices or rates, a credit rating or another 

variable;

	� it requires no initial net investment or an initial 

net investment that is smaller than would be re-

quired for contracts having a similar response to 

changes in market conditions;

	� it is settled at a future date.

Derivatives are classified as financial assets or finan-

cial liabilities depending on whether their fair value 

is positive or negative and are further classified as 

“held for trading” and measured at fair value through 

profit or loss, except for those designated as effective 

hedges.

Derivatives are designated as hedging instruments 

when the relationship between the derivative and the 

hedged item is formally documented and the hedge is 

expected to be highly effective; the effectiveness of a 

hedge is verified on a regular basis. When derivatives 

hedge the exposure to variabilities in the cash flows 

of the hedged item (cash flow hedges) such as in the 

case of hedging the variability in cash flows arising 

from assets/liabilities due to fluctuations in foreign 

exchange rates, the changes in the fair value of de-

rivatives considered effective are initially recognized 

in the shareholders’ equity reserve relating to other 

components of Consolidated comprehensive income 

and subsequently reclassified to the Consolidated 

income statement in line with the economic effects 

arising from the hedged transaction. Changes in the 

fair value of derivatives that do not qualify as hedges 

are recognized directly in profit or loss.

Employee benefits

Short-term benefits consist of wages, salaries, the 

related social charges, compensated annual leave 

and incentives in the form of bonuses payable within 

twelve months of the balance sheet date. These bene-

fits are recognized as personnel costs in the period in 

which employees render the related service.

In defined benefit programs, which also include the 

severance pay due to employees pursuant to article 

2120 of the Italian Civil Code (the “TFR”), the amount 

of the benefit to be paid to employees can only be de-

termined after the completion of employment and is 

linked to several factors such as age, years of service 

and remuneration. The cost is accordingly recognized 

in the income statement on the basis of an actuarial 

calculation. The liability recognized for defined bene-

fit plans corresponds to the present value of the obli-

gation at the balance sheet date. Defined benefit plan 

obligations are calculated on an annual basis by an 

independent actuary using the projected unit credit 

method. The present value of a defined benefit plan is 

determined by discounting the future cash flows us-

ing an interest rate determined by reference to high 

quality corporate bonds issued in Euros, consistent 
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with the term of the related pension plan. The actu-

arial gains and losses arising from these adjustments 

and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized 

in comprehensive income.

As of 1 January 2007, the so-called Financial Law 

2007 and corresponding implementation decrees in-

troduced significant changes to regulations for the 

TFR, including permitting an employee to choose the 

destination of the accruing entitlement. More specif-

ically, from that date an employee is able to decide 

whether the new TFR flows should be transferred to 

a selected supplementary pension fund or retained 

within the company. In the case of transfer to an ex-

ternal pension fund, the Company usually pays over a 

defined contribution to the fund, and from that date 

the portion of accruing TFR has the nature of a de-

fined contribution plan and is not therefore subject 

to actuarial valuation.

As far as retirement incentives are concerned, if 

the retirement incentive is not included as part of 

the restructuring programs the liabilities and the 

cost relating to the benefits due as the result of the 

termination of the employment relationship are 

recognized when the Company can no longer with-

draw its offer for the benefits payable as a result 

of the termination of the employment relationship. 

More specifically, if the decision to terminate is 

made by the employee, the Company may no longer 

withdraw the offer of such benefits when the first of 

the following occurs the employee accepts the of-

fer, (ii) a restriction on the ability of the Company 

to withdraw the offer comes into force. Conversely 

if the Company decides to terminate the employ-

ment relationship, it may no longer withdraw the 

offer of such benefits when it has communicated 

a detailed retirement incentive plan to those con-

cerned and when the steps required to be taken to 

complete the plan imply that it is improbable that 

significant changes will be made to such. If it is ex-

pected that such benefits will be fully settled within 

twelve months after the end of the year in which 

such benefits are recognized, the requirements for 

short-term employee benefits are applied, while if 

this is not expected to be the case the entity applies 

the requirements for other long-term employee 

benefits.

Provisions for risks and charges

Provisions for risks and charges are recognized for 

losses and charges of a specific nature whose exist-

ence is certain or probable but for which the amount 

and/or date of occurrence cannot be determined. 

The liabilities linked to tax disputes and uncertain 

tax treatments in relation to income taxes are allo-

cated to the item Liabilities for income taxes.

Provisions are only recognized when the Company 

has a present obligation, legal or constructive, aris-

ing from past events, for the future outflow of eco-

nomic benefits and it is probable that such outflow 

will be required to settle the obligation. The amount 

recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the 

expense required to settle the obligation. 

Where the effect of the time value of money is ma-

terial and the date of settling the obligation can be 

reliably estimated, the amount of the provision is the 

present value of the expected expense discounted us-

ing a rate that reflects market conditions, the change 

in the time value of money and the risks specific to 

the liability. The increase in the carrying amount of a 

provision reflecting the change over time of the cost 

of money is recognized as financial expenses.

Risks for which the likelihood that a liability will arise 

is only possible are disclosed in the section of the 

notes on contingent liabilities and no provisions are 

recognized.

Trade payables and other liabilities

Trade payables and other liabilities are initially rec-

ognized at fair value, excluding directly attributable 

accessory costs, and are subsequently measured 

at amortized cost using the effective interest rate 

method.
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Recognition of revenues and income

The recognition of revenue is based on the following 

five steps:

1.	 identify the contract with a customer;

2.	 identify the separate performance obligations in 

the contract (meaning the contractual commit-

ment to transfer goods and/or services to the cu-

stomer);

3.	 determine the transaction price;

4.	 allocate the transaction price to the performance 

obligations identified on the basis of the standalo-

ne sales price for each good or service; and

5.	 recognize the revenue when each performance 

obligation is satisfied.

On underwriting each contract with customers in 

relation to promised goods or services, the Compa-

ny identifies as a separate obligation each promise to 

transfer goods, service, a series of assets or services 

or a combination of distinct goods and services.

Revenues are valued according to fair value of the 

consideration due, inclusive of any variable compo-

nents, when it is believed it is highly probable that 

this will not be reversed in future.

The Company recognises revenues due for the fulfil-

ment of each separate obligation at the time the con-

trol on services rendered, rights conceded or goods 

supplied is transferred to the buyer.

Revenues are recorded in the financial statements 

net of any discounts or rebates, payments made by 

customers without correspondence to the purchase 

of the Company’s distinct goods or services as well as 

the estimate of customer returns.

The Company recognises a contractual asset or liabil-

ity in function of the fact that the service has a ready 

taken place, but that the relative compensation is yet 

to be received, or as a contractual liability when ob-

ligations assumed are yet to be fulfilled but the com-

pensation has already been received.

For each of the main revenue flows identified, a short 

description is given below of the recognition, meas-

urement and valuation process applied.

Revenues deriving from Supply Contracts for turn-

key services with the Parent Company relate to the 

performance of all activities necessary to guarantee 

transmission and broadcasting, in Italy (on the fre-

quencies assigned to Rai) and abroad, of the radio 

and television signals relating to Rai’s audio and 

visual contents and the ordinary fulfilment of obliga-

tions pertaining to the Concessionary of the public 

radio and television service. Under the scope of the 

Contract are also included “Evolutionary Services”, 

meaning extension of already operational services, 

and “New Services”, which refer instead to services 

relating to completely new standards/technologies, 

not yet known or expected today.

The nature of the obligation assumed, which is sat-

isfied over time, involves the recognition of relative 

accrued revenues through the period in which the 

obligation was fulfilled. 

Revenues from equipment and apparatus hospitality 

services are recognised from the time the customer 

obtains access to the sites where the equipment and 

apparatus are destined to be placed. Such revenues 

are recognised in a linear manner throughout the du-

ration of the hospitality contract, irrespective there-

fore of the temporal distribution of compensation.

Financial income is recognized in the income state-

ment in the year in which it accrues.

Recognition of costs

Costs are recognized in the income statement on an 

accrual basis. Financial expenses are recognized in 

the income statement in the year in which it accrues.

Government grants

Government grants, including non-monetary con-

tributions valued at fair value are recognized when 

there is reasonable assurance that the Company 

will comply with all the conditions attaching to the 

receipt of the grants and that the grants will be re-

ceived.

The benefit of public funding at an interest rate lower 

than market rate is treated as a public subsidy. The 
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funding is initially recognized at fair value and the 

public subsidy is measured as the difference between 

the initial accounting value and the funding received. 

Operating grants are recognised as a positive compo-

nent of the income statement, under the item Other 

revenues and income.

Operating grants are recognized as a positive com-

ponent of the income statement, under the item Oth-

er revenues and income.

Public grants received for the purchase, construc-

tion or acquisition of fixed assets (property, plant and 

equipment or intangible) are recognized as a direct 

reduction of the relative purchase or production cost 

or recognized in the income statement in relation to 

their relative useful life, on the basis of the amortiza-

tion and depreciation process for the assets for which 

the grants were received. 

Taxation

Current taxes are recognized under current income 

tax liabilities net of any advances paid, or under the 

item current tax assets when the net balance is in 

credit. Current taxes are determined by multiplying 

the taxable income estimate for the applicable tax 

rates. Both the estimated taxable income and the tax 

rates used are based on the applicable or essentially 

applicable tax regulations at the reference date.

This item also includes the estimated charges that 

may affect the group in relation to current tax dis-

putes and uncertain income taxes treatment rec-

ognized against current or non current income tax 

liabilities if the time estimated for the resolution of 

the underlying dispute or of uncertainty is over 12 

months. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for 

all the differences between the carrying amount of an 

asset or liability and its tax base and are measured at 

the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 

when the difference is realized settled, based on tax 

rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substan-

tively enacted by the balance sheet date. For the por-

tion not offset by deferred tax liabilities, deferred tax 

assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable income will be available against which 

they can be recovered.

Current taxes and deferred taxes are recognized un-

der the item “Income tax” in the income statement, 

apart from taxes relating to items recognized in 

comprehensive income and those relating to items 

directly charged or credited to equity. In these lat-

ter cases, deferred taxes are recognized in compre-

hensive income and directly in equity. Deferred tax 

assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to 

income taxes levied by the same taxation authority, 

the Company has a legally enforceable right to set off 

the recognized amounts and the Company intends to 

settle on a net basis.

Other taxes that are not based on income, such as 

indirect taxes and duties, are recognized under the 

item “Other costs” in the income statement.

Together with Rai the Company has opted for domes-

tic tax consolidation. The economic relationships, as 

well as the mutual responsibilities and obligations, 

between Rai and the other companies of the same 

Group that opted to join the tax consolidation are de-

fined in the “Agreement for the exercise of the option 

for the domestic consolidation in accordance with 

article 117 and following of the Consolidated Income 

Tax Act”, under which:

	� subsidiaries that transfer a taxable profit to Rai 

also transfer the amounts required to settle the 

additional tax liability due as the result of their 

participation in the domestic consolidation;

	� subsidiaries that transfer a taxable loss to Rai are 

compensated to the extent of the respective tax 

saving achieved by Rai when this saving is real-

ized or could have been realized by the subsidiary 

transferring the loss.

Accordingly the related tax net of any advances paid, 

withholding tax and tax credits in general is recog-

nized as a receivable from or payable to the Parent 

Company.
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Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the 

Company’s net profit by the weighted average num-

ber of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by divid-

ing the Company’s net profit by the weighted aver-

age number of ordinary shares outstanding during 

the year. In order then to calculate diluted earnings 

per share the weighted average number of ordinary 

shares outstanding during the year is adjusted by as-

suming that all the holders of rights that potentially 

have a dilutive effect exercise those rights, while the 

Company’s net profit is adjusted to take into account 

any effect, net of taxes, of exercising those rights.

Recently issued accounting standards 

Accounting standards adopted by the European 
Union but not yet applicable

Regulation no. 2020/2097 issued by the European 

Commission on 15 December 2020 endorsed the 

document “Amendments to IFRS 4 “Insurance Con-

tracts” – IFRS 9 deferral”. The amendments to IFRS 

4 are intended to address the temporary accounting 

consequences of the time lag between the effective 

date of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and the effec-

tive date of the future IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”. 

Entities with predominantly insurance operations 

are permitted to defer the application of IFRS 9 from 

1 January 2021 to 1 January 2023. The Company has 

assessed that these changes will have no impact on 

its financial statements.

Regulation 2021/25 issued by the European Com-

mission on 13 January 2021 endorsed the document 

“Reform of Interest Rate Reference Indices – Phase 

2 – Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and 

IFRS 1” to take into account the consequences of ef-

fectively replacing existing interest rate reference in-

dices with alternative reference rates. These amend-

ments provide for a specific accounting treatment to 

allocate over time changes in the value of financial 

instruments or leasing contracts due to the replace-

ment of the reference index for determining interest 

rates, thus avoiding immediate repercussions on the 

profit (loss) for the year and unnecessary termina-

tions of hedging relationships following the replace-

ment of the reference index for determining interest 

rates. The amendments discussed in this document 

are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2021. The Company has assessed that these 

changes will have no impact on its financial state-

ments.

Accounting standards not yet adopted 
by the European Union

	� On 18 May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 “Insur-

ance Contracts”, which was subsequently amend-

ed by “Amendments to IFRS 17” issued on 25 June 

2020. The standard addresses the accounting 

treatment of insurance contracts issued and rein-
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surance contracts held. IFRS 17 is effective for an-

nual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

	� On 23 January 2020 and 15 July 2020, respective-

ly, the IASB issued “Amendments to IAS 1 Pres-

entation of Financial Statements: classification of 

liabilities as current or non-current” and “Classi-

fication of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 

– Deferral of Effective Date” to clarify the re-

quirements for classifying liabilities as current or 

non-current. More precisely:

	— the amendments specify that the conditions 

existing at the end of the reporting period are 

those that must be used to determine whether 

there is a right to defer the settlement of a li-

ability;

	— management’s expectations regarding events 

after the balance sheet date, for example in the 

event of a breach of a covenant or in the event 

of early settlement, are not material;

	— the amendments clarify the situations that are 

considered as a settlement of a liability.

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, the IASB proposed 

to defer the effective date of the document to 1 

January 2023, to give companies more time to im-

plement any classification changes resulting from 

the amendments.

	� On 14 May 2020 the IASB issued the documents 

“Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations; 

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment; IAS 37 Pro-

visions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent As-

sets as well as Annual Improvements 2018-2020”. 

The package of documents contains amendments 

restricted to three standards as well as annual im-

provements and they clarify the wording or cor-

rect oversights or conflicts between the require-

ments of the standards. The amendments to IFR 

3 “Business Combinations” update a reference to 

the conceptual framework for financial reporting 

without changing the accounting requirements 

for business combinations. The amendments to 

IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment” prohibit a 

company from deducting from the cost of proper-

ty, plant and equipment, income from the sale of 

items produced while the company is preparing 

the asset for its intended use. Income from sales 

and related costs should be booked to the income 

statement. The amendments to IAS 37 “Provi-

sions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent As-

sets” specify which costs should be included in 

assessing whether a contract is in deficit. The 

annual improvements make minor amendments 

to IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International 

Financial Reporting Standards”, IFRS 9 “Financial 

Instruments”, IAS 41 “Agriculture” and the illus-

trative examples accompanying IFRS 16 “Leases”. 

All amendments shall enter into force on 1 Janu-

ary 2022.

The Company is currently analysing the above stand-

ards and assessing whether adoption will have a sig-

nificant effect on its financial statements.

Segment Information

IFRS 8 Operating Segments defines an “operating 

segment” as a component of an entity: (a) that en-

gages in business activities from which it may earn 

revenues and incur expenses, (b) whose results of op-

erations are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief 

operating decision maker, which for Rai Way is the 

Board of Directors, to make decisions about resourc-

es to be allocated to the segment and assess its per-

formance; and (c) for which discrete financial infor-

mation is available. The Company has identified only 

one operating segment, for which information on op-

erations is prepared and made available to the Board 

of Directors on a periodic basis for the above-men-

tioned purposes, considering the business conducted 

by Rai Way as a single group of activities; accordingly 

no disclosures by operating segment are provided in 

the financial statements. Disclosures on the services 

rendered by the Company, the geographical area in 

which it carries out its activities (which almost en-

tirely corresponds to the State of Italy) and its main 

customers are provided in the notes to these financial 

statements, to which reference should therefore be 

made.
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Transactions between Rai and Rai Way

The incorporation of the Company and the comple-

tion of the transfer by the Parent Company Rai of the 

business unit “Transmission and Broadcasting Divi-

sion” are part of a much broader streamlining project 

being carried out by the Rai Group which resulted in 

the formation of a number of subsidiaries tasked with 

handling specific business sectors ancillary to the 

Public Service for broadcasting radio and television 

programs previously performed by Rai. Under this 

transfer, which took place on 1 March 2000, the Com-

pany became the owner of the business unit tasked 

with performing the planning, design, installation, 

construction, operation, management, maintenance, 

implementation and development of the systems, 

of the stations, of the connections and in general 

of the network for transmitting and broadcasting 

Rai’s voice, video and data signals. The ownership of 

the equipment needed for Rai’s television and radio 

transmission and broadcasting was therefore trans-

ferred to the Company, in addition to the employ-

ment relationships with approximately 600 engi-

neers and technicians specialized in the transmission 

and broadcasting of radio and television signals. 

On 5 June 2000, Rai and the Company signed the Ser-

vice Contract under which the latter engaged the Com-

pany to provide services on an exclusive basis for the 

installation, maintenance and operation of telecommu-

nications networks and the performance of services 

for the transmission, distribution and broadcasting of 

radio and television signals and programs. The Service 

Agreement remained effective until 30 June 2014.

On 31 July 2014 Rai and Rai Way executed the New 

Service Agreement, effective 1 July 2014, replacing the 

aforementioned Service Agreement, under which Rai 

engages the Company on an exclusive basis to provide 

a set of services that enable Rai to carry out the fol-

lowing: (i) regular transmission and broadcasting in 

Italy and abroad through the MUX that were assigned 

to it on the basis of applicable regulation; and (ii) reg-

ular fulfilment of its Public Service obligations.

Reference should be made to the paragraph “Related 

party transactions” for further details about transac-

tions between Rai and Rai Way.

Financial risk management 
(note 4)

The financial risks to which the Company is exposed 

are managed in accordance with the approach and 

procedures included in a specific policy approved by 

Rai Way’s Board of Directors, which is directed at risk 

minimization in order to maintain the value of the 

business as a whole and in particular economic and 

financial value.

The main risks identified by the Company are as fol-

lows:

	� market risk, deriving from the exposure to fluc-

tuations in interest rates and foreign exchange 

rates arising from financial assets and liabilities 

respectively owned/originated and assumed;

	� credit risk, deriving from the possibility that one 

or more counterparties may be insolvent;

	� liquidity risk, deriving from the Company’s inabil-

ity to obtain the financial resources necessary to 

fulfil short-term financial commitments;

	� capital risk, deriving from the Company’s ability 

to continue ensuring capital soundness.

Market risk

Market risk consists of the possibility that changes 

in interest and exchange rates, or the rating of the 

counterparties with whom liquidity is deposited, may 

negatively affect the value of assets, liabilities or ex-

pected cash flows. 

The Company has adopted its own specific financial 

policy, whose features are described in the following 

and whose aim is to minimize risk and maintain the 

value of the business. 

	� Interest Rate Risk: the interest rate risk, result-

ing from the possible fluctuations in interest rates 

applied on medium/long-term loans to the Com-

pany, is managed, in the presence of significant 

amounts, through the hedging instruments avail-

able on the market such as IRS and other deriva-

tive instruments, with predetermined minimum 

hedging percentages. In October, a new Loan 

Agreement was formalised for a total of €  170 

million (€ 120 million for the Term Line and € 50 

million for the Revolving Line) with a duration of 
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3 years; taking into account the methods of dis-

bursement of the amounts (if necessary) and re-

payment, as well as the limited amount used as at 

31/12/2020, equal to € 15 million, no interest rate 

hedging transactions were carried out. It should 

be noted that a possible variation of plus or mi-

nus 50 bps in the Euribor would have entailed a 

gain or loss, quantifiable, gross of tax effects, of 

approximately € 0.06 million for every Euro +-10 

million of capital used.

	� Exchange Rate Risk: the Company’s operation in 

currencies other than Euro is extremely limited 

and therefore the exposure to exchange rate risk 

does not have any significant effect on the finan-

cial situation. The Company nevertheless moni-

tors its exposure in currency to be ready to take 

the initiatives deemed necessary by its policy to 

manage any significant risk positions (over € 2.5 

million) which may emerge from a changed ex-

posure to exchange rate risk. In these cases the 

policy requires a gradual hedging approach to be 

taken by means similar to those envisaged for in-

terest rate risk described above.

	� Liquidity-related Risks: risks connected with the 

investment of liquidity, in the case of temporary 

excesses of cash the Company’s policy requires 

the use of low-risk market-based financial instru-

ments with counterparties having a high rating or 

with the Parent Company. 

Credit risk

The Company’s main customer is its Parent Company 

Rai, which generated Group revenues net of marginal 

costs of € 191,293 thousand (approximately 85% of to-

tal revenues) and € 188,186 thousand (approximately 

85% of total revenues) in the years ended 31 Decem-

ber 2020 and 2019 respectively. The Company’s other 

customers are mainly telephone operators, broad-

casting companies, entities of the public administra-

tion and other corporate customers with which the 

Company enters multi-year service agreements. The 

Company is therefore exposed to the risk of concen-

tration of revenues and credit deriving from the pos-

sibility that its trade counterparties will be unable to 

fulfil their obligations, either for business and finan-

cial reasons such as business instability, the inability 

to collect the necessary capital for the performance 

of their activity or those related to the general trend 

towards the reduction in operating costs, or else for 

technical-commercial reasons or legal reasons con-

nected with the performance of the services by the 

Company, such as complaints relating to the services 

provided or the customers’ inclusion in bankruptcy 

proceedings that make it more difficult or impossible 

to recover the receivables.

A breach by one of the Company’s trade counterpar-

ties to fulfil its obligations may result in negative ef-

fects on its results of operations, financial position 

and cash flows.

With regard to counterparty risk, formalized pro-

cedures for assessing and accepting trade partners 

have been adopted for credit management purposes. 

The assessment is carried out on overdue items and 

may lead to formal notice of default being served on 

the parties involved. The lists of overdue items ana-

lysed are sorted by amount and by customer, updated 

to the analysis date, in order to highlight the items 

requiring greater attention and the need to send re-

minders or carry out other collection procedures as 

required by business policies.

The Company sends informal payment claim notices 

to debtors owing amounts relating to overdue items. 

If this activity does not remedy the situation, after 

formally placing the debtors in default the Company 

assesses the possibility of filing for an injunction. 

The following table provides an ageing of trade re-

ceivables at 31 December 2020 and 2019, with figures 

stated net of the provision for bad and doubtful debts. 
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All trade receivables are due within 12 months.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the inability for the Company to 

obtain the funding it requires to meet its opera-

tional requirements for investments, working cap-

ital and debt servicing. Rai Way believes that cash 

flows from operating activities and its outstanding 

loans (see the section on “Current and non-current 

financial assets and liabilities”) are amply sufficient 

to meet its needs. At 31 December 2020, the Term 

line was used for € 15,000 thousand, while the Re-

volving line for a total amount of € 50 million was 

not used and the financial parameters provided for 

in the related financing contract (covenants) were 

widely respected.

The following tables set out the expected cash flows 

for future years arising from the Company’s out-

standing financial liabilities, trade payables and other 

liabilities at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

(in thousand of Euro)
Financial year at 31 December

2020 2019

Becoming due 56,628 64,930 

Past due by 0-30 days 561 955 

Past due by 31-60 days 262 569 

Past due by 61-90 days 114 3,103 

Past due by more than 90 days 4,988 5,238 

Total 62,553 74,795 

(in thousand of Euro)

At 31 December 2020

Within 12 
months

Between 1 and 
5 years

Over 5 years

Current and non-current financial liabilities 327 15,316 - 

Trade payables 45,546 - - 

Other debt and liabilities 35,988 - - 

(in thousand of Euro)

At 31 December 2019

Within  
12 months

Between 1 and 
5 years

Over 5 years

Current and non-current financial liabilities 176 263 - 

Trade payables 54,278 - - 

Other debt and liabilities 34,105 - - 
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Capital risk

The Company’s capital management objectives aim at 

safeguarding its ability to continue to ensure optimal 

capital soundness. Specifically, the Company’s debt to 

equity ratio, continues to be 0 at 31 December 2020 

as it was at 31 December 2019. The fair value of trade 

receivables and other financial assets, trade payables, 

financial liabilities (measured at amortized cost) and 

other payables recognized as “current” in the state-

ment of financial position does not significantly differ 

from the carrying amounts of these items at 31 De-

cember 2020, as they mainly relate to assets arising 

from commercial transactions for which settlement 

is expected in the short term.

Non-current financial assets and liabilities are settled 

or measured at market rates and their fair value is 

considered to be broadly in line with their present 

carrying amounts. 

Since 1 January 2019, due to the effect of the adoption 

of the new IFRS 16 accounting standard, lease liabil-

ities amounted to € 35,378 thousand at 31 December 

2020. 

Measurement of financial instruments 
at fair value

Financial instruments carried at fair value in the 

statement of financial position consist of financial 

hedging derivatives that are measured by means of a 

financial model that uses generally accepted market 

formulae as well as the following inputs provided by 

Reuters: Euribor and IRS rate curves, volatility and 

credit spreads of the different banking counterpar-

ties and securities issued by the Italian State. The fair 

value of derivative instruments represents the net 

position of asset and liability values. 

It should be noted that as of 31 December 2020, the 

Company has no derivative finance contracts.

Estimates and Assumptions 
(note 5)

The preparation of financial statements requires the 

directors to apply accounting principles and meth-

ods which, in certain circumstances, depend upon 

difficult and subjective measurements and estimates 

based on historical experience and assumptions that 

at the time are considered reasonable and realistic 

with respect to the relative circumstances. The ap-

plication of these estimates and assumptions affects 

the amounts reported in the financial statements, 

the statement of financial position, the income state-

ment, the statement of comprehensive income and 

the cash flow statement and the disclosures. The fi-

nal results of the items in the financial statements 

for which the above estimates and assumptions have 

been made could differ from those recorded in the fi-

nancial statements, as these recognize the effects of 

the event estimated, due to the uncertainty inherent 

in the assumptions and conditions on which the esti-

mates are based.

The following paragraphs provide a brief description 

of the areas which require greater subjectivity to be 

used by the directors in arriving at their estimates 

and for which a change in the conditions underlying 

the assumptions could have a significant effect on the 

reported figures.

Contingent liabilities

A liability is recognized for risks arising from disputes 

and litigation when an outflow of funds is considered 

probable and the amount can be reliably estimated. 

If an outflow of funds is considered possible but the 

amount of that outflow cannot be determined, this 

fact is disclosed in the notes to the financial state-

ments. The Company is the defendant in legal cases 

(of an administrative and fiscal nature and relating to 

labour law) on a variety of issues. The Company con-

stantly monitors the status of these pending litiga-

tions and engages the services of legal advisers.
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Revenues (note 6)

The item breaks down as follows:

“Revenues” includes revenues accruing in the year 

from the provision of services that are part of the 

Company’s normal business operations.

At 31 December 2020 Revenues rose by € 3,075 thousand 

compared to the previous year in 2019, from € 221,388 

thousand in 2019 to € 224,463 thousand in 2020.

“Revenues from Rai Group” amounted to € 191,293 

thousand, equal to 85% of total Revenues for the 

year ended 31 December 2020 (€ 188,186 thousand, 

for the year ended 31 December 2019) and increased 

by € 3,107 thousand compared to the same period in 

(in thousand of Euro)
Financial year at 31 December

2020 2019

Revenues from Rai Group (*) 191,293 188,186 

Revenues from third parties 33,170 33,202 

 - Hospitality fees for equipment and apparatus 29,516 29,839 

 - Other 3,654 3,363 

Total Revenues from sales and services 224,463 221,388 

(*) Revenues are shown net of marginal costs of € 21,754 thousand (€ 23,036 thousand at 31 December 2019).

(in thousand of Euro)
Financial year at 31 December

2020 2019

Operating grants 7 10 

Compensation for damages 490 35 

Other revenues 42 900 

Total Other revenues and income 539 945 

2019. This increase derives mainly from additional 

services provided to the Parent (so-called evolution-

ary services), in particular relating to the extension 

of the coverage of the population with reference to 

the digital terrestrial television broadcasting service. 

“Revenues from third parties” mainly includes reve-

nues generated from the services of (i) tower rental, 

(ii) broadcasting, (iii) transmission, and (iv) network 

services, that the Company provided to third parties 

other than Rai and Group’s companies. These reve-

nues were down by € 32 thousand with respect to the 

same period in the previous year.

The income statement item “Other revenues and in-

come” amounted to € 539 thousand with a decrease 

of € 406 thousand compared to 31 December 2019 

determined mainly due to the lower income for capi-

tal gains from site disposal (€ 805 thousand in 2019) 

balanced only in part by the higher compensation for 

damages obtained in 2020 (€ 490 thousand).

Other revenues and income 
(note 7)

The item breaks down as follows:



64	 Annual Financial Report 2020

(in thousand of Euro)
Financial year at 31 December

2020 2019

 Motor fuel purchase 638 754 

 Fuel purchase 64 109 

 Purchase of tools 192 323 

 Change in inventory 16 1 

Total Consumables 910 1,187 

(in thousand of Euro)
Financial year at 31 December

2020 2019

Services of independent workers 1,902 2,299 

 Other services 2,976 1,937 

 Travel expenses, business trips and accessory personnel costs 1,030 2,055 

 Intercompany service agreement costs 6,285 6,748 

 Maintenance and repairs 5,298 5,113 

 Transport and similar 251 241 

 Utilities 13,734 14,772 

 Leasing and rentals 8,201 9,003 

Total Costs of services 39,677 42,168 

Purchase of consumables 
and goods (note 8)

The item breaks down as follows:

The income statement item “Consumables and 

goods” amounting to € 910 thousand recorded a de-

crease of € 277 thousand compared to the values as 

at 31 December 2019 mainly due to lower purchases 

of tools and lower fuel consumption as a result of the 

temporary slowdown in activities in the second part 

of the first half of the year following the start of the 

spread of the Covid-19 virus in the national territory. 

The item “Costs for services” recorded a decrease of 

€ 2,491 thousand (-5.9%), from € 42,168 thousand at 

31 December 2019 to € 39,677 thousand at 31 Decem-

ber 2020. The main changes in the above cost items 

and a description of the main factors that determined 

them are shown below: 

	� the item “Other services” of € 2,976 thousand de-

creased by € 1,039 thousand over the 2019 figure, 

due to general services and lower recoveries of ex-

penditure. This item included, among others, fees 

relating to the year for the legal audit of the annu-

al accounts amounting to € 80 thousand. 

Cost of services (note 9)

The item breaks down as follows:
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	� the item “Per diem, service travel and ancillary 

personnel costs” amounting to € 1,030 thousand 

recorded a decrease of € 1,025 thousand compared 

to the 2019 values due to the aforementioned 

temporary slowdown in activities following the 

spread of the Covid-19 virus in the national ter-

ritory;

	� the item “Services from intercompany service 

contract” which includes services payable with 

the Parent Company recorded a decrease in the 

comparison between 2020 and 2019 of € 463 

thousand mainly due to lower canteen costs and 

use of spaces and services. 

	� the item “Maintenance and repairs” includes the 

maintenance costs of the network infrastructure; 

it shows a balance of € 5,298 thousand substan-

tially in line with the 2019 value (€ 5,113 thousand) 

with an increase of € 185 thousand.

	� the item “Utilities” amounted to € 13,734 thou-

sand (€ 14,772 thousand at 31 December 2019) 

and principally includes the costs incurred for 

electricity, telephone expenses and various utili-

ties. The decrease compared to 2019, amounting 

to € 1,038 thousand, is mainly due to the new tar-

iffs resulting from the renegotiation of the ener-

gy supply contract and the reduction in ancillary 

charges; 

	� the item “Leasing and rentals” consist mainly of 

the cost of rentals and leases not included in the 

application of the IFRS 16 accounting standard 

with respect to buildings, plant and equipment, 

transmission circuits and motor vehicles. The 

balance amounted to € 8,201 thousand with a de-

crease of € 802 thousand compared to the value 

recorded in 2019 (€  9,003 thousand), due to the 

renegotiation of the lease agreement for trans-

mission capacity and fibre optic connections. 

The details of costs for services rendered by the 

company tasked with the statutory audit of financial 

statements and of companies belonging to the same 

network are given below:

(in thousand of Euro)

Remuneration for 

the 2020 financial 

year

External audit PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A. 58 

Half-yearly Financial Report PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A. 21 

Non Financial Disclosure PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A. 37 

Other services required by law from subject tasked with 

statutory audit
PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A. 5 

Total Costs of services 121

Information pursuant to Article 149-duodecies of Consob Regulation on Issuers
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“Personnel costs” amount to € 46,470 thousand in 

2020, an increase of € 1,144 thousand, mainly due to re-

dundancy incentive charges of € 980 thousand. 

Capitalized payroll costs amounted to € 4,798 thousand 

at 31 December 2020 (€ 4,162 thousand at 31 December 

2019), an increase of € 636 thousand mainly due to the 

higher volume of investments compared to 2019. 

Further details on the economic effects arising from 

the accounting treatment for employee benefits may 

be found in note 32 “Employee benefits”.

The following table sets out the average number of 

the Company’s employees during the year and the 

number at year end:

(in thousand of Euro)
Financial year at 31 December

2020 2019

Salaries and wages 36,744 36,433 

Social security contributions 10,668 10,541 

Severance indemnity 2,066 2,202 

Retirement pensions and similar 795 788 

Redundancy incentives 980 -   

Other costs 15 (476)

Capitalized personnel costs (4,798) (4,162)

Total personnel Costs 46,470 45,326 

(in units)

Average number of employees (*)

for the financial year ended

Precise number of employees 

for the financial year ended

31 December 2020 31 December 2019 31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Executives 23 22 23 23 

Managers 161 150 165 163 

Employees 412 427 406 416 

Manual workers 11 13 10 13 

Total 607 612 604 615 

(*) The average values in the table include part-time employees.

Personnel costs (note10)

The item breaks down as follows:
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The income statement item “Other costs” recorded 

an increase of € 285 thousand (+11.1%), from € 2,579 

thousand at 31 December 2019 to € 2,864 thousand 

at 31 December 2020 mainly due to higher capital 

losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment 

and lower refunds of indirect taxes and local taxes 

obtained compared to the previous year.

(in thousand of Euro)
Financial year at 31 December

2020 2019

Contribution to Supervisory Authorities 319 327 

ICI/IMU/TASI 585 629 

Taxes on production and consumption 1,099 1,145 

Other indirect taxes, fees and levies 343 332 

Other 518 146 

Total Other costs 2,864 2,579 

Other costs (note 11)

The item breaks down as follows:

Write-downs of financial assets 
(note 12)

The item “Write-downs of financial assets” posted 

a balance of € 37 thousand at 31 December 2020, a 

decrease of € 209 thousand compared to the € 246 

thousand at 31 December 2019. This decrease is due 

to the combined effect of lower impairment losses on 

receivables during the year of € 366 thousand and the 

absence of releases of the Allowance for doubtful ac-

counts (€ 157 thousand at 31 December 2019).

Amortization, depreciation 
and other write-downs (note 13)

The item “Amortization”, included in the item “Amor-

tization, depreciation and write-downs”, was € 45,324 

thousand at 31 December 2020 (€ 42,192 thousand at 

31 December 2019). It should be noted that as a result 

of the adoption of the IFRS 16 accounting standard, 

which came into force on 1 January 2019, this item 

includes the value of the amortization of the rights 

of use for leases and, in addition, the values relating 

to “Dismantling and restoration” were reclassified 

from “Tangible assets” to “Rights of use-fabricated”. 

Compared to the previous year, the increase in the 

item “Depreciation and other write-downs” equal to 

€ 3,132 thousand is due to higher depreciation of tan-

gible assets for € 1,422 thousand, of rights of use for 

€ 481 thousand and of intangible assets for € 1,229 

thousand. 
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The item breaks down as follows: 

Provisions (note 14)

The item “Provisions” shows a positive balance 

(negative income component) equal to € 315 thou-

sand due to provisions for € 360 thousand and ab-

sorption of funds for € 45 thousand. Among the 

provisions, the main item concerns charges for 

past leases (€ 260 thousand). At 31 December 2019, 

the item had a negative balance of € 1,458 thousand 

(positive income component) due to a prevailing 

release of certain items from the provision for civ-

il litigation risks following favourable rulings on 

Cosap (public land occupation fee) amounting to 

€ 1,596 thousand.

(in thousand of Euro)
Financial year at 31 December

2020 2019

Depreciation and amortisation

Tangible assets

buildings 734 717 

plant and machinery 29,903 28,654 

production and commercial equipment 1,330 1,186 

other assets 267 255 

Total property, plant and equipment depreciation 32,234 30,812 

Rights of use

buildings 9,662 9,213 

other assets 545 513 

Total right of use depreciation 10,207 9,726 

Intangible assets

software 2,672 1,443 

other 211 211 

Total intangible assets amortization 2,883 1,654 

Total amortization/depreciation 45,324 42,192 

Other write-downs - - 

Total amortization/depreciation and other write-downs 45,324 42,192 
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Financial income and expenses 
(note 15)

The item breaks down as follows:

 “Financial income” amounted to € 43 thousand, an 

increase of € 35 thousand compared to 31 December 

2019.

“Financial expenses” amounted to € 1,145 thousand, 

an increase of € 117 thousand compared to the same 

period of the previous year (€ 1,262 thousand as at 

31 December 2019). With reference to the loan agree-

ment with a pool of financial institutions consisting 

of Mediobanca - Banca di Credito Finanziario S.p.A., 

Banca Nazionale del Lavoro S.p.A., Unicredit S.p.A. 

and Cassa depositi e prestiti S.p.A, signed on October 

29, 2020 for a total of € 170,000 thousand and divided 

into a Term Credit Line and a Revolving Credit Line, 

both medium-term and respectively for a maximum 

amount of €  120,000 thousand and Euro 50,000 

thousand, at 31 December 2020, interest on the re-

quested draw downs of € 15,000 thousand amounted 

to € 20 thousand, while undrawn fees amounted to 

€  68 thousand.

(in thousand of Euro)
Financial year at 31 December

2020 2019

 Interest revenues from banks - 2 

 Exchange gains 34 4 

 Other interest receivables 9 2 

Total financial income 43 8 

 Interest on the obligation for employee benefits (84) (135)

 Exchange losses (39) (42)

 Interest expense to banks and other lenders (57) (30)

 Interests on adjustments to dismantling and restoration provision (211) (210)

 Interest expenses on lease agreements (553) (607)

 Other, fees and charges (201) (238)

Total financial expenses (1,145) (1,262)

Net total financial income (1,102) (1,254)
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The item “Current taxes” is equal to € 24,670 thou-

sands with a decrease compared to the previous 

period of € 70 thousands mainly due to a lower tax 

burden for IRAP purposes following the adhesion of 

the Company to the tax relief measure provided by 

the “Decreto Rilancio”. This measure generated a zero 

balance for IRAP 2019, resulting in an extraordinary 

income for accounting purposes and a lower advance 

payment of IRAP 2020, within the maximum limit 

granted for State aid at group level, to be considered 

all-inclusive of all State aid available in 2020.

This item consists of:

	� IRES (corporate income tax) of € 21,140 thousand;

	� IRAP (regional production tax) of € 3,530 thousand.

Deferred taxes show a negative balance of € 135 thou-

sand with a decrease of € 848 thousand compared 

to 31 December 2019 mainly due to the net effect 

between the uses/absorptions and provisions of the 

items recovered for taxation.

Deferred taxes consist of:

	� Prepaid taxes of € (98) thousand;

	� Deferred tax liabilities of € (37) thousand.

Taxes relating to previous financial years show 

a negative balance (positive income component) 

equal to € 303 thousand and include, among other 

things, the cancellation of the IRAP balance follow-

ing the Relaunch Decree equal to Euro 108 thou-

sand.

The following table provides a reconciliation between 

the theoretical tax charge and the effective tax charge 

for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

(in thousand of Euro)
Financial year at 31 December

2020 2019

Current taxes 24,670 24,740 

Deferred taxes (135) 713 

Substitute taxes 62 62 

Taxes relating to previous financial years (303) (37)

Total 24,294 25,478 

(in thousand of Euro)
Financial year at 31 December

2020 2019

Pre-tax profit 88,303 88,839 

Theoretical taxes 21,193 24.0% 21,321 24.0%

Substitute taxes 62 62 

Taxes relating to previous financial years (303) (37)

Permanent differences (188) 62 

IRAP 3,530 4,070 

Total 24,294 27.5% 25,478 28.7%

Income tax (note 16)

The item breaks down as follows:
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Property, plant and equipment 
(note 17)

This item and changes during the year may be ana-

lysed as follows:

(in thousand of Euro) Land Buildings
Plant and 

machinery

Production 
and 

commercial 
equipment

Other assets

Intangible 
assets in 

progress and 
prepayments

Total 
intangible 

assets

Accounting value at 
1 January 2020

Amortisation provision at 
1 January 2020

12,010 91,847 737,419 30,421 2,412 24,081 898,190 

Net accounting value at 
1 January 2020

- (75,738) (617,073) (26,067) (1,661) - (720,539)

Bad debt provision at 
1 January 2020

- (7) (6) - - - (13)

Net accounting value at 
1 January 2020

12,010 16,102 120,340 4,354 751 24,081 177,638 

2020 changes

Investments 5 4,719 30,157 620 136 20,141 55,778 

Depreciation for the year - (735) (29,908) (1,330) (267) - (32,240)

Bad debt provision

assets in use 6 6 

on disposed assets - - 

- - 6 - - - 6 

Disposals

Cost - (390) (5,590) (916) (242) (7,138)

Amortization provision - 233 5,523 893 242 6,891 

Net accounting value - (157) (67) (23) - - (247)

Reclassifications - 769 20,447 697 20 (21,933) -   

Transfers

Cost - 

Amortization provision - 

Net accounting value - - - - - - - 

Accounting values at 
31 December 2020

- 

Cost at 31 December 2020 12,015 96,945 782,433 30,822 2,326 22,289 946,830 

Amortization provision at 
31 December 2020

- (76,240) (641,458) (26,504) (1,686) - (745,888)

Bad debt provision at 
31 December 2020

- (7) - - - - (7)

Net accounting value at 
31 December 2020

12,015 20,698 140,975 4,318 640 22,289 200,935 
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“Property, plant and equipment” amounted to 

€  200,935 thousand at 31 December 2020, up by 

€ 23,297 thousand compared to the previous financial 

year. This deviation is mainly due to the combined ef-

fect of reductions for depreciation, amortization for 

a total of € 32,240 thousand, and increases for new 

investments for € 55,778 thousand. 

“Property, plant and equipment” includes the costs 

that may be capitalized as leasehold improvements.

Despite the fact that the analysis of internal and ex-

ternal indicators does not reveal elements that put 

the recoverability of the values of tangible assets at 

risk, the Company has carried out an impairment 

test. For further details, reference should be made to 

the paragraph on intangible assets (note 19).

Rights of use for leases (note 18)

The value of rights of use under leases, which totalled 

€ 32,467 thousand, is broken down as follows:

(in thousand of Euro)
Land and 

buildings (*)
Other assets Total

Accounting values at 1 January 2020

Cost at 1 January 2020 48,682 1,447 50,129 

Depreciation provision (13,374) (513) (13,887)

Net accounting value at 1 January 2020 35,308 934 36,242 

2020 changes

Increases and capitalizations 6,175 523 6,698 

Depreciation for the year (9,662) (545) (10,207)

Disposals:

Cost (162) (162)

Amortization provision 89 89 

Net value (73) (73)

Cancellations (193) (193)

Net accounting value at 31 December 2020

Historical cost 54,502 1,970 56,472 

Depreciation provision (22,947) (1,058) (24,005)

Net accounting value at 31 December 2020 31,555 912 32,467 

(*) Land and Buildings also includes “Dismantling and Restoration”.

The increases and capitalizations of € 6,698 thousand 

refer to property rental and transport vehicle hire 

contracts with effect in the financial year.

Costs for short-term leases or leases of modest value 

are included under Costs for services (note 9). 

Revenues from sublet assets determining the recog-

nition of a right of use amounted to € 7 thousand.

During the year, the Company did not benefit from 

any suspension of payments due on leases, granted 

as a direct result of the Covid-19 pandemic, which fall 

within the scope of the amendment to IFRS 16 “Con-

cessions on Covid-19 related lease payments”.
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Intangible assets (note 19)

Intangible assets amount to € 15,892 thousand, an 

increase of € 1,605 thousand compared to 31 Decem-

ber 2019 due primarily to investments made in the 

financial year (of € 4,488 thousand), partially offset 

by amortisation for the period (of € 2,883 thousand). 

Investments include € 170 thousand relating to the 

value of goodwill deriving from the acquisition of the 

entire holding in Sogepotel.

It should be noted that even in the absence of internal 

and external indicators showing impairment losses 

in relation to the item “Goodwill”, an impairment test 

was carried out which in any case confirmed the re-

coverability of the value entered in the balance sheet, 

also in compliance with the international accounting 

principle IAS 36, using the following assumptions: 

since Rai Way does not have any cash generating unit 

(“CGU”), the recoverable amount was determined us-

ing forecast cash inflows. The recoverable amount 

was compared to the Company’s net invested capital 

at 31 December 2020.

A WACC of between 5.4% and 6.6%, a growth rate (g) 

of between 1% and 2% in the long term, has been used 

for the discounting of the cash flows. For the purpos-

es of the calculation of the terminal value the follow-

ing are included, among other things:

	� the ratio between the maintenance expenditure 

(IFRS 16 investments excluded) and revenues of 

6% in accordance with the assumptions of the 

business plan without any development invest-

ments; 

	� amortization and depreciation equal to mainte-

nance expenditure;

	� change in net working capital and provisions to 

zero.

The recoverable amount is significantly higher than 

the value object of the test. The impacts relative to 

a potential expansion of infrastructures and/or alter-

native uses of the existing infrastructure are not in-

cluded for this purpose.

The following table shows the changes in intangible 

assets:

(in thousand of Euro) Software Goodwill Other 

Intangible 
assets in 

progress and 
prepayments

Total intangible 
assets

Accounting values at 1 January 2020 

Cost at 1 January 2020 (*) 7,504 4,970 3,350 1,155 16,979 

Amortization provision at 1 January 2020 (2,084) - (608) -   (2,692)

Net accounting value at 1 January 2020 5,420 4,970 2,742 1,155 14,287 

2020 changes

Investments 3,822 170 496 4,488 

Depreciation for the year (2,672) (211) (2,883)

Reclassifications 1,155 (1,155) - 

Accounting values at 31 December 2020 - 

Cost at 31 December 2020 (**) 12,481 5,140 3,350 496 21,467 

Amortization provision at 31 December 2020 (4,756) - (819) - (5,575)

Bad debt provision at 31 December 2020 - - - 

Net accounting value at 31 December 2020 7,725 5,140 2,531 496 15,892 

(*) Value net of assets fully depreciated in the years 2018-2019 amounting to € 1,282 thousand. 
(**) Including € 1,653 thousand for software that was fully amortised in 2020.
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Investments (note 20)

Investments amounted to € 500 thousand at 31 

December 2020 (€0 at 31 December 2019) and re-

late to the acquisition of shares representing the 

entire share capital of Sogepotel S.r.l., a company 

that was leasing a transmission site located in the 

province of Bergamo (acquired on the same date 

from Rai Way), the commercial use of which it 

managed. As of 30 December 2020, following the 

transfer to Rai Way of the entire company com-

pendium owned by Sogeptel S.r.l., the latter is no 

longer operational. 

Reference should be made to the paragraph Fore-

word (note 1) for further details.

Current and non-current financial 
assets and liabilities (note 21)

The following table sets out details of “Current finan-

cial assets” and “Non-current financial assets”:

(in thousand of Euro)
At 31 December

2020
At 31 December

2019

Receivables from Parent Company 450 252 

Other financial receivables 215 8 

Total current financial assets 665 260 

Accrued income and prepayments 352 2 

Total non-current financial assets 352 2 

Current financial assets amounted to € 665 thou-

sand and increased by € 405 thousand compared to 

the previous year (€ 260 thousand as at 31 Decem-

ber 2019) mainly due to increases of € 198 thousand 

in the item “Receivable from Parent Company” and 

€ 207 thousand in the item “Other financial receiva-

bles” as a result of higher financial deferrals. 

Non-current financial assets show an increase of 

€ 350 thousand compared to 31 December 2019 (€ 2 

thousand) due to higher financial deferrals. 

The following table sets out details of “Current finan-

cial liabilities” and “Non-current financial liabilities” 

at 31 December 2020 and 2019:
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With regard to “Bank borrowings”, it should be not-

ed that on 29 October 2020 the Company signed a 

loan agreement with a pool of financial institutions 

comprising Mediobanca - Banca di Credito Finan-

ziario S.p.A., Banca Nazionale del Lavoro S.p.A., Uni-

credit S.p.A. and Cassa depositi e prestiti S.p.A. for 

a total of € 170,000 thousand, Unicredit S.p.A. and 

Cassa depositi e prestiti S.p.A. and divided into a 

Term Credit Line usable in several instalments and 

a Revolving Credit Line usable in cash, both medi-

um-term and for a maximum amount of € 120,000 

thousand and € 50,000 thousand respectively. The 

principal of the Term Credit Facility will be repaid in 

a lump sum on the final maturity date of 27 October 

2023. Drawings under the Revolving Credit Facility 

will be repaid on the due date of the relevant interest 

period.

“Payable to banks” also includes the balance outstand-

ing at 31 December 2020 of the ordinary loan granted 

by Mediocredito Centrale in connection with the in-

vestments financed by Italian Law no. 488/92 (31st call 

for tender) which is repayable in six-monthly instal-

ments and bears interest at an annual floating rate 

determined as the sum of the six-month Euribor rate 

plus an annual spread of 0.70%. 

During the 2020 financial year there were no out-

standing derivative instruments transactions.

“Payable to other lenders” consists mainly of the bal-

ance outstanding at 31 December 2019 of the subsi-

dized loan granted by Cassa depositi e prestiti S.p.A. 

which is repayable in six-monthly instalments and 

bears interest at a subsidized rate of 0.50% notes to 

the Financial Statements.

The Company’s Net Financial Position, calculated in 

compliance with the requirements of paragraph 127 

of the recommendations contained in ESMA Docu-

ment No. 81 of 2011, implementing Regulation (EC) 

No. 809/2004, is presented below.

(in thousand of Euro)

  At 31 December 2019

Within 12 
months

 Between 1 
and 5 years

 Over 5 years   Total  

Payables to banks 98 144 - 242

Payables to other lenders 78 117 - 195 

Other financial payables 7 - - 7 

Payables to Parent Company - - - - 

Total 183 261 - 444 

(in thousand of Euro)

  At 31 December 2020

Within 12 
months

 Between 1 
and 5 years

 Over 5 years   Total  

Payables to banks 190 15,049 - 15,239

Payables to other lenders 78 39 - 117 

Other financial payables 59 - - 59 

Total 327 15,088 - 15,415 
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Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities (note 22)

The following table sets out changes in deferred tax 

assets and liabilities; for further details on the na-

ture of deferred taxes see paragraph “Income taxes” 

(note 16):

(in thousand of Euro)
At 31 December

2020
At 31 December

2019

A.	 Cash 9 8 

B.	 Bank and post office checks and deposits 4,043 30,160 

C.	 Securities held for trading - - 

D.	 Cash and cash equivalents (A) + (B) + (C) 4,052 30,168 

E.	 Current financial receivables 665 260 

F.	 Current payables to banks (190) (98)

G.	 Current portion of non-current debt - - 

H.	 Other current financial payables (137) (84)

I.	 Current lease liabilities (11,452) (13,270)

J.	 Current financial debt (F) + (G) + (H) + (I) (11,779) (13,452)

K.	 Net current financial debt (J) - (E) - (D) (7,062) 16,976 

L.	 Non-current payables to banks (15,049) (144)

M.	 Non-current lease liabilities (23,926) (26,263)

N.	 Other non-current payables (39) (117)

O.	 Non-current financial debt (L) + (M) + (N) (39,014) (26,524)

P.	 ESMA net financial debt/Net Financial Position (46,076) (9,548)

	 Excluded effects of IFRS 16-Lease liabilities:

Q.	 ESMA net financial debt/Net Financial Position IFRS 16 (P) - (I) - (M) (10,698) 29,985 

(in thousand of Euro)
At 31 December

2020
At 31 December

2019

 Balance at start of the financial year 2,689 3,321 

 Effect on income statement 135 (713)

 Effect on comprehensive income statement 22 81 

IFRS 15 effect

 Balance at the end of the financial year 2,846 2,689 

Of which:

- deferred tax receivables 2,979 2,859 

 - deferred tax liabilities (133) (170)
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The balance of this item reports the amount of assets 

for deferred taxes net of relative liabilities.

Changes in deferred tax assets may be analysed as 

follows:

(in thousand of Euro) Other items

Balance at 31 December 2019 (170)

Effect on income statement 37

Balance at 31 December 2020 (133)

(in thousand of Euro)
 Provision 

for risks and 
charges 

 Employee 
benefits 

 Other items Total

Balance at 31 December 2019 2,060 501 298 2,859 

Effect on income statement 199 (23) (78) 98 

Effect on comprehensive income statement  22 22 

Balance at 31 December 2020 2,259 500 220 2,979 

Changes in deferred tax liabilities may be analysed 

as follows:

Other non-current assets 
(note 23)

The item “Other non-current assets” amounted to 

€ 1,208 thousand at 31 December 2020 (€ 1,268 thou-

sand at 31 December 2019) with a decrease of € 60 

thousand compared to the previous year mainly due 

to the use of the second instalment of the substitute 

tax resulting from the tax redemption of the merger 

deficit generated by the merger by incorporation of 

the company Sud Engineering which took place with 

effect from 22 June 2017. It should be noted that the 

Company has opted for the ordinary redemption re-

gime, pursuant to Article 176, paragraph 2-ter, of the 

T.U.I.R. (Income Tax Consolidation Act) and that the 

accounting model adopted is that relating to the rec-

ognition of the substitute tax as an advance on cur-

rent taxes amounting to € 852 thousand. 

“Other non-current assets” also includes guarantee 

deposits arising from agreements for leased assets 

and equipment hosting of € 355 thousand at 31 De-

cember 2020 (€ 353 thousand at 31 December 2019).
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Inventory (note 24)

This item may be analysed as follows:

Inventory amounted to € 869 thousand, with no sig-

nificant changes compared to the previous year. “Raw 

materials and consumables” relate to supplies and 

spare parts for the maintenance and use of technical 

business assets.

(in thousand of Euro)
At 31 December

2020
At 31 December

2019

Work in progress 226 226 

Raw materials and consumables 643 659 

Total Inventory 869 885 

(in thousand of Euro)
At 31 December

2020
At 31 December

2019

Receivables from Rai 55,618 68,984 

Receivables from customers and other Group companies 9,530 8,369 

Provision for bad and doubtful debts (2,595) (2,558)

Total Trade receivables 62,553 74,795 

Trade receivables (note 25)

The item breaks down as follows:

“Receivables from Rai” consist of the balances due to the 

Company from Rai under the Service Contract. The item 

shows an increase of € 13,366 thousand compared to the 

previous financial year. Further details may be found in 

the notes on “Revenues” and “Related party transactions”.

“Receivables from customers” arise mainly from ser-

vice revenues relating to (i) tower rental, (ii) broad-

casting, (iii) transmission and (iv) network services 

which the Company renders to third party customers 

other than Rai; the item shows an increase of € 1,161 

thousand compared to 31 December 2019.

The following table sets out changes in the provision 

for bad and doubtful debts:

(in thousand of Euro) Provision for current bad and doubtful debts

Balance at 31 December 2019 (2,558)

Provisions (37)

Balance at 31 December 2020 (2,595)
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Other current receivables 
and assets (note 26)

The item breaks down as follows:

“Receivables from the Parent Company for the tax 

consolidation” refer to the receivable arising from 

the application made for a refund of IRES corporate 

income tax regarding the deductibility of the IRAP 

regional production tax charged on personnel ex-

penses. 

As reported in the paragraph “Related Party Trans-

actions”, the Company makes use of the procedure 

for offsetting Group VAT provided for in the Min-

isterial Decree of 13 December 1979, containing the 

rules for implementing the provisions of Article 73, 

last paragraph, of Presidential Decree no. No. 633 

of 26 October 1972, with the following transactions 

with the Parent Company showing a balance of € 94 

thousand under the item “Receivables from Parent 

Company for Group VAT”. The item in question had 

a balance in 2019 of € 21 thousand.

(in thousand of Euro)
At 31 December

2020
At 31 December

2019

Receivable from the Parent Company for the tax consolidation 2,456 2,456 

Receivables from the Parent Company for the Group's VAT 94 21 

Other tax receivables 376 618 

Accrued income and prepayments 609 548 

Receivables from others 710 1,393 

Total Other current receivables and assets 4,245 5,036 

“Other tax receivables” amounted to € 376 thousand 

(€ 618 thousand at 31 December 2019) and include re-

ceivable relating to VAT reimbursements not included 

in the above-mentioned procedure for € 342 thousand, 

receivables from tax authorities for Research and Devel-

opment costs incurred in 2020 following new projects 

pursuant to Italian Law no. 190/14 for € 34 thousand. At 

31 December 2019 the total amount of receivables for 

Research and Development costs was € 273 thousand.

“Accrued income and prepayments” mainly regards 

the portion of the rental costs for land, industrial 

buildings and roads, systems hosting and various oth-

er expenses which were recorded during the year but 

relate to future periods. 

“Receivables from others” principally relate to amounts 

due from personnel for travel advances and receiva-

bles from social security organizations.

Cash and cash equivalents 
(note 27)

The item in question has a balance of € 4,053 thou-

sand (€ 30,168 thousand at 31 December 2019), with 

a decrease compared to the previous year of € 26,115 

thousand deriving from the cash flow generated by 

the operating activity more than offset by the pay-

ment of dividends, The purchase of own shares and 

new investments as outlined in the Financial state-

ments, to which reference is made for more details.
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Current income tax assets 
(note 28)

The item breaks down as follows:

Current income tax assets amounted to € 62 thousand 

at 31 December 2020, in line with the previous finan-

cial year, and refer to the recognition of the substitute 

tax, for the current part, deriving from tax sheltering 

of the merger deficit as described in the previous par-

agraph for the item “Other non current assets”. 

(in thousand of Euro)
At 31 December

2020
At 31 December

2019

Substitute tax advance Goodwill 62 62 

Total assets for current income taxes 62 62 

Shareholders’ equity (note 29)

Share capital

At 31 December 2020, Rai Way had a share capital of 

€  70,176 thousand consisting of 272,000,000 ordi-

nary shares without nominal value.

Other reserves

“Other reserves” may be analysed as follows:

(in thousand of Euro)
At 31 December

2020
At 31 December

2019
Note

Taxed extraordinary reserves 11,291 11,291 1,2,3 

Reserves for advance depreciation/amortisation 9,360 9,360   1,2,3 

Reserve for realignment of statutory/fiscal values 

for corporate assets 
8,938 8,938 1,2,3,4 

Reserve for first adoption of IFRS 7,490 7,490 2 

Reserve for purchase of own shares (19,974) - 5 

Total Other reserves  17,105  37,079 

Legend:
1 for capital increase;
2 for losses cover;
3 for distribution to shareholders;
4 in case of utilisation different from covering losses, the amount must be subject to IRES and IRAP;
5 this negative reserve adjusts previously indicated available reserves.



Annual Financial Report 2020	 81

Earnings per share (note 30)

Basic and diluted earnings per share have been calcu-

lated as follows:

It should be noted that the number of ordinary shares 

in circulation decreased compared to the previous 

year following the purchase of treasury shares dur-

ing the year (for further details on the operation, see 

the paragraph “Treasury shares” in the Report on Op-

erations).

Basic and diluted earnings per share have the same 

value as there were no dilutive items at the balance 

sheet date.

Proposal for allocation of profit 

With regard to the profit for the year, equal to 

€ 64,008,052.96, it is expected that it will be allocated 

according to the proposed resolution to the Share-

holders’ Meeting, set out below:

“Having examined the explanatory report of the Board 

of Directors, the Shareholders’ Meeting of Rai Way 

S.p.A.

resolves

to allocate the net profit for fiscal year 2020 in the 

amount of € 64,008,052.96, to the distribution to the 

Shareholders, by way of a dividend for a total amount of 

€ 64,007,352.59 and as “Retained earnings” for the re-

maining € 700.37, and taking into account the 3,625,356 

treasury shares in the portfolio whose right to profit is 

proportionally allocated to the other shares pursuant 

to Art. 2357-ter of the Italian Civil Code, - a dividend 

of € 0.2385 gross to each of the outstanding ordinary 

shares, to be paid from 26 May 2021, with entitlement 

to payment, pursuant to article 83-terdecies of Legisla-

tive Decree. no. 58 of February 24, 1998 and Art. 2.6.6, 

paragraph 2, of the Markets Regulations organized and 

managed by Borsa Italiana S.p.A. (the Italian Stock Ex-

change) on 25 May 2021 (the so-called “record date”) 

and subject to dividend no. 7 at 24 May 2021”.

The above proposed resolution as well as the one provid-

ed for prior approval of the budget are attached hereto.

(in thousand of Euro, unless otherwise indicated)
At 31 December

2020
At 31 December

2019

Net profit 64,008 63,361 

Number of ordinary shares outstanding 268,374,644 272,000,000 

Earnings per share  0.24  0.23 
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Current and non-current 
lease liabilities (note 31)

Lease liabilities, inclusive of the current part, amount-

ed to € 35,378 thousand, as highlighted in the follow-

ing table:

(in thousand of Euro)

At 31 December 2020 At 31 December 2019

Non-current 
portion

Current 
portion

Total
Non-current 

portion
Current 
portion

Total

Lease liabilities 23,926 11,452 35,378 26,263 13,270 39,533 

The value of current lease liabilities is uniquely rep-

resented by the current part of the non-current lease 

liabilities, as the leases of short-term assets are rec-

ognized through the income statement under the 

item costs for services and other costs.

The total value of financial cash outflows for leases 

amounted to € 11,212 thousand, in addition to inter-

ests for € 752 thousand.

Interest expenses accrued on lease liabilities are 

recorded in the paragraph “Financial income and 

charges” (note 15) to which reference is made. 

The maturity of lease liabilities (current and non cur-

rent) are indicated below:

Employee benefits (note 32)

This item may be analysed as follows:

(in thousand of Euro)

At 31 December 2020

Within 12 
months

Between 1 
and 5 years

Over 5 years Total

Current and non-current lease liabilities 11,452 20,413 3,513 35,378 

(in thousand of Euro)
At 31 December

2020
At 31 December

2019

Balance at start of the financial year 14,434 15,092 

Provisions 2,085 2,211 

Interest on obligation 84 135

Utilisation (1,378) (1,116)

Transferred to other provisions/Other changes (2,121) (2,224)

Actuarial (profit)/loss 94 336 

Balance at the end of the financial year 13,198 14,434
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(in thousand of Euro)
At 31 December

2020
At 31 December

2019

Severance indemnity 12,577 13,803 

Other provisions 621 631 

Total employees benefits 13,198 14,434

(%;Years)
At 31 December

2020

Discount rate [1] 0.17%

Rate of inflation 0.80%

Average annual percentage of personnel leaving 8.80%

Annual probability of request of advance 1.50%

Duration (in years) 7.62

[1] Derived as a weighted average of the Eur Composite AA June 2019 curve rates for 30/06/2019 and Eur Composite AA 2018 curve rates for 
31/12/2018.

The item “Actuarial (profit)/loss” of € 94 thousand re-

lates to the actuarial components for the valuation of 

defined benefit plans ascribed directly to Shareholders’ 

equity and the relative deferred taxes of € 23 thousand 

recorded in the statement of comprehensive income.

Changes in “Employee benefits” may be analysed as 

follows:

Compared to the previous year, the item shows a de-

crease of € 1,236 thousand. 

The actuarial assumptions used in calculating the 

employee severance indemnity were as follows:

In using these assumptions the value was also calcu-

lated of the employee severance pay liability obtained 

from variations of +/- 50 bps in the discount rate used 

for the valuation, giving a result of € 12,425 thousand 

and € 12,709 thousand respectively. 

The item “Other provisions” referred to the Com-

pany supplementary pension fund and the senior 

management assistance fund. With reference to the 

Company’s pension fund (of € 479 thousand), actu-

arial assumption calculations have highlighted the 

value of the liability obtained from variations of +/- 

50 bps in the discount rate used for the valuation 

giving a result of € 456 thousand and € 505 thou-

sand respectively.
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Provisions for risks and charges 
(note 33)

Changes in this item may be analysed as follows:

The item shows an increase of € 380 thousand main-

ly due to the combined effect of provisions, uses and 

releases relating to accrued fees and provisions for 

risks and charges.

“Provisions for risks and charges” consist of accru-

als for costs and losses of a specific nature whose 

existence is certain but whose amount cannot be 

precisely determined, or whose existence is prob-

able and whose amount can be reliably estimated. 

These provisions mainly regard the costs arising 

from civil and administrative judicial proceedings, 

from the provision recognized for the costs of dis-

mantling and restoring transmission sites that are 

owned by other parties, and from previous costs 

relating to the renewal of title deeds for produc-

tion sites. 

Disbursements relating to this item, with the excep-

tion of the amounts accrued provision of which use 

will be made over the course of 2021, cannot be esti-

mated with any certainty as they mainly depend on 

the time-scale for judicial proceedings and strategic 

and/or legislative decisions on the composition and 

nature of the network for broadcasting radio and tel-

evision signals which are currently not predictable.

Please note that the Company is party to a tax dispute 

relating to Tosap (tax for occupation of public land) 

with regard to the correct quantification of the duty 

for which, also taking into account the professional 

opinion formulated by specialist legal companies with 

respect to the outcomes of the same, has not recog-

nized in the special provisions for risks and charges, 

the amounts required as a final negative outcome is 

considered by Senior Management to be unlikely.

(in thousand of Euro)
Balances at 

1 January 
2020

Provisions
Interest 

expense 
Discounting

Utilisation Releases
Other 

changes

Balances at 
31 December 

2020

Civil and administrative disputes  778  52  (49)  781 

Amounts accrued  2,209  2,680 (1,200) (150)  -    3,539 

Other provisions for risks 
and charges  

 2,192  308  (1,270)  1,230 

Provision for decommissioning 
and restoration

 10,727  211  (90) (45) (67)  10,736 

Total provisions for risks 
and charges 

 15,906  3,040  211  (2,609)  (195)  (67)  16,286 
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Trade payables (note 34)

The item breaks down as follows:

Further details about transactions with the Parent 

Company Rai may be found in the section “Related 

party transactions”.

The item “Payables to Parent Company” refers to 

trade payables to Rai and has a balance at 31 De-

(in thousand of Euro)
At 31 December

2020
At 31 December

2019

Payables to suppliers 43,520 49,415

Payables to Parent Company 2,026 4,863

Total Trade payables 45,546 54,278

cember 2020 of € 2,026 thousand with a decrease 

of €2,837 thousand compared to 31 December 

2019. The item “Payables to suppliers” amounted 

to € 43,520 thousand at 31 December 2020, an in-

crease of € 5,895 thousand compared to 31 Decem-

ber 2019. 

Other current payables 
and liabilities (note 35)

The item breaks down as follows:

(in thousand of Euro)
At 31 December

2020
At 31 December

2019

Payables to the Parent Company for the tax consolidation 21,140 20,669 

Other tax payables 1,482 1,505 

Payables to social security institutions 3,753 3,764 

Payables to personnel 7,913 6,253 

Other payables 989 981 

Other payables and accrued liabilities 711 933 

Total Other current payables and liabilities 35,988 34,105 

The item “Payables to the Parent Company for the 

tax consolidation” amount to € 21,140 thousand 

(€ 20,669 thousand at 31 December 2019) and consist 

of the IRES corporate income tax charge for the cur-

rent year.

“Payables to personnel” amounted to € 7,913 thou-

sand, a decrease of € 1,660 thousand compared to the 

previous financial year, mainly due to lower payables 

for redundancy incentives. For further information 

on relations with the parent company Rai regard-

ing IRES and VAT consolidation, reference should be 

made to the paragraph entitled “Transactions with 

Related Parties”, while tax payables that do not fall 

under the aforementioned procedures are shown in 

the following table (Direct taxes, IRAP).
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Current income tax liabilities 
(note 36)

The item breaks down as follows:

Current income tax liabilities amounted to € 23 thou-

sand at 31 December 2020, down by € 411 thousand 

compared to 31 December 2019 due to a lower liability 

to the tax authorities for IRAP. In 2019, the third and 

last instalment of the substitute tax deriving from 

the tax enfranchisement of the merger deficit of the 

company Sud Engineering was paid as specified in the 

paragraph “Other non-current assets”.

(in thousand of Euro)
At 31 December

2020
At 31 December

2019

Direct IRAP taxes 23 123 

Tax liability on Goodwill -   311 

Total Current income taxes liabilities  23  434 

Commitments and guarantees 
(note 37)

Commitments referring only to technical invest-

ments amount to € 20.0 million at 31 December 2020 

(€ 19.2 million at 31 December 2019).

Guarantees including assets with third parties at 

31 December 2020 amounted to € 83,096 thousand 

(€ 63,750 thousand at 31 December 2019) and mainly 

regard personal guarantees received for the obliga-

tions of other parties and guarantees of third parties 

pledged for the Company’s obligations for liabilities 

and payables.

Other information (note 38)

Contingent liabilities

The amounts recognized in the financial statements 

as provisions for risks and charges represent the 

Company’s best estimate of the outcome of the pend-

ing disputes and have been calculated by taking into 

account the opinions of the external legal counsels 

assisting the Company. 

The Company is party to certain legal disputes pend-

ing before Regional Administrative Courts relating 

to the use of radio and television signal transmission 

frequencies. All disputes are constantly monitored by 

the Company’s legal office, which to this purpose en-

gages the support of leading law firms specializing in 

administrative disputes. Again, in relation to adminis-

trative disputes, the Company is involved in a dispute 

relating to a selection procedure appeal pursuant to 

Articles 4 and 15 of Italian Legislative Decree 50/2016.  

Rai Way is also a party to a number of lawsuits of a 

civil and tax nature relating to the correct quantifica-

tion of the fee due for the occupation of public space 

of installations owned by the Company. 
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With regard to the aforementioned lawsuits, although 

it is arguing its case in the applicable courts, assisted 

in this by the support of specialized law firms, also 

taking into account the professional opinions formu-

lated by these firms concerning the expected out-

come of the pending disputes, the Company has not 

recognized in the provisions for risks and charges in 

its financial statements the amounts claimed that 

the Company considers it probable that it will be re-

quired to pay should it lose the cases.

The Company is also party to a very limited num-

ber of lawsuits brought by employees and former 

employees in relation to alleged faulty application 

of the current regulations governing employee 

agreements. The amounts recognized in the finan-

cial statements to provide against the risk of losing 

the litigation have been calculated by the Company 

by estimating, on the basis of the professional as-

sessment of the external lawyers representing the 

Company in court, the probable cost to be borne by 

Rai Way, taking into consideration the present stage 

of the litigation.

In order to provide supplementary information on 

the matters discussed above, it should forthwith be 

stated that in carrying out its ordinary operations 

the Company avails itself of the hosting services of 

third parties to position its installations on the land, 

buildings or structures of such parties. Taking into 

account that such hospitality is ordinarily formalized 

through contracts or similar legal instruments (but 

not limited to: transfers of surface rights, conces-

sions of public spaces, etc.), the Company may have 

to incur costs for the removal of network infrastruc-

tures in the event that the contractual relationships 

with the third party hosts are not renewed or expire. 

A number of specific disputes are currently in pro-

gress on this matter, which could lead to the deter-

mination of these costs, at present not quantifiable, 

in the near future. The Company accordingly believes 

that the possibility exists that it may in the future 

have to incur costs to satisfy the claims it has re-

ceived, and in this respect has created a provision for 

site decommissioning and restoration in the financial 

statements for this purpose.

If the circumstances discussed above should change 

in the future, with the likelihood of the Company hav-

ing to incur costs that exceed the amount recognized 

in the financial statements becoming probable, all 

necessary measures will be taken to protect the Com-

pany’s interests and adequately portray the changed 

situation in the financial statements.

(in thousand of Euro)
12 months

2020 2019

Remuneration to Directors  631  666 

Remuneration to Statutory Auditors  94  95 

Total Directors and Statutory Auditors  725  761 

Remuneration for Directors and 
Statutory Auditors (note 39)

The compensation payable to Directors and Statutory 

Auditors, including travel expenses, is as follows:
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Related party transactions 
(note 41)5

Details of the transactions the Company carried out 

with related parties in the years ended 31 December 

2020 and 2019 are provided in the following; related 

parties are identified on the basis of IAS 24 Related 

Party Disclosures. The Company has relationships 

primarily of a commercial and financial nature with 

the following related parties:

	� Rai (hereinafter the “Parent Company”);

	� key management (“Senior Management”); 

	� other subsidiaries of Rai and/or companies in 

which the Parent Company has an interest (“Oth-

er related parties”).

Related party transactions are conducted under nor-

mal market conditions.

5  In compliance with the provisions of IAS 24, paragraph 25, Rai 
Way is exempted from the disclosures specified in paragraph 18 
(according to which the Company must indicate the nature of 
the related party transaction, besides providing the information 
on these transactions and the outstanding balances, including 
commitments, needed by the users of the financial statements to 
understand the potential effects of these transactions on the sep-
arate Financial Statements) in the case of relations with another 
entity that is a related party because the same governing entity 
has the control, the joint control or a significant influence both 
on the entity that prepares the financial statements and on the 
other entity.
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The following table sets out details of the Company’s 

statement of financial position items with regard to 

related parties at 31 December 2020 2019: 

(in thousand of Euro)
Parent 

Company
Senior 

Management
Other related 

parties
Total

Rights of use for leases

At 31 December 2020 16,156 10 16,166 

At 31 December 2019 19,957 22 19,979 

Non-current financial assets 

At 31 December 2020 - - - 

At 31 December 2019 - 

Current financial assets 

At 31 December 2020 450 14 464 

At 31 December 2019 252 252 

Current trade receivables 

At 31 December 2020 55,618 315 55,933 

At 31 December 2019 68,984 313 69,297 

Other current receivables and assets 

At 31 December 2020 2,550 - 2,550 

At 31 December 2019 2,477 - 2,477 

Non-current lease liabilities 

At 31 December 2020 12,571 - 12,571 

At 31 December 2019 16,343 12 16,355 

Current financial liabilities 

At 31 December 2020 - - - 

At 31 December 2019 - - 

Current lease liabilities 

At 31 December 2020 6,632 12 6,644 

At 31 December 2019 7,677 12 7,689 

Trade payables 

At 31 December 2020 2,026 - 2,026 

At 31 December 2019 4,863 - 4,863 

Other debt and current liabilities 

At 31 December 2020 21,140 507 1,394 23,041 

At 31 December 2019 20,919 646 1,391 22,956 

Employee benefits

At 31 December 2020 - 129 122 251 

At 31 December 2019 - 127 112 239 
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The following table sets out details of the Company’s 

transactions with related parties in the years ended 

31 December 2020 and 2019:

(in thousand of Euro)
Parent 

Company
Senior 

Management
Other

related parties
Total

Revenues (*) 

At 31 December 2020 211,757 1,290 213,047 

At 31 December 2019 209,951 1,271 211,222 

Other revenues and income 

At 31 December 2020 9 - 9 

At 31 December 2019 4 4 

Purchase of consumables  

At 31 December 2020 - - - 

At 31 December 2019 5 5 

Cost of services  

At 31 December 2020 6,771 - 6,771 

At 31 December 2019 7,184 7,184 

Personnel costs 

At 31 December 2020 21 2,222 817 3,060 

At 31 December 2019 26 2,237 797 3,060 

Other costs 

At 31 December 2020 85 - 85 

At 31 December 2019 25 - 25 

Right of use depreciation and amortization

At 31 December 2020 3,801 12 3,813 

At 31 December 2019 3,801 12 3,813 

Financial income 

At 31 December 2020 - - - 

At 31 December 2019 - 

Financial expenses 

At 31 December 2020 219 - 219 

At 31 December 2019 262 262 

(*) The amounts include the marginal costs towards the Parent for € 20,853 thousand (€ 22,135 thousand at 31/12/2019) and Other related parties for 
€ 902 thousand (€ 902 thousand at 31/12/2019).
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Parent Company

The Company carries out transactions with the Par-

ent Company that are mostly of a commercial nature.

Please note that in the 2020 financial year the Com-

pany initiated an operation of “major relevance” pur-

suant to the procedure relating to transactions with 

related parties (in compliance with the provisions of 

the Consob regulations “Transactions with related 

parties”, resolution no. 17221 of 12 March 2010 as sub-

sequently amended) with the Parent Company. 

Financial agreements between Rai Way 
and Rai

Financial relationships between the Company and 

Rai were governed by the following agreements 

originally entered into on 16 July 2007 and tacitly re-

newed annually:

	� Centralized treasury agreement,

	� Inter-company current account agreement,

	� Agency agreement,

	� Credit facility agreement.

Under the centralized treasury agreement the Com-

pany’s financial management was assigned to the 

Parent Company by a system of cash pooling. The 

Company had stipulated an agreement with Banca 

Intesa Sanpaolo under which at the end of each work-

ing day (at close of business) the bank transferred 

the outstanding balance on the Company’s current 

account (the “Source Account”) to the current bank 

account held by Rai; as a consequence of the agree-

ment there was always a nil balance on the Source 

Account at the end of the day. The agreement did not 

provide for any charges to be borne by the Company 

but the debit or credit balances on the intercompany 

current account were remunerated by virtue of the 

agreement discussed below.

The intercompany current account provided for the 

automatic transfer of the positive and negative bal-

ances arising from the bank cash pooling and from 

the economic and financial transactions conducted 

between the Company and Rai to an intercompany 

current account set up for the purpose. The Parent 

Company applied interest on these balances at mon-

ey market rates (Euribor) plus/minus a spread that 

was updated on a quarterly basis. 

The agency agreement allowed Rai to settle and col-

lect the payables and receivables due to or from the 

other companies of the Rai Group.

The credit facility agreement provided for the open-

ing of a credit facility in the Company’s favour trans-

acted through the inter-company current account 

up to an amount of € 100 million. The facility varied, 

depending on the Company’s cash requirements, 

within the limits of the financial plans approved by 

the Parent Company. Any balances arising from this 

arrangement, which had an original term of one year 

and was tacitly renewable, had to be repaid immedi-

ately if the centralized treasury agreement was ter-

minated or if there were any changes to the owner-

ship structures of the Company.

From the date of the listing, the Company has en-

tered into a financing contract with a pool of banks 

and starting from the disbursement of this loan only 

the intercompany current account agreement and 

the agency agreement were novated with respect to 

the Company’s operational and financial independ-

ence vis-à-vis the Parent Company. The centralized 

treasury agreement and the credit facility agreement 

were terminated as of 18 November 2014, while a new 

intercompany current account agreement was set up 

to deal with the residual balances.

The Company has recognized the following balances 

in its financial statements with respect to the inter-

company current account:

	� financial expenses with a zero balance for both 

2020 and 2019;

	� cost of services of € 450 thousand at 31 December 

2020 (€ 252 thousand at 31 December 2019). 

Service Contract 

The Service Contract executed on 5 June 2000 and 

valid until 31 December 2014 in the version subse-

quently supplemented and amended mainly regards 

the provision of services for the installation, main-

tenance and operation of telecommunications net-

works and services for the transmission, distribution 
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and broadcasting of radio and television signals and 

programs for which a monthly consideration is paid 

which depends on the type of service provided (i.e. 

services that Rai Way renders using its own resourc-

es or those of third parties, investments requested by 

Rai, digital terrestrial television broadcasting servic-

es and other services established by the parties).

The above contract was renegotiated on 31 July 2014, 

effective 1 July 2014. As a result of this agreement, the 

Company recognized revenues and receivables as il-

lustrated in the “Revenues” and “Trade receivables” 

sections of these notes.

On 10 December 2019, the Company signed an 

agreement with the Parent Company regarding the 

amendment of some terms and conditions of the 

Service Contract, with respect to which the parties 

waived their right to cancel the second seven-year 

period already provided for, effectively renewing it 

until 30 June 2028, without prejudice to the possible 

already planned continuation for a further seven-year 

period, except in the case of termination. As this is an 

transaction of “major relevance” pursuant to the pro-

cedures relating to transactions with related parties, 

the finalization of this agreement was published in a 

relative information document made available to the 

public with the procedures required by the current 

regulations (in particular able to be consulted on the 

Company’s website).

Service agreement with Rai and the 
rental agreement with related services

“The Rai service agreement” entered into in 2006 

mainly relates to the provision of the following ser-

vices: 

	� personnel administration;

	� general services;

	� insurance policies;

	� IT systems;

	� administration;

	� finance;

	� research and technological innovation centre; 

	� advice and legal counsel. 

The agreement expired on 31 December 2010 and re-

mained in force until 30 June 2014; it was then re-

newed on 31 July 2014 with effect as of 1 July 2014.

The “Agreement for leases and for the performance 

of connected services”, relating to the lease of prop-

erty and/or portions of property, including the flat 

roofs on which the systems for the transmission and/

or broadcasting of radio and television signals stand, 

owned by Rai Way or third parties hosted by it, was 

originally executed on 19 April 2001 and had an origi-

nal term of six years tacitly renewable for further six-

year periods (the current term expires in 2025).

The fees for the above services, including the prop-

erty rent and ancillary services, are identified on the 

basis of the valuation criteria for each service stated 

in the technical specifications. As the result of these 

agreements the Company recognized:

	� cost of services of € 6,771 thousand and € 7,184 

thousand in 2020 and 2019 respectively;

	� costs for amortization of rights of use for leases, 

following the new IFRS 16 accounting standard 

introduced in 2019, amounting to € 3,801 thou-

sand at 31 December 2020 and December 31, 2019;

	� costs for financial charges on leasing liabilities of 

€ 219 thousand and € 262 thousand at 31 Decem-

ber 2020 and 2019 respectively;

	� trade payables of € 2,026 thousand and € 4,863 

thousand at 31 December 2020 and 2019 respec-

tively.

	� current and non-current leasing liabilities of 

€  19,203 thousand and € 24,020 thousand at 31 

December 2020 and 2019 respectively.

Tax consolidation 

On the basis of the Consolidated Income Tax Act 

(article 117 and following of Presidential Decree no. 

917/86) and in accordance with the provisions con-

tained in article 11, paragraph 4 of the Ministerial 

Decree of 9 June 2004 as subsequently amended by 

Ministerial Decree of 1 March 2018 which reviews the 

“Provisions for the application of the domestic tax 

consolidation as per articles 117 to 128 of the Consoli-

dated Income Tax Act”, Rai Way applies the group tax 

regime governed by the “Agreement for the exercise 

of the option with Rai for the domestic tax consolida-

tion”. This agreement, which governs all the mutual 

obligations and responsibilities between the Parent 
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Company and the Company, is effective for fiscal 

years 2019, 2020 and 2021.

As a consequence of the tax consolidation the Com-

pany recognized “Other current payables and liabili-

ties” of € 21,140 thousand and € 20,669 thousand at 

31 December 2020 and 2019 respectively and “Other 

current receivables and assets” of € 2,456 thousand 

at 31 December 2020 and at 31 December 2019.

The Group’s VAT regime

The Company avails itself of the Group VAT offset-

ting procedure permitted by Ministerial Decree of 13 

December 1979 on the regulations for implementing 

the provisions of article 73, last paragraph, of Decree 

of the President of the Republic no. 633 of 26 Octo-

ber 1972, recording in relation to the Parent Com-

pany under “Other current receivables and assets” a 

balance at 31 December 2020 of € 94 thousand (€ 21 

thousand at 31 December 2019). 

Senior Management

“Key management personnel” means key executives 

who have the power and direct and indirect respon-

sibility for planning, managing and controlling the 

Company’s activities, and among others includes the 

members of the Company’s Board of Directors. The 

Company has recognized in its financial statements:

	� cost of services had a € 0 thousand balance at 

31 December 2020 as also at 31 December 2019;

	� personnel costs of € 2,222 thousand and € 2,237 

thousand in at 31 December 2020 and 2019 re-

spectively.

Other related parties

The Company has dealings of a commercial nature 

with other related parties, in particular with: 

	� Rai Com S.p.A., to which the Company provides 

transmission services;

	� San Marino RTV which provides hosting services 

and receives transmission services from Rai Way;

	� Supplementary pension funds for employees and 

executives.

Information relating 
to the provisions of Italian Law 
no. 124/2017 - Transparency 
on the system for the issue 
of public funds (note 42)

With reference to the provisions of art. 1, paragraphs 

125-129 of Law no. 124/2017 “Annual law for the mar-

ket and competition”, subsequently supplemented 

by law decree “Safety” (no. 113/2018) and law decree 

“Simplification” (no. 135/2018), there are no signifi-

cant events referable to these specific cases.

Rome, 18 March 2021

On behalf of the Board of Directors

  The Chairman

  Giuseppe Pasciucco 
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	� The undersigned Aldo Mancino as Chief Executive 

Officer and Adalberto Pellegrino as Manager in 

charge of preparing the corporate documents of Rai 

Way S.p.A. certify the following, taking into account 

the provisions of Article 154-bis, paragraphs 3 and 

4 of Legislative Decree no. 58 of 24 February 1998:

	— the adequacy in relation to the characteristics 

of the business and

	— the effective application of the administrative 

and accounting procedures for the preparation 

of the Company’s annual financial statements 

during 2020.

	� The assessment of the adequacy of the adminis-

trative and accounting procedures for the prepa-

ration of the annual financial statements for the 

year ended 31 December 2020 was performed on 

the basis of the process defined by Rai Way S.p.A., 

taking as reference the criteria established in the 

model “Internal Controls – Integrated Frame-

work” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Or-

ganizations of the Treadway Commission. 

Declaration on the annual financial statements 
pursuant to art. 81-ter of Consob Regulation no. 11971 
of 14 May 1999 and subsequent amendments

	� We also certify that:

	— the annual financial statements of Rai Way 

S.p.A. for the year ended 31 December 2020:

i.	 have been prepared in accordance with the 

applicable international accounting stand-

ards adopted by the European Union pursu-

ant to Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the 

European Parliament and of the Council of 

19 July 2002;

ii.	 agree with the balances on the books of ac-

count and the accounting entries;

iii.	 give a true and fair view of the financial po-

sition, results of operations and cash flows 

of the issuer;

	— the report on operations includes a reliable 

analysis of the performance and results for the 

period as well as the issuer’ s position, together 

with a description of the main risks and uncer-

tainties to which it is exposed. 

Rome, 18 March 2021

Adalberto Pellegrino
Manager responsible for preparing the financial 

reports and corporate accounting documents

Aldo Mancino
Chief Executive Officier
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Annual financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2020

“The Shareholders’ Meeting of Rai Way S.p.A.

	� having examined the Report on Operations of the 

Board of Directors;

	� acknowledging the Report of the Board of Statu-

tory Auditors and the Report of the External Audi-

tors PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A.;

	� having examined the draft Annual Financial 

Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 

prepared by the Board of Directors, which close 

with a net profit for the year of € 64,008,052.96;

resolves

to approve the annual financial statements for the 

year ended 31 December 2020.”

Proposals to the Shareholders’ Meeting

Allocation of profit 
for the year 

“Having examined the explanatory report of the 

Board of Directors, the Shareholders’ Meeting of Rai 

Way S.p.A.

resolves

to allocate the net profit for the 2020 financial year, 

equal to € 64,008,052.96, to the distribution to 

the Shareholders, by way of dividend, of a total of 

€  64,007,352.59 and to “Retained earnings”, for the 

remaining € 700.37 and consequently to allocate - 

taking into account the 3,625,356 treasury shares in 

portfolio whose right to profit is attributed propor-

tionally to the other shares pursuant to art. 2357-ter 

of the Italian Civil Code - a dividend of € 0.2385 gross 

to each of the outstanding ordinary shares, to be paid 

from 26 May 2021, with entitlement to payment, pur-

suant to article 83-terdecies of Legislative Decree. no. 

58 of February 24, 1998 and Art. 2.6.6, paragraph 2, of 

the Markets Regulations organized and managed by 

Borsa Italiana S.p.A. (the Italian Stock Exchange) on 

May 25, 2021 (the so-called “record date”) and subject 

to dividend no. 7 at 24 May 2021”.





Report of the 
Independent Auditors
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Independent auditor’s report 
in accordance with article 14 of Legislative Decree No. 39 of 27 January 2010 and article 10 of 
Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 

 
To the shareholders of 
di Rai Way SpA 
 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Rai Way SpA (the Company), which comprise the income 
statement, statement of comprehensive income, the statement of financial position as of 31 December 
2020, statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, cash flow statement for the year then ended, and 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Rai Way 
SpA as of 31 December 2020, and of the result of its operations and cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, as 
well as with the regulations issued to implement article 9 of Legislative Decree No. 38/2005. 
 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia).  
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of this report. We are independent of Rai Way SpA 
pursuant to the regulations and standards on ethics and independence applicable to audits of financial 
statements under Italian law. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 
 
Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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 2 of 6 

Key Audit Matters Auditing procedures performed in 
response to key audit matters 

 
Evaluation of the estimated economic and 
technical useful life and recoverability of 
property, plant and equipment 
 
"Accounting policies" paragraphs “Property, plant 
and equipment” and “Impairment of property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets” and 
Note 17 “Property, plant and equipment” to the 
financial statements as of 31 December 2020 
 
The item “Property, plant and equipment” of the 
financial statements of Rai Way SpA as of 31 
December 2020 amounted to Euro 200.9 million 
representing 61.5 per cent of total assets as of 31 
December 2020. 
 
Property, plant and equipment, starting from the 
moment they are ready to be used for the purpose 
they were constructed, are systematically 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their 
economic and technical useful life, namely within 
the period of time the Company expects these 
assets will be used. 
 
The estimated economic and technical useful life of 
property, plant and equipment is revised and, if 
necessary, updated by the Company’s management 
at least at each balance sheet date, taking into 
account that the Company’s core business is 
subject to changes, even significant, linked to the 
technology, regulatory and market environment. 
Should management analyses highlight any 
indication of impairment of these assets, their 
value is compared with the assets’ recoverable 
amount, which is the higher of their fair value net 
of selling cost and value in use, that is the present 
value of the future cash flows expected to be 
derived from such asset. 
 
The evaluation of the estimated economic and 
technical useful life and the recoverability of the 

 
As part of our auditing, we performed the 
following main procedures aimed at verifying 
the evaluations made by the Company with 
reference to property, plant and equipment: 
 
i) discussion with the management of 

Rai Way SpA about their conclusions 
reached on the non-existence of any 
impairment indicators for property, 
plant and equipment; 

ii) verification, on a sample basis, of the 
assets’ economic and technical useful 
life estimated by the Company 
compared with that used by the other 
main operators in the sector, and 
review, on a sample basis, of the 
accurate and consistent determination 
of the depreciation charges entered in 
the income statement; 

iii) physical inventory of tangible assets 
on a sample basis selecting certain 
Company sites in order to ascertain 
the existence of any obsolete tangible 
fixed assets; 

iv) verification of the accuracy and 
completeness of the information 
provided in the notes to the financial 
statements. 
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tangible assets of Rai Way SpA represented a key 
audit matter at 31 December 2020 because of the 
significance of the value recognised in the financial 
statements, its incidence with respect to total 
assets and the complexity marking the estimates 
adopted by the Company’s management. 
 

 
Responsibilities of the Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors for the Financial 
Statements 
 
The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, as 
well as with the regulations issued to implement article 9 of Legislative Decree No.38/2005 and, in the 
terms prescribed by law, for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
The directors are responsible for assessing the ability of Rai Way SpA to continue as a going concern 
and, in preparing the financial statements, for the appropriate application of the going concern basis of 
accounting, and for disclosing matters related to going concern. In preparing the financial statements, 
the directors use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate Rai Way 
SpA or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
The Board of Statutory Auditors is responsible for overseeing, in the terms prescribed by law, the 
financial reporting process of Rai Way SpA. 
 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 
 
 As part of our audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia), 
we exercised our professional judgement and maintained professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. Furthermore: 
 
• We identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error; we designed and performed audit procedures responsive to 
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those risks; we obtained audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control; 

• We obtained an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control;  

• We evaluated the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors; 

• We concluded on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern; 

• We evaluated the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicated with those charged with governance, identified at an appropriate level as required by 
ISA Italia, regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified during our 
audit. 
 
We also provided those charged with governance with a statement that we complied with the 
regulations and standards on ethics and independence applicable under Italian law and communicated 
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determined those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We described these matters in our auditor’s report. 
 
 
Additional Disclosures required by Article 10 of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 
 
On 4 September 2014, the shareholders of Rai Way SpA in general meeting engaged us to perform the 
statutory audit of the Company’s financial statements for the years ending 31 December 2014 to 31 
December 2022. 
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We declare that we did not provide any prohibited non-audit services referred to in article 5, paragraph 
1, of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 and that we remained independent of the Company in conducting 
the statutory audit. 
 
We confirm that the opinion on the financial statements expressed in this report is consistent with the 
additional report to the Board of Statutory Auditors, in its capacity as audit committee, prepared 
pursuant to article 11 of the aforementioned Regulation. 
 
 
Report on Compliance with other Laws and Regulations 
 
 
Opinion in accordance with Article 14, paragraph 2, letter e), of Legislative Decree No. 
39/2010 and Article 123-bis, paragraph 4, of Legislative Decree No. 58/1998 
 
The directors of Rai Way SpA are responsible for preparing a report on operations and a report on the 
corporate governance and ownership structure of Rai Way SpA as of 31 December 2020, including 
their consistency with the relevant financial statements and their compliance with the law. 
 
We have performed the procedures required under auditing standard (SA Italia) No. 720B in order to 
express an opinion on the consistency of the report on operations and of the specific information 
included in the report on corporate governance and ownership structure referred to in article 123-bis, 
paragraph 4, of Legislative Decree No. 58/1998, with the financial statements of Rai Way SpA as of 31 
December 2020 and on their compliance with the law, as well as to issue a statement on material 
misstatements, if any. 
 
In our opinion, the report on operations and the specific information included in the report on 
corporate governance and ownership structure mentioned above are consistent with the financial 
statements of Rai Way SpA as of 31 December 2020 and are prepared in compliance with the law. 
 
With reference to the statement referred to in article 14, paragraph 2, letter e), of Legislative Decree 
No. 39/2010, issued on the basis of our knowledge and understanding of the Company and its 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have nothing to report. 
 
 
Statement in accordance with article 4 of Consob’s Regulation implementing 
Legislative Decree No. 254 of 30 December 2016  
 
The directors of Rai Way SpA are responsible for the preparation of the non-financial statement 
pursuant to Legislative Decree No. 254 of 30 December 2016. 
 
We have verified that the directors approved the non-financial statement. 
 



Annual Financial Report 2020	 103

 

 6 of 6 

Pursuant to article 3, paragraph 10, of Legislative Decree No. 254 of 30 December 2016, the non-
financial statement is the subject of a separate statement of compliance issued by ourselves. 
 
 
Rome, 1 April 2021 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers SpA 
 
 
Signed by 
 
 
Pier Luigi Vitelli 
(Partner) 
 
 
This report has been translated into English from the Italian original solely for the convenience of 
international readers. 
 





Report of the 
Board of Statutory Auditors
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS TO THE SHAREHOLDERS’ 

ASSEMBLY (in accordance with Art. 2429, paragraph 2 of the Italian Civil Code, and Art. 153 of 

Legislative Decree no. 58/1998) 

 

Dear Shareholders,  

Rai Way is a leading provider of integrated network infrastructures and services for broadcasters, 

telecommunication operators, private companies and public administrations. 

In 2020, a year marked by the well-known global pandemic crisis, Rai Way required greater industrial and 

commercial efforts. It approved a new Business Plan with strategic objectives up to 2023; for the first time, the 

Plan also includes sustainable development goals, in line with ESG concerns, aimed at implementing 

innovation, with attention to the environment and social issues, and sustainability in terms of both operations 

and governance.    

The Board of Statutory Auditors of Rai Way S.p.A., pursuant to Art. 153 of Legislative Decree no. 58/1998 

(hereinafter also the “TUF”) and to Art. 2429, paragraph 2 of the Italian Civil Code, the Board of Statutory 

Auditors of Rai Way S.p.A. is required to report to the Shareholders’ Assembly gathered in a meeting to 

approve the Financial Statements, in matter of supervisory activities performed during the year and any 

omissions and irregularities, as identified. The Board of Statutory Auditors is also required to make any 

necessary proposals regarding the Financial Statements and their approval, as well as other matters under the 

Board’s purview. During the year 2020, the Board of Statutory Auditors carried out its institutional duties in 

compliance with the Italian Civil Code and the instructions provided by Consob by Communications 

DAC/RM/97001574 of 20 February 1997, and DEM 1025564 of 6 April 2001, later supplemented by 

Communication DEM 3021582 of 4 April 2003,Communication DEM 6031329 of 7 April 2006 and 

Communication DEM/0031948 of 10 March 2017, issued in continuity with DEM/0007780 of 28 January 2016 

and DEM/0003907 of 19 January 2015. 

The supervisory activity provided for by the law was also carried out according to the provisions of the July 

2018 edition of the Corporate Governance Code of Listed Companies, in force in 2020 (January 2020 

“Corporate Governance Code” of Listed Companies applicable to the 2021 financial year), approved by the 

Corporate Governance, to which Rai Way S.p.A. adheres, as well as by the Rules of Conduct provided by the 

National Council of Chartered Accountants and Accounting Experts (“CNDCEC”). With reference to the 
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provisions of Legislative Decree 39 of 27 January 2010 39, and particular regard to Art. 19, the Board of 

Statutory Auditors also acts as the Internal Control and Audit Committee (“CCIRC”). 

The statutory audit of the accounts is performed by the auditing firm PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A. 

(hereinafter also “PwC”) for the 2014 – 2022 financial years, in accordance with the resolution of the 

Shareholders’ General Meeting held on 4 September 2014. 

The Board of Statutory Auditors acquired and verified the information illustrated below by participating in the 

meetings of the Shareholders’ Assembly, of the Board of Directors and of the Board Sub-Committees, as well 

as through a constant flow of information with the Independent Auditors, with the various corporate functions 

(including Finance, Legal, Audit and Enterprise Risk Management), and through an information flow with the 

Supervisory Body pursuant to Legislative Decree no. 231/2001 (hereinafter, the “Supervisory Board” or the 

“SB”). 

 

Appointment and activities of the Board of Statutory Auditors 

The Board of Statutory Auditors was appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting of 23 April 2018 for the 2018- 

2020 financial years, and comprises: Ms. Silvia Muzi (Chair), Ms. Maria Giovanna Basile (Standing Auditor) 

and Mr. Massimo Porfiri (Standing Auditor). Substitute Auditors: Ms. Nicoletta Mazzitelli and Mr. Paolo 

Siniscalco. During the 2020 financial year, the Board of Statutory Auditors successfully verified that the 

independence requirements were met by its members, pursuant to the law and the Corporate Governance Code, 

and that no ineligibility or disqualification were applicable to them, pursuant to Art. 2399 of the Italian Civil 

Code and Art. 148, paragraph 3 of the T.U.F.; this due diligence was also performed in 2021, also with regard 

to the Corporate Governance Code. It also verified that the members complied with the office requirements, 

pursuant to Art. 144-terdecies of the Issuers’ Regulations. The Board of Statutory Auditors has also carried out 

the self-assessment of its members, including verifying the adequacy of its composition and the effectiveness 

of its functioning, supplementing this assessment with the Q.1.1 Rule of Conduct for the Board of Statutory 

Auditors of listed companies, issued in May 2019 by the National Council of Chartered Accountants and 

Accounting Experts. The results of this self-assessment process were also communicated to the Board of 

Directors. 

The Board has also prepared and presented to the Board of Directors (in the meeting of 11 March 2021) the 

document containing its guidelines to the Shareholders regarding the renewal of the Board itself, as required 
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by the CNDCEC Code of Conduct in point Q.1.6.; thereafter, the Company published such guidelines along 

with the Report of the Board of Directors to the Shareholders’ Assembly regarding its renewal and with the 

same procedures as the latter.    

The activities of the Board during the 2020 financial year were carried out through regular periodic meetings 

- held in compliance with government provisions aimed at limiting the spread of the COVID-19 epidemic, the 

results of which were duly reported in the appropriate minutes. 

The work performed in the various areas in which supervisory activity is carried out is illustrated below and in 

the order recommended by the aforementioned Rules of Conduct issued by the CNDCEC for listed companies. 

 

Compliance with the law and Articles of Association 

As regards governance aspects, the Company complied with the rules and regulations applicable to listed 

issuers, as well as with the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code. The Annual Report on Corporate 

Governance and Ownership Structures, drawn up pursuant to Art. 123-bis of the TUF, was approved by the 

Board of Directors on 18 March 2021. The Report illustrates, inter alia, the application of the recommendations 

of the Corporate Governance Code adopted by the Company. The recommendations formulated by the 

Corporate Governance Committee of Borsa Italiana in the letter received in December 2020 were also brought 

to the attention of the Board of Directors, as well as of the internal Board Committees, pertaining to matters 

under their respective purview.  

The Board monitored compliance with the provisions of the law and the Articles of Association, as well as any 

other relevant regulations, through the participation and acquisition of information flows relating to the 

Shareholders’ Assembly, the meetings of the Board of Directors, the meetings of the Remuneration Committee 

and Appointments and the Control and Risks Committee (called, in 2021, the “Control and Risks and 

Sustainability Committee”), also in relation to the functions performed by the latter pursuant to the provisions 

of the Procedure for transactions with related parties adopted by the Company. In the course of its audits, the 

Board of Statutory Auditors also met with the Oversight Board, the head of the Audit Department, the 

Corporate Accounting Documents Officer and the Independent Auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A., 

(hereinafter “PwC”), the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager - also in his capacity as Director in 

charge of the Internal Control and Risk Management System - and the managers responsible for the different 

corporate departments. 
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During 2020, the Board of Statutory Auditors met 10 times and attended 12 meetings of the Board of Directors 

and 1 Shareholders’ Meeting. It also took part in 11 meetings of the Remuneration and Appointments 

Committee and 11 meetings of the Control and Risk Committee, operating as indicated also by virtue of the 

functions assigned to it by the Company Procedure in relation to transactions with related parties. 

Furthermore, the Supervisory Body provided the Board with information regarding the issues referred to in 

Italian Legislative Decree 231/2001 and reported on the activities carried out; the flow of information with the 

Supervisory Body was also constantly guaranteed, both by the diligent presence of the Audit Manager (who is 

also a member of the Supervisory Body) in meetings of the Board of Statutory Auditors, as well as by the fact 

that a member of the Board of Statutory Auditors is also a member of the Supervisory Body. It is acknowledged 

that in the meeting of 11 February 2021, the Board of Directors approved a new edition of the Organisation, 

Management and Control Model, pursuant to Legislative Decree 231/2001, which is updated on the basis of 

new regulatory provisions, and the Code of Ethics; an updated text of the Regulations of the Board of Directors 

was also approved, also having regard to the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code adopted by the 

Company, and in this context, among other things, the Control and Risks Committee was assigned additional 

tasks with respect to the issues relating to sustainability, while providing for the integration of the name of the 

same Committee, as already indicated above, in the “Control, Risk and Sustainability Committee.     

It should be noted that the Company, in relation to cases contemplated by Law no. 190/2012, has adopted 

measures to supplement the Model pursuant to Legislative Decree no. 231/2001 contained in a “Corruption-

Prevention Policy”, which is intended as a continuation of the three-year Corruption-Prevention Plan 

(previously adopted and updated, although not required for listed companies) and provides greater integration 

with other tools adopted by the Company (231 Model and Code of Ethics). 

Based on the supervisory activities carried out by the Board, the Company has complied with the obligations 

regarding regulated information, including the provisions regarding privileged information. Moreover, based 

on the monitoring activities carried out, each body or organisational structure of the Company has complied 

with the information requirements envisaged by applicable regulations. 

On the whole, the internal and external information flows described and the flows resulting from the continuous 

exchange of information and documentation, also emerging from the minutes for the Board of Statutory 

Auditors’ meetings, appear appropriate to offer proof of compliance of organisational structure, internal 

procedures and corporate documents and resolutions of the corporate bodies in accordance with the law, the 

Articles of Association and applicable regulations, as well as the codes of conduct to which the Company has 
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confirmed its adherence. Therefore, there is no indication of any violation regarding compliance with the law, 

the Articles of Association and regulations nor are there observations worthy of note. 

 

Corporate Governance 

The Company has a governance system structured in accordance with the so-called “traditional model” and in 

line with the Corporate Governance Code. The Board of Directors currently in office was appointed by the 

Shareholders’ Meeting of 24 June 2020 and is made up of nine directors, of which six have declared themselves 

independent. The composition of the Board is consistent with the regulatory provisions on gender balance.  

Immediately following its appointment, and after assessing its independence of all its members, in accordance 

with both the law and the Corporate Governance Code, the Board of Directors set up two internal committees: 

the Remuneration and Appointments Committee and the Control and Risk Committee, which also performs 

the functions assigned to it by the Procedure for related party transactions adopted by the Company. Said 

procedure has been published on the Company’s website and is described in the main elements in the Report 

on Corporate Governance for the year 2020.    

Therefore, in 2021, the Board of Directors successfully renewed the verification of the existence of the 

independence requirements of Directors qualified as “independent”, pursuant to the Corporate Governance 

Code, as well as on the basis of legal criteria, and the Board of Statutory Auditors took note thereof, also 

acquiring the relative declarations made by the Directors.  

The Board of Statutory Auditors also had the opportunity to verify that the Board of Directors carried out, with 

reference to the 2020 financial year, the self-assessment of the size, composition and functioning of the Board 

itself and of the Committees established within it, and that an analysis of this process revealed an overall 

positive assessment both for activities and functioning, and size and composition of the Board itself and of the 

Committees (please note that following such a self-assessment process, carried out with reference to the 2019 

financial year, the Board of Directors in office until the Shareholders’ Meeting of 24 June 2020, had formulated 

guidelines for shareholders on the qualitative and quantitative composition of the Board in relation to the 

renewal of the latter with the aforementioned Shareholders’ Meeting).   

Since its listing, the Company has adopted a special Code on Privileged Information for the correct 

management of information flows and the processing of confidential or privileged information, subsequently 

revised and remaining in force also for the 2020 financial year.  
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Since listing, the Company also adopted an internal Code concerning Internal Dealing, subsequently amended 

(in accordance, in particular, with the provisions of EU Regulation no. 596/2014) by resolution of the Board 

of Directors in June 2018; such edition of the Code has been in force in the 2020 financial year.  

With regard to the “Report on Remuneration Policy and Compensation Paid”, prepared pursuant to Art. 123-

ter of Legislative Decree no. 58/98 and the applicable regulatory provisions, the Board acknowledges that it 

was previously reviewed by the Remuneration and Appointments Committee and then approved by the Board 

of Directors on 18 March 2021. The First Section, which concerns the remuneration policy for the 2021 

financial year, will be submitted to a binding vote of the Shareholders’ Assembly, while the Second Section, 

relating to the remuneration recognised with reference to the 2020 financial year will be submitted to a non-

binding vote. 

With regard to the First Section, the Remuneration Report envisages, inter alia, the adoption, subject to 

approval by the Shareholders’ Assembly, of a share-based long-term incentive plan aimed at aligning the 

interests of management and Shareholders with the requirements of implementation of the business plan. The 

Board of Statutory Auditors verified that the conditions of the Plan were described and detailed in the disclosure 

document prepared pursuant to Article 84-bis of the Issuers’ Regulations issued by Consob, as well as pursuant 

to Article 114-bis of Legislative Decree no. 58/98.  The same information document was made available to the 

public in the prescribed manner (including publication on the Company’s website) and within the prescribed 

time. 

 

Compliance with principles of proper administration and adequacy of the organizational structure 

During 2020, the Board supervised the concrete implementation of the corporate governance rules provided 

for by the Corporate Governance Code by virtue of the provisions of Article 149, paragraph 1, letter c-bis of 

the TUF, also performing due diligence in reference to compliance with the provisions of Art. 16 of Consob 

Regulation 20249/2017 (Market Regulation).  

The Board has received all the necessary and functional information for the performance of its control and 

supervisory tasks through: i) participation in the meetings of the Board of Directors, the Control and Risks 

Committee (also in relation to the functions performed by the latter by virtue of Procedure regarding 

transactions with related parties), and the Remuneration and Appointments Committee; ii) meetings with the 



112	 Annual Financial Report 2020

 
7 

top management of the Company and the managers of the corporate departments; iii) meetings with the 

company appointed to carry out the statutory audit and with the Supervisory Body. 

During the year, the Board received periodic information from the Chief Executive Officer, at least every 

quarter, on the general management performance and its outlook. In the course of various board meetings, the 

Company’s Business Plan for the years 2020-2023, the annual budget, as well as the information date with 

respect to the significant transactions carried out by the Company were approved.  

As is evident from the Annual Financial Report, the most important events that affected the Company during 

2020 were: 

• on March 12, 2020, the Board of Directors approved the draft FY 2019 budget; 

• on the same date, the Board of Directors approved the 2020-2023 Business Plan; 

• on April 20, 2020, the Board of Directors resolved to convene the Shareholders’ Meeting for June 24, 

2020, providing for the participation of shareholders only through the Designated Representative, 

pursuant to the provisions of the regulations concerning the COVID-19 epidemiological emergency; 

• in 21 April 2020, Ms. Anna Gatti - Non-Executive and independent Director and Chairperson of the 

Remuneration and Appointments Committee - resigned from her position as Director of the Company, 

effective immediately; 

• on 6 May, the Company’s Board of Directors appointed Ms. Paola Tagliavini, Non-Executive and 

independent Director, as a member of the Remuneration and Appointments Committee, to replace Ms. 

Anna Gatti. Furthermore, in replacement of the latter, the Board of Directors appointed Ms. Joyce 

Bigio, a Non-Executive and independent Director who is a member of the Remuneration and 

Appointments Committee, as Chairperson of the Committee; 

• on 14 May 2020, the Board of Directors of Rai Way S.p.A., reviewed and approved the Interim 

Financial Report as of 31 March 2020; 

• on 24 June 2020, the Shareholders’ Meeting, among other things:  

a) - approved the Financial Statements of the Company as of 31 December 2019 and the distribution 

of a dividend as proposed by the Board of Directors; 

b) approved the First Section (relating to the remuneration policy for 2020) and voted favourably in 

support of the Second Section (relating to compensation for 2019) of the prepared Report on the 

remuneration policy and compensation paid; 
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c) approved the proposal of the Board of Directors regarding the purchase and disposal of treasury 

shares, at the same time revoking the authorisation approved at the meeting of 18 April 2019; 

d) resolved on the renewal of the Board of Directors for the years 2020-2022, i.e. until the approval of 

the 2022 financial statements, appointing Mr. Giuseppe Pasciucco as Chairperson; 

• on June 24, 2020, the newly appointed Board of Directors, which met after the Shareholders’ Meeting, 

appointed, among other things, Mr. Aldo Mancino as Chief Executive Officer and appointed the 

Control and Risks Committee and the Remuneration and Appointments Committee, both always 

composed solely of independent Directors; 

• on 30 July, Rai Way’s Board of Directors approved the launch of a treasury share purchase program 

which provided, inter alia, for a maximum total investment of 20 million Euro; 

• on October 29, 2020, the Company entered into a new loan agreement with a pool of financial 

institutions; 

• on November 27, 2020, the buy-back plan for treasury shares was completed. The Company acquired 

3,625,356 treasury shares at an average price of 5.509531 Euro per share and a total value of 

19,974,010.41 Euro; these shares represent approximately 1.3329% of the share capital. 

The actions resolved and implemented during 2020 comply with the principles of proper administration and 

are not manifestly imprudent, risky or in conflict with the resolutions passed at the Shareholders’ Meeting, or 

such as to compromise the integrity of the corporate assets, nor have there been atypical or unusual transactions, 

carried out with third parties or with related parties or in conflict of interest. 

The Company also has a solid organisational structure. In this regard, the Board of Statutory Auditors has 

received information and supervised, to the extent under its purview, the adequacy of the Company’s 

organisational structure, compliance with the principles of proper administration, and the suitability of 

provisions issued by the Company.  

On the basis of the information acquired, the Board of Statutory Auditors successfully completed its 

supervisory activities on the adequacy of the organisational structure, in terms of configuration, procedures, 

skills and responsibilities, as it pertains to the Company’s size, nature and the methods of pursuing the corporate 

purpose. 

 

Related-Party Transactions 
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In the Report on Operations and in the Explanatory Notes to the 2020 Financial Statements, the Directors, in 

accordance with the provisions of IAS 24 and Consob Communication no. 17221 of 12 March 2010, have 

provided an exhaustive illustration of the main transactions carried out with related parties. Reference should 

be made to these documents with regard to the type of transactions in question and the related economic and 

financial aspects, as well as to the procedural methods adopted to ensure that these transactions are carried out 

in compliance with the criteria of transparency and procedural and substantial correctness. In light of the due 

diligence performed, the Board can confirm that the related party transactions reported in the Company’s Notes 

to the 2020 Financial Statements fall under the Company’s business activities and are regulated at market 

conditions. It is acknowledged that the operations indicated therein were carried out in compliance with the 

methods set out in the specific Procedure, which is in compliance with the provisions of the Civil Code and 

Consob’s implementing regulations.  

 

Adequacy of Internal Control and Risk Management. Activities carried out by the Audit and Enterprise 

Risk Management Departments 

The Board of Statutory Auditors also supervised the adequacy of the Internal Control and Risk Management 

System by: 

a) reviewing the assessment of the Board of Directors, which formulated a positive evaluation on the adequacy 

and effective functioning of the Internal Control and Risk Management System;  

b) reviewing the report of the Manager in charge of preparing the corporate documents;  

c) reviewing the report of the Audit Manager, as well as periodic information on the status of audits and the 

results of monitoring activities on the implementation of the corrective actions identified following the audit 

activities;  

d) reviewing the reports of the Control and Risks Committee, also with regard to the functions it performs 

pursuant to the Related Party Transaction Procedure;  

e) reviewing the interim and annual financial reports, as well as the reports prepared regarding risk management 

activities, aimed at describing the main risks and related management plans. 

The Audit Department constantly supported the activities of the Board of Statutory Auditors, and the head of 

the latter attended several meetings of the Board of Statutory Auditors, ensuring a continuous exchange of 
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the 2022 financial statements, appointing Mr. Giuseppe Pasciucco as Chairperson; 

• on June 24, 2020, the newly appointed Board of Directors, which met after the Shareholders’ Meeting, 

appointed, among other things, Mr. Aldo Mancino as Chief Executive Officer and appointed the 

Control and Risks Committee and the Remuneration and Appointments Committee, both always 

composed solely of independent Directors; 

• on 30 July, Rai Way’s Board of Directors approved the launch of a treasury share purchase program 

which provided, inter alia, for a maximum total investment of 20 million Euro; 

• on October 29, 2020, the Company entered into a new loan agreement with a pool of financial 

institutions; 

• on November 27, 2020, the buy-back plan for treasury shares was completed. The Company acquired 

3,625,356 treasury shares at an average price of 5.509531 Euro per share and a total value of 

19,974,010.41 Euro; these shares represent approximately 1.3329% of the share capital. 

The actions resolved and implemented during 2020 comply with the principles of proper administration and 

are not manifestly imprudent, risky or in conflict with the resolutions passed at the Shareholders’ Meeting, or 

such as to compromise the integrity of the corporate assets, nor have there been atypical or unusual transactions, 

carried out with third parties or with related parties or in conflict of interest. 

The Company also has a solid organisational structure. In this regard, the Board of Statutory Auditors has 

received information and supervised, to the extent under its purview, the adequacy of the Company’s 

organisational structure, compliance with the principles of proper administration, and the suitability of 

provisions issued by the Company.  

On the basis of the information acquired, the Board of Statutory Auditors successfully completed its 

supervisory activities on the adequacy of the organisational structure, in terms of configuration, procedures, 

skills and responsibilities, as it pertains to the Company’s size, nature and the methods of pursuing the corporate 

purpose. 
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information and alignment of the respective supervisory and control activities, also in liaison with the Control 

and Risk Committee. On the whole, the activities carried out by the Head were effective and appropriate, in 

this regard the manager prepared, as indicated above, a Report on the Audit activities carried out for the year 

2020. The above analyses did not show any significant risks or violations not addressed by corrective actions. 

The College also reviewed the 2021 Business Plan. The Board of Statutory Auditors also monitored the 

organisation of the Audit function, receiving organisational and procedural information. This review did not 

reveal evidence of events and/or situations that would need to be mentioned in this Report. 

In view of the above, we can state that overall the Internal Control and Risk Management System and the 

information and communication procedures and mechanisms are adequate. 

 

Adequacy and reliability of the administrative system to represent operational transactions 

With reference to this activity, the Board of Statutory Auditors supervised the process of financial reporting 

and the adequacy of the administrative and accounting system. Following the verifications carried out, this was 

deemed to be adequate and able to correctly represent both operational transactions and the preparation of the 

financial statements and report on operations. 

With reference to the 2020 financial year, the Chief Executive Director and the Manager responsible for the 

preparation of financial statements stated: (i) that they are adequate in terms of the characteristics of the 

business and the effective application of the administrative and accounting procedures for the preparation of 

the Financial Statements for the 2020 financial year; that the contents of said Financial Statements complies 

with the applicable international accounting standards recognised by the European Union pursuant to 

Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and Council, established on 19 July 2002; (iii) that 

the Financial Statements concerned are consistent with the records and accounting entries and provide a true 

and accurate representation of the Company’s capital, economic and financial position; (iv) that the Annual 

Report includes a reliable analysis of the performance and the operating result, as well as of the Company’s 

situation, together with a description of the main risks and uncertainties to which it is exposed. The above-

mentioned certification also underscores the adequacy of the administrative and accounting procedures for the 

preparation of the 2020 Financial Statements. 

 The Company declared that it has prepared the Financial Statements for the year 2020 in accordance with 

IAS/IFRS recognised in the European Union pursuant to Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 and in effect at the 
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close of the year 2020. Furthermore, the Company’s 2020 Financial Statements were prepared on the 

assumption of going concern and applying the conventional criterion of historical cost, except for the valuation 

of financial assets and liabilities for which the application of the fair criterion is mandatory value. The 

Company's Notes to the Financial Statements provide an analytical description of the accounting standards and 

valuation criteria adopted. With reference to recently issued accounting standards, the Notes to the Financial 

Statements refer to (i) the accounting standards approved by the European Union that are not yet applicable 

and (ii) accounting standards not yet approved by the European Union. 

The Board of Statutory Auditors of Rai Way S.p.A. has also: 

a. verified that the Directors’ Report on Operations for the 2020 financial year complies with current 

regulations, and is consistent with the resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors and with the facts 

represented in the Financial Statements; 

b. verified the adequacy, in terms of method, of the sensitivity analysis process used to verify the absence 

of impairment on assets in the Balance Sheet; 

c. acknowledged the content of the Interim Report as of 30 June 2020, without needing to make any 

observations, and ascertained that the latter had been made public in accordance with the procedures set out by 

the regulations; 

d. verified that the Company complied with the obligations provided for by Legislative Decree no. 

254/2016 and has arranged to draw up a Declaration of non-financial nature in compliance with the provisions 

of the above- mentioned Decree; 

e. has noted that the Company has continue to publish on a voluntary basis intermediate management 

reports on 31 March and 30 September within the deadlines set by current legislation; 

f. acted as the Committee for Internal Control and Audit (CCIRC), pursuant to Art. 19, paragraph 1, of 

Legislative Decree no. 39/2010, as amended by Legislative Decree no. 135/2016, concerning specific 

information, monitoring, control and verification functions provided therein, fulfilling duties and tasks 

indicated in the aforementioned legislation. For such purpose, the Board worked with the Control and Risks 

Committee to coordinate their respective responsibilities and to avoid overlapping of activities. The Board’s 

participation in the Committee’s activities facilitates coordination and information exchange between the two 

bodies; 
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g. reported that Rai Way S.p.A. is managed and coordinated by parent company RAI-Radiotelevisione 

italiana SpA, in accordance with legal obligations and, in particular, in compliance with the conditions set out 

in Art. 16 of the CONSOB Markets Regulation. Reference is made to a specific Regulation regarding the 

management and coordination role exercised by parent company RAI in relation to the Company (approved 

by the Board of Directors at its meeting on 4 September 2014 and effective as of the date on which the 

Company’s shares were listed on Borsa Italiana’s MTA market), which is also mentioned in the aforementioned 

Report on Corporate Governance and Ownership Structures. 

The Board carried out the checks by obtaining information from the Administration, Finance and Control 

Department of the Company and from the Manager in charge of preparing the corporate accounting documents, 

as well as by reviewing the company documentation and the results of the work carried out by the Auditing 

Firm, in accordance with the provisions of Article 154 bis of the TUF.  

The Board also verified compliance with the procedures for the publication and filing of the Financial 

Statements and interim reports, supervising the preparation and transmission of press releases relating to 

relevant financial information. 

 

Relationship with the independent auditing firm pursuant to Article 150-bis, paragraph 3 of Italian 

Legislative Decree no. 58/98 

During the course of the year, the Board of Statutory Auditors met regularly with the managers of the 

Independent Auditors appointed by PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A. (“PwC”), in order to exchange relevant 

data and information pursuant to Art. 150, paragraph 3, of Legislative Decree no. 58/1998, as well as of 

Legislative Decree no. 39/2010. In these meetings, the aforementioned Auditing Firm did not provide any facts 

or anomalies of such importance as to be reported to the Board of Directors or in this report. 

With regard to the results of the Financial Statements for the year ended that ended as of 31 December 2020, 

appropriate technical analysis of the most significant items in the document were carried out in constant 

cooperation with the independent auditing firm, in compliance with the respective competencies and 

responsibilities. In application of the provisions pursuant to Art. 150, paragraph 3 of Italian Legislative Decree 

no. 58/1998, these meetings had the objective of exchanging information and opinions and to verify the correct 

use of accounting standards and their uniformity for purposes of the Financial Statements. 
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During the year, representatives from the independent auditing firm advised the Board about the audit plan 

they had prepared, its execution and the subsequent results; from these meetings, there emerged no events or 

situations, regarding either the audit or any failings of the internal control system, that need to be noted herein. 

On 1 April, 2021,pursuant to Articles 14 of Legislative Decree no. 39/2010 and 10 of EU Regulation 537/2014, 

the Auditing Firm issued its Report certifying that: 

a) the Financial Statements provide a true and accurate representation of the Company’s capital and financial 

position as of 31 December 2020, as well as its economic result and cash flows for the year ending on that date, 

in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the European Union, as well as the 

provision implementing Art. 9 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 38/05; 

b) the Report on Operations and some specific information contained in the Report on Corporate Governance 

and Ownership Structures, pursuant to Article 123-bis, paragraph 4, of Legislative Decree no. 58/1998, are 

consistent with the Financial Statements for the year that ended on 31 December 2020, and are prepared in 

accordance with the law; 

c) the opinion on the Financial Statements expressed in the above-mentioned Report is in line with the 

supplementary Report prepared pursuant to Art. 11 of Regulation (EU) no. 537/2014, addressed to the Board 

of Statutory Auditors. 

On April 1, 2021, the auditing firm PwC issued the Report containing the certification of compliance, pursuant 

to Article 3 of Legislative Decree no. 254/2016, and Article 5 of Consob Regulation 20267.  In the Report, the 

Independent Auditors stated that no elements have come to its attention that would suggest that the individual 

non-financial statement relating to the year 2020 has not been drawn up, in all significant aspects, in compliance 

with the requirements of the aforementioned Decree and the selected GRI Standards. 

The auditing firm has also sent to the Board of Statutory Auditors, in its role of Internal Control and Audit 

Committee, the supplementary Report, pursuant to Art. 11 of Regulation (EU) no. 537/2014, which highlights: 

• the most significant aspects in the context of the audit of the 2020 Financial Statements; 

• the audit methodology, the identification of significant risks and the significance applied; 

• the failure to identify any shortcomings in the internal control system in relation to the process of 

financial reporting. 
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Furthermore, in the above-mentioned Report, the auditing firm confirmed its independence, pursuant to Art. 6, 

paragraph 2), point 4) of Regulation (EU) no. 537/2014, as well as the measures adopted by the auditing firm 

to limit such risks. 

The auditing firm’s Reports do not contain qualifications or disclosures, nor declarations pursuant to Art. 14, 

paragraph 2, letter e), of Italian Legislative Decree no. 39/2010. 

Pursuant to Article 17-ter, paragraph 9 of Legislative Decree no. 39/2010, the Board of Statutory Auditors has 

verified the independence of the auditing firm and that there were no omissions, reprehensible facts or 

irregularities. Similarly, during the supervisory activities, no significant facts emerged such as to require 

notification to supervisory bodies or mention herein. 

It is noted that, in reference to the 2020 financial year, the auditing firm PWC and its network were paid the 

following fees for the audit: 

• Audit activities and Financial Statements 58,000 Euro 

• Interim Financial Statements 21,000 Euro 

• Individual declaration of a non-financial nature 37,000 Euro 

• Certifications required by law 5,000 Euro 

The Financial Report relating to the Financial Statements includes complete information on fees to the auditing 

firm, pursuant to Art. 149-duodecies of the Consob Issuers’ Regulation to which reference is made. 

During the 2020 financial year, on the basis of the information received from the auditing firm, Rai Way S.p.A. 

assigned tasks to entities in the PwC network (in particular, the auditing firm) for services related to the limited 

audit of the Declaration of non-financial nature.  

The Board of Statutory Auditors, in its role as the Internal Control and Audit Committee, fulfilled the duties 

required by Article 19, paragraph 1, letter e) of Legislative Decree no. 39/2010, as amended by Legislative 

Decree no. 135/2016, and by Art. 5, paragraph 4 of Reg. EU 537/2014 on the subject of prior approval of the 

aforementioned assignments, verifying their compatibility with current legislation and, specifically, with the 

provisions of Art. 17 of Legislative Decree no. 39/2010 - as amended by Legislative Decree no. 135/2016 - as 

well as with the prohibitions set out in Art. 5 of Reg. EU 537/2014, referred to therein. 

Furthermore, the Board has: 
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a) verified and monitored the independence of the Independent Auditors, pursuant to Articles 10, 10-bis, 

10-ter, 10-quater and 17 of Legislative Decree no. 39/2010, and of Art. 6 of Reg. EU 537/2014, ascertaining 

compliance with the relevant regulatory provisions, and that the engagements for non-audit services conferred 

did not appear to be such as to generate potential threats to the auditor’s independence and to the safeguards 

set out in Article 22-ter of Dir. EC 2006/43; 

b) evaluated the transparency report and the additional report drawn up by the Independent Auditors in 

compliance with the criteria set out in Reg. EU 537/2014, noting that, based on the information acquired, no 

critical aspects emerged in relation to the independence of the Auditing Firm; 

c) received written confirmation that the auditing firm has not rendered services other than the audit that 

are prohibited pursuant to Art. 5, paragraph 1, of Regulation (EU) no. 537/2014, confirming that the 

independence of the firm was maintained in executing the statutory audit. 

 

 

The Financial Statements  

The Board of Statutory Auditors reviewed the draft financial statements for the year that ended on 31 December 

2020, which recorded a profit for the year of 64 million Euro, and do not present any derogations to the legal 

provisions. 

As the function of the statutory audit was not assigned to this Board, it supervised the general approach of the 

financial statements and its compliance with the law as regards its formation and structure, without identifying 

aspects to report. In addition, the Board verified compliance with the legal provisions relating to the preparation 

of the Report on Operations, also in this case without objections raised. The Directors described the items that 

contributed to the economic result and the events that generated those items in the Explanatory Notes and the 

Report on Operations. 

The Financial Statements of Rai Way S.p.A. As of 31 December 2020 were prepared in accordance with 

International Accounting Standards (IAS) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by 

the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the related interpretations (IFRIC and SIC), adopted 

by the European Union by European Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002, as well as pursuant to Italian Legislative 

Decree no. 38 of 28 February 2005, which governed the application of IFRS within the Italian regulatory 
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framework. The accounting standards adopted reflect the full operations of Rai Way S.p.A. in the foreseeable 

future, applied under the going concern assumption, and comply with those applied in preparing the 2019 

financial statements.  

Declaration of a non-financial nature 

The Company prepared the Individual Non-Financial Statement pursuant to Legislative Decree no. 254/2016 

(Sustainability Report), in which, in addition to providing the information required by law and, in general, with 

regard to activities conducted in the area of sustainability, indications were given regarding the most important 

areas of activity and objectives relating to the sustainability issues set out in the Business Plan for the 2020-

2023 period approved by the Board of Directors on 12 March 2020 and also aimed at an integrated and strategic 

approach to these issues. In this regard, on 18 March 2021, the Board of Directors approved a general policy 

and a multi-year operating plan on sustainability, consistent with the indications in the Business Plan.        

Pursuant to Art. 3, paragraph 10, of Legislative Decree no. 254/2016, the Declaration of non-financial nature 

has been subject to assurance activities by PwC, the firm assigned to perform the statutory audit.  

The Board of Statutory Auditors, pursuant to Art. 3, paragraph 7, of Legislative Decree no. 254/2016, the 

Board of Statutory Auditors supervised compliance with the provisions contained in that decree relative to the 

Declaration of non-financial nature and, in this regard, noted that the Company fulfilled the obligations 

envisaged therein for purposes of its preparation, in accordance with Arts. 3 and 4 of the aforementioned 

Decree, as well as Art. 5 of the Consob Regulation adopted by Resolution no. 20267 of 18 January 2018, and 

drafted in accordance with the standards and methodologies of the Core GRI standards selected by the 

Company.  

The 2020 Declaration of non-financial nature, approved by the Board of Directors on 18 March 2021, is 

accompanied by the limited assurance issued by PwC on 01 April 2021. 

 

Complaints pursuant to Art. 2408 of the Italian Civil Code and submission of complaints 

In the financial year whose Financial Statements you are called to approve, the Board did not receive any 

complaints pursuant to Art. 2408.  

In 2020, the Board issued opinions, without raising objections, with specific regard to: 
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• the remuneration for the office of Chairman of the Board of Directors and for the office of Chief 

Executive Officer;    

• the remuneration of the Audit Manager, as well as the budget assigned to the Auditing Department; 

• the Audit Plan; 

• the proposal regarding the purchase and disposal of treasury shares resolved at the Shareholders’ 

Meeting of 24 June 2020; 

• the appointment of the Manager responsible for preparing the Company’s financial reports. 

 

Effects of the COVID-19 pandemic - Verification of safeguards against the spread of COVID-19 

During the first months of 2020, Italy was the target of the spread of the COVID-19 virus. This event generated 

a series of limitations in daily activities starting from March, and prompted the Company to adopt specific 

measures aimed at preserving and safeguarding the health of employees, while at the same time guaranteeing 

the performance of activities, pursuant to the provisions detailed in the Decree of the President of the Council 

of Ministers 22 March 2020, which enabled continuation of activities. In this regard, the Board and the 

Supervisory Body received reassurances from the various department managers and the Board of Directors of 

the implementation of conditions ensuring health and safety in the workplace and, in general, rules adopted in 

compliance with provisions to fight the spread of the virus. 

The Board of Statutory Auditors also constantly monitored, including through meetings with the Director of 

Human Resources and Organisation, the application of the aforementioned protocols, and supervised the 

actions taken by the Company to protect workers. 

The Board found that the health emergency from COVID-19 had no significant impact on the Financial 

Statements submitted for approval by the Shareholders.  

The Board of Statutory Auditors and the auditing firm continuously exchanged information, including in 

reference to the objective operational difficulties that arose during the final auditing stages, as a result of the 

worsening of the COVID-19 health emergency.  

 

Conclusions 
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On the basis of the aforementioned activities and taking into account the considerations reported above, the 

Board of Statutory Auditors expresses its favourable opinion on the proposal to approve the Financial 

Statements for the year that ended on 31 December 2020, and to allocate the related profit for the year as 

recommended by the Board of Directors. 

 

Rome, 01 April 2021  

 

On behalf of the Board of Statutory Auditors  

The Chair  

 

 Silvia Muzi     
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